

CHARACTERISTICS, CAUSES AND FUNCTIONAL CONSEQUENCES OF BRAIN INFLAMMATION IN DIABETES AND HYPERTENSION

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of doctor of philosophy

Emad Alahmadi

B.Sc (Laboratory Medicine), M.Sc (Laboratory Medicine)

School of Medical Sciences College of Science Engineering and Health RMIT University

December 2015

Thesis summary

Diabetes and its complications, such as hypertension and diabetic cardiomyopathy, increase the risk of morbidity and mortality in human populations. Despite decades of research, the full aetiology of these complications still remains unclear. Strong evidence suggests there is dysfunction in the autonomic neurons system, including abnormal activity in the sympathetic nervous system and baroreflex impairment, which may contribute to the development of cardiovascular complications in diabetes; however, the mechanisms behind these abnormalities in diabetes are not well understood. Autonomic nuclei within the central nervous system (CNS) that are involved in the control of sympathetic nerve activity, the sensitivity of the baroreflex and the cardiovascular system are the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (PVN), the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) and the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS). Inflammation and oxidative stress in these centres have been identified to contribute to the hyperactivity of the sympathetic nerves and baroreflex dysfunction in other diseases, but whether this true in diabetes is not clear. Microglia and astrocytes are the resident immune inflammatory cells within the CNS. Once they become activated in response to various stimuli, they can release pro-inflammatory molecules and reactive oxygen species; however, the role of these cells in the development of diabetic cardiovascular complications remains unclear. Drinking 1% NaCl has been shown to have biphasic effects on the development of diabetic complications in animals, but whether these effects are mediated via influencing brain inflammation has not been investigated. In addition, little is known about the influence of antioxidants and high fat feeding on microglial activation in central autonomic centres in diabetic animals. Thus, the aim of this thesis was to identify whether inflammation occurs in central autonomic centres in different species and models of diabetes and to explore the consequences of neuroinflammation in these animals.

In **chapter 3**, the effect of the inhibition of microglia in the PVN on blood pressure and heart rate in long-term (8 weeks) STZ-diabetic rats was investigated. Microglia and astrocytes were activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats. Pro-inflammatory cytokines released from both activated microglia and astrocytes have been implicated in spinal neuronal hyperexcitability. This suggested that the activation of microglia and astrocytes may be important for mediating inflammation in the PVN in diabetic rats, which may cause neuronal hyperactivity and then lead to increased sympathetic activity. Minocycline treatment inhibited PVN microglial activation but not the activation of astrocytes, suggesting that microglial activation was not responsible for astrocyte activation; however, in this study, the consequence of the inhibition of microglial activation could not be tested for several reasons, including morbidity and the lack of hypertension in STZ diabetic animals. Therefore, an alternative approach to this study was justified.

In most studies on long-term (6-8 weeks) STZ diabetic rats, unchanged or lowered blood pressure has been observed, which is consistent with the data presented in **chapter 3**. Drinking 1% NaCl, which may prevent dehydration, causes hypertension in diabetic rats within 2 weeks after STZ treatment, but how this occurs and whether brain inflammation contributes to this hypertension has not been investigated. Therefore, in **chapter 4**, we investigated the effects of 1% NaCl intake on blood pressure, baroreflex sensitivity and inflammation in the PVN, NTS and RVLM in 2-week STZ diabetic rats. In addition, we investigated whether the inhibition of microglia in the PVN can prevent hypertension in STZ diabetic rats given 1% NaCl. Diabetic rats given saline exhibited hypertension, dysfunction of the bradycardic baroreflex and signs of normalised blood volume in comparison with the control rats and the diabetic rats that drank water. Diabetic rats that drank 1% NaCl also showed increased microglial activation in the PVN, NTS and RVLM. The inhibition of activated microglia in the PVN via administering ICV minocycline prevented the

hypertension seen in diabetic rats given 1% NaCl, strongly suggesting that microglial activation plays an important role in the generation of hypertension in these animals. Despite this, the possibility that increased blood volume and/or baroreflex dysfunction are mechanisms by which 1% NaCl intake induces hypertension in STZ diabetic rats cannot be ruled out.

While it is clear from these studies that 1% NaCl intake can reduce baroreflex sensitivity in 2-week STZ diabetic rats, another study reported that the prolonged drinking of 1% NaCl causes improvement in *ex vivo* cardiac function in 6-week STZ diabetic rats. Whether treatment with 1% NaCl for longer periods produces similar beneficial effects on the baroreflex sensitivity is not known. Therefore, **in chapter 5**, we aimed to investigate the effects of 1% NaCl on the baroreflex sensitivity and to determine whether 1% NaCl intake influences inflammation cardiovascular centres in longer term (6 weeks) STZ diabetic rats. The diabetic rats showed dysfunction in the baroreflex sensitivity. This dysfunction was associated with increased microglial activation in the NTS and PVN. Drinking 1% NaCl for 6 weeks restored the function of bradycardic baroreflex and also reduced the activation of microglia and neurons in the NTS in these animals. The data suggest that microglial activation is the baroreflex dysfunction seen in 6-week STZ diabetic rats.

In addition to hypertension and the baroreflex dysfunction, cardiomyopathy is a common form of diabetic complication and can occur independently of hypertension in diabetes. There is evidence that inflammation in the PVN is a potential contributing factor to the development of cardiomyopathy in other diseases. In **chapters 3 and 5**, evidence is provided that microglial cells are activated in the PVN in 6-8 STZ diabetic rats, but the role of these cells in diabetic cardiomyopathy has not been investigated. Therefore, in **chapter 6**, we aimed to investigate the structural and functional parameters of the left ventricle in diabetic rats at 6 weeks following STZ injection and to determine whether the inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN could reverse any of the changes observed. Six-week STZ diabetic rats showed clear left ventricular dysfunction, including elevated end diastolic pressure, an increased internal diameter in the systole and diastole and a decreased E/A ratio when compared with the control rats. These animals also displayed marked activation of microglia and neurons in the PVN. Inhibition of microglial activation via administering ICV minocycline reduced the PVN neuronal activity and significantly normalised the left ventricular function. This study suggests that microglial activation in the PVN leads to PVN neuronal excitation in STZ diabetic rats. The data also confirm our proposal that microglial activations.

Drinking 1% NaCl for 6 weeks in STZ diabetic rats reduces cardiovascular complications, but the exact mechanism is still unclear. The data from **chapter 6** indicated that microglial activation in the PVN contributes to cardiac dysfunction in STZ diabetic rats; however, whether the beneficial effects of the prolonged drinking of 1% NaCl on the cardiac function are mediated by reducing the inflammatory response is not known. Therefore, in **chapter 7**, we investigated the effects of 1% NaCl on the cardiac function *in vivo* and whether 1% NaCl intake influences microglial activation in 6-week STZ diabetic rats. Drinking 1% NaCl restored elevated end diastolic pressure but not the other parameters of the left ventricle in these animals. The 1% NaCl intake also reduced the activation of microglia and neurons in the NTS and PVN when compared to the STZ diabetic rats given tap water. When the drug minocycline was accompanied by prolonged 1% NaCl intake, the STZ diabetic rats showed a further improvement in cardiac performance and a reduction in microglial and neuronal activation in PVN compared with STZ diabetic rats given saline alone. These results

indicated that changes in cardiac function are paralleled by the level of microglial activation in the PVN observed in diabetic animals.

Because the mouse is the most suitable animal model for genetic manipulations, it was important to examine whether microglia and neurons are also activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice as well as the time period of any activation. Hydrogen sulphide (H₂S) has been shown to inhibit microglial activation *in vitro* experiments, but the effect of the systemic infusion of H₂S on PVN function in STZ mice has not been investigated. Therefore, **in chapter 8**, we examined the dose and time dependence of microglial and neuronal activation and the effects of H₂S in STZ treated mice at 7 weeks. The microglia were activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice at 16 weeks after STZ injection but not at the 7-week time period compared to the control. In diabetic mice treated with a low dose of STZ, the microglia in the PVN were not activated at the 10-week time period; however, the PVN neuron activation was observed in STZ diabetic mice at all time periods as well as in diabetic mice treated with a low dose of STZ, suggesting neuronal activation precedes microglial activity. H₂S treatment attenuated the increase in neuronal activation in the PVN and prevented dehydration at 7 weeks following STZ injections. These findings suggest that H₂S treatment may play an important role in regulating kidney and PVN neuron function in diabetes.

A high fat diet is a major contributing factor in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes, which is the most common form of diabetes in humans. Whether PVN inflammation occurs in models of type II diabetes requires investigation. Thus, in **chapter 8**, we also examined the PVN inflammation in mice treated with a low dose of STZ and high fat feeding. No significant difference was observed in the percentage of microglia activated in the PVN in mice treated with STZ and high fat feeding when compared to the control; however, the neuronal activation was significantly increased in the PVN in these mice. The addition of a high fat diet to the STZ treatment attenuated the increase in neuronal activation in the PVN. These findings suggest that the activation of microglia in the PVN does not occur in all animal models of diabetes.

In conclusion, microglial activation occurs in the PVN in long-term STZ-induced diabetic rats and mice but not in a mouse model of type II diabetes. Although the cause is not fully known, microglial activation in the PVN plays an important role in the pathogenesis of diabetic complications. While 1% NaCl prevents dehydration in short and long-term STZ diabetic rats, it has a biphasic effect on diabetic complications. This effect was mediated, at least in part, by changes in neuroinflammation. The beneficial effects of hydrogen sulphide on PVN function may be mediated via reducing neuroinflammation and/or oxidative stress in diabetes. Thus, new therapeutic approaches aimed to target neuroinflammation may be of clinical importance in preventing diabetic cardiovascular complications in humans.

Declaration

I certify that, except where due acknowledgement has been made, the work is that of the author alone; the work has not been submitted previously, in whole or in part, to qualify for any other academic award; the content of the thesis is the result of work that has been carried out since the official commencement date of the approved research program; any editorial work, paid or unpaid, carried out by a third party is acknowledged; and ethics procedures and guidelines have been followed.

Emad Alahmadi December 2015 TO My father, Khalid Alahmadi

Acknowledgments

My warmest thanks go to my primary supervisor, Dr Martin Stebbing for the opportunity to complete my PhD in his laboratory and for his teaching, guidance, support, encouragement, advice and patience throughout my PhD programme.

I want to express my gratitude to my second supervisor, Prof. Emilio Badoer for his valuable directions and technical assistance in surgical procedures.

I would like to acknowledge all of the members of the neuropharmacology and neuroinflammatory research group for their support and motivation, especially Markus and Eloise.

I would also like to thank my friend, Mohammad Makkawi for his kindness and support during the stressful times.

Finally, I deeply thank my parents, Khalid and Hnnan Alahmadi, and dear wife, Nujoud Aahmadi, for their support.

Table of Contents

Thesis summary	II
Declaration	VIII
Acknowledgments	X
Table of Contents	XI
List of Figures	XVI
Abbreviations	.XX
Publications and Communications	XXII
Chapter One: Literature Review	1
1.1 Overview	2
1.2 Diabetes mellitus	5
1.2.1 Use of streptozotocin-induced diabetic models to study complications	6
1.3 Cardiovascular complications in diabetes	8
1.3.1 Microvascular complications	8
1.3.2 Macrovascular complications	9
1.3.3 Diabetic cardiomyopathy	10
1.3.4 Blood pressure	11
1.3.5 Salt-sensitivity of arterial blood pressure in diabetes	12
1.3.6 Diabetic cardiovascular complications: the role of sympathetic nerve activity	14
1.4 Cardiovascular centers in the CNS	17
1.4.1 The paraventricular nucleus (PVN)	17
1.4.2 Nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS)	20
1.4.3 Rostral Ventrolateral Medulla (RVLM)	22
1.5 The role of microglia in inflammation of the CNS	23
1.5.1 The origin of microglia	23
1.5.2 Morphology and function of microglia	24

1.5.3 Microglial activation: the dual ability of neuroprotection and neurotoxicity	26
1.5.4 Consequences of microglial activation in the CNS in diabetes	28
1.6 Astrocytes another cell types involved in neuroinflammation	30
1.6.1 Astrocytes are key players in CNS immunity	31
1.6.2 The role of activated astrocytes in pathological conditions	32
1.7 Inflammation in cardiovascular centres and its role in regulating sympathetic action	vity
and the cardiovascular system	35
1.8 Rationale and research questions	38
1.8.1 Project specific aims	40
Chapter Two: Materials and Methods	42
2.1 Animals	43
2.2 Animals models of diabetes	43
2.2.1 STZ / NaCl treatment	43
2.2.2 STZ/high fat diet treatment	44
2.2.3 STZ/ NaHS treatment	44
2.3 Surgical procedure	45
2.3.1 Blood Pressure and heart rate recording under anesthesia	45
2.3.2 Conscious blood pressure recording via tail cuff	46
2.3.3 Baroreceptor reflex testing	46
2.3.4 Implantation of brain infusion catheters and osmotic pumps	47
2.3.5 Implantation of telemetric blood pressure monitoring devices	47
2.3.6 Echocardiographic measurements	48
2.3.7 Ventricular hemodynamics	49
2.4 Blood collection	52
2.5 Tissue collection	52
2.5.1 Perfusion	52
2.5.2 Brain collection	52
2.5.3 Cryostat sectioning	53

2.6 Immunohistochemistry53
2.7 Quantification and morphological analysis55
2.8 Statistical analysis
Chapter Three: Neuroinflammation in the Paraventricular Nucleus in STZ Diabetic Rats57
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Results
3.2.1 Body weight and blood glucose measurements
3.2.2 Effect of minocycline on the mean arterial pressure and heart rate of diabetic rats 63
3.2.3 Effect of minocycline on microglial activation in the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats
3.2.4 Astrocyte activation in the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats
3.3 Discussion
3.4 Conclusion75
Chapter Four: Drinking 1% NaCl for 2 Weeks Enhances Inflammation in the Cardiovascular Control Centers of the Brain in STZ Diabetic Rats
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Results
4.2.1 Effect of 2 weeks 1% NaCl intake on general features of diabetic rats
4.2.2 Measurement of baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in diabetic rats
4.2.3 OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in cardiovascular centres in diabetic rats
4.2.4 C-fos immunoreactivity in cardiovascular centres in diabetic rats
4.2.5 Effect of saline and minocycline treatment on blood pressure in awake diabetic rats
4.3 Discussion
4.4 Conclusion
Chapter Five: Drinking 1% NaCl for 6 Weeks Increases Baroreflex Sensitivity in STZ Diabetic Rats
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Results

5.2.1 Effect of 6 weeks saline intake on general features of diabetic rats113
5.2.2 Measurement of baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in diabetic rats
5.2.3 OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in cardiovascular centres in diabetic rats119
5.2.4 C-fos immunoreactivity in cardiovascular centres in diabetic rats
5.3 Discussion
5.4 Conclusion
Chapter Six: Inhibition of Microglial Activation Improves Cardiac Dysfunction in STZ
6.1 Introduction
6.2 Results
6.2.1 Effect of minocycline on general features of diabetic rats 140
6.2.2 Echocardiographic measurements in diabetic rats
6.2.3 Measurement of haemodynamic parameters in diabetic rats
6.2.4 OX-42 and C-fos Immunohistochemistry in the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic
rats
6.3 Discussion
6.4 Conclusion160
Chapter Seven: Drinking 1% NaCl for 6 Weeks Improves Cardiac Dysfunction in STZ
Diabetic Rats: The Role of Neuroinflammation162
7.1 Introduction
7.2 Results
7.2.1 Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline on general features of diabetic rats 166
7.2.2 Echocardiographic measurements in diabetic rats
7.2.3 Measurement of haemodynamic parameters in diabetic rats
7.2.4 OX-42 and C-fos Immunohistochemistry in the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic
rats
7.3 Discussion
7.4 Conclusion

Chapter Eight: Neuronal and Microglial Activation in the Cardiovascular Centers of Diabetic
Mice: Effect of a High-fat diet and an Antioxidant
8.1 Introduction
8.2 Results
8.2.1 Body weights and blood glucose of STZ diabetic mice
8.2.2 Plasma osmolarity and haematocrit in STZ diabetic mice
8.2.3 CD11b and C-fos Immunohistochemistry in the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic
mice
8.3 Discussion
8.4 Conclusion
Chapter Nine: General Discussion
9.1 Role of neuroinflammation in deleterious cardiovascular complications in diabetes220
9.2 The effect of drinking 1% NaCl on cardiovascular parameters and CNS inflammation
9.3 Mechanism of microglial activation in diabetes
9.4 Clinical implications
9.5 Future directions
9.6 Conclusion
Chapter Ten: References

List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Diagrams illustrating the PVN neuron pathways involved in the control of
sympathetic activity
Figure 1-2. Diagram illustrating the neural pathways involved in the baroreceptor reflex
Figure 2-1. Echocardiogram- representative M-mode image and measurements of left ventricular
in control animals
Figure 2-2. Functional echocardiography: apical four-chamber view pulsed-wave Doppler
displaing E and A wave in control animals50
Figure 3-1. Effect of minocycline treatment on body weight and blood glucose of diabetic rat62
Figure 3-2. Effect of minocycline treatment on cardiovascular parameters in diabetic rats
Figure 3-3. Morphology of microglia in STZ diabetic rats
Figure 3-4. Effect of minocycline on microglial activation in the paraventricular nucleus of
diabetic rats
Figure 3-5. Morphology of astrocytes in STZ diabetic rats
Figure 3-6. Astrocytes activation in the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic rats
Figure 4-1. Effect of 2 weeks saline treatment on body weight, blood glucose and fluid intake of
diabetic rats
Figure 4-2. Effect of 2 weeks saline treatment on plasma osmolarity and haemoglobin in diabetic
rats
Figure 4-3. Effect of 2 weeks saline treatment on cardiovascular parameters in diabetic rats
under anaesthesia
Figure 4-4. Measurement of baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in diabetic rats
Figure 4-5. Cardiovascular responses to phenylephrine in diabetic rats
Figure 4-6. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the PVN in diabetic rats
Figure 4-7. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the NTS in diabetic rats
Figure 4-8. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the RVLM in diabetic rats
Figure 4-9. Microglial activation in cardiovascular centres of the brain of 2 week saline-treated

diabetic rats
Figure 4-10. Microglia exhibit shorter processes in cardiovascular centres of the brain of 2 week
saline-treated diabetic rats
Figure 4-11. Fos activity in the PVN in diabetic rats98
Figure 4-12. Fos-IR immunoreactivity indicating activated neurons in cardiovascular centres of
the brain in diabetic rats
Figure 4-13. Microglial and neuronal activation in the parvocellular and magnocellular portions
of the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats
Figure 4-14. Effect of minocycline treatment on the development of hypertension in diabetic rats
treated with saline for 2 weeks
Figure 5-1. Effect of 6 weeks saline treatment on body weight, blood glucose and fluid intake of
diabetic rats 117
Figure 5-2. Effect of 6 weeks saline treatment on cardiovascular parameters in diabetic rats
under anaesthesia 119
Figure 5-3. Cardiovascular responses to phenylephrine in diabetic rats
Figure 5-4. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the PVN in diabetic rats
Figure 5-5. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the NTS in diabetic rats
Figure 5-6. Microglial activation in cardiovascular centres of the brain of 6 weeks saline-treated
diabetic rats 126
Figure 5-7. Fos activity in the PVN in diabetic rats 129
Figure 5-8. Fos-IR immunoreactivity indicating activated neurons in cardiovascular centres of
the brain in diabetic rats
Figure 5-9. Microglial and neuronal activation in the parvocellular and magnocellular portions of
the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats
Figure 6-1. Effect of minocycline treatment on body weight, blood glucose and fluid intake of
diabetic rats
Figure 6-2. Effect of minocycline treatment on heart weight and kidney weight in diabetic rats.
Figure 6-3. Effect of minocycline treatment on plasma osmolarity and haemoglobin in diabetic

rats
Figure 6-4. Effect of minocycline treatment on echocardiographic measurements in diabetic rats.
Figure 6-5. Effect of minocycline treatment on hemodynamic parameters in diabetic rats 150
Figure 6-6. Morphology of microglia in STZ diabetic rats
Figure 6-7. Fos activity in the PVN in diabetic rats
Figure 6-8. Effect of minocycline treatment on microglial and neuronal activation in the
paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats
Figure 7-1. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on body weight, blood glucose
and fluid intake of diabetic rats 170
Figure 7-2. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on heart weight and kidney
weight in diabetic rats 171
Figure 7-3. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on plasma osmolarity and
haemoglobin in diabetic rats
Figure 7-4. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on echocardiographic
measurements in diabetic rats
Figure 7-5. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on hemodynamic parameters in
diabetic rats
Figure 7-6. Morphology of microglia in STZ diabetic rats
Figure 7-7. Fos activity in the PVN in diabetic rats
Figure 7-8. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on microglial and neuronal
activation in the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats
Figure 8-1. Body weights and blood glucose of STZ diabetic mice 197
Figure 8-2. Plasma osmolarity and haematocrit concentration in STZ diabetic mice 199
Figure 8-3. Morphology of microglia in STZ mice at 7 weeks after STZ treatment 203
Figure 8-4. Fos activity in STZ mice at 7 weeks after STZ treatment
Figure 8-5. Microglial and neuronal activation in the paraventricular nucleus of STZ mice at 7
weeks after STZ treatment 206
Figure 8-6. Morphology of microglia in STZ mice at 16 weeks after STZ treatment 207

Figure 8-7. Fos activity in STZ mice at 16 weeks after STZ treatment	208
Figure 8-8. Microglial and neuronal activation in the paraventricular nucleus of STZ mice at 16	
weeks after STZ treatment	209
Figure 8-9. Morphology of microglia in STZ mice and STZ + Fat Fed mice at 10 weeks	
following STZ treatment	211
Figure 8-10. Fos activity in STZ mice and STZ + Fat Fed mice at 10 weeks following STZ $$	
treatment	213
Figure 8-11. Microglial and neuronal activation in the paraventricular nucleus of STZ mice and	
STZ + Fat Fed mice at 10 weeks following STZ treatment	214

Abbreviations

Ang II	Angiotensin II
Arc	Arcuate nucleus
ATP	Adenosine-5'-triphosphate
BDNF	Brain derived neurotrophic factor
BBB	Blood–brain barrier
CNS	Central nervous system
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GFAP	Filament / Fibrillary Acidic Protein
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
H ₂ S	Hydrogen sulfide
I.C.V.	Intracerebroventricular
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-10	Interleukin-10
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
IR	Immunoreactive

LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
NF-kB	Nuclear factor-kappaB
nNOS	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NO	Nitric oxide
NTS	Nucleus tractus solitarius
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PVN	Paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RVLM	Rostoventral medulla
SD	Sprague Dawley
SON	Supraoptic nucleus
STZ	Streptozotocin
TNF- α	Tumor necrotic factor-alpha

Publications and Communications

Journal publications

Rana I, Badoer E, **Alahmadi E**, Leo CH, Woodman OL, Stebbing MJ (2014). Microglia are selectively activated in endocrine and cardiovascular control centres in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Journal of neuroendocrinology; 26(7):413-25.

Alahmadi E, Badoer E, Woodman OL, Stebbing MJ. Drinking 1% saline causes hypertension in STZ-treated rats via increased microglial activation in CNS cardiovascular control centres. Hypertension, 2015. (In submission).

Abstracts presented at meetings

E. Alahmadi, E. Badoer, and M. J. Stebbing (2013) Dietary salt enhances inflammation in the cardiovascular centres of diabetic rats. Proceedings of Central Cardiovascular & Respiratory Control: Future Directions.

E. Alahmadi, J. Ye, E. Badoer, M. Stebbing (2014) Low dose STZ combined with high fat feeding does not cause activation of microglia astrocytes or neurons in the hypothalamus in mice. Proceedings of Victorian Obesity Consortium

E. Alahmadi, G. Yildiz, J. Hart, and M. Stebbing (2014) Relationship between microglial activation, neuronal activation and dehydration in diabetes – role of antioxidant. Proceedings of Higher Degree Research Student Conference at RMIT.

E.Alahmadi, E. Badoer, OL. Woodman, MJ. Stebbing (2015) Drinking 1% saline causes hypertension in STZ-treated rats via increased microglial activation in CNS cardiovascular control centres. Proceedings of High Blood Pressure Research Council of Australia.

Chapter One: Literature Review

1.1 Overview

Diabetes mellitus is a chronic disease that affects around 382 million people worldwide both in developing and developed countries, according to the International Diabetes Federation (2013). Diabetes has been described as a lethal disease because it is estimated that 2.9 million deaths around the world in 2000 were attributable to diabetes, which is equivalent to 5.2% of all deaths (Roglic *et al.*, 2005). In fact, the death rates among diabetic patients are two times higher compared to people without diabetes (Deshpande *et al.*, 2008). Indeed, the life expectancy in people with diabetes is reduced by 5 to 10 years (Marshall & Flyvbjerg, 2006). Diabetes mellitus related cardiovascular complications are a major cause of morbidity and mortality. For example, in the United States, approximately 65% of deaths from diabetes are attributed to cardiovascular disease (Geiss LS, 1995; Engelgau *et al.*, 2004). Because of the high rate of death caused by diabetic cardiovascular complications, preventing these complications is an important objective.

During the last decade, improvements in insulin replacement treatment have caused the greatest change in diabetes therapy for type 1 and 2 diabetic patients. Insulin treatment in diabetic patients reduces injury to numerous internal organ systems via controlling elevated blood glucose concentrations. Well-designed clinical prospective studies have shown a reduction in the onset and progression of diabetic neuropathy, nephropathy and retinopathy in people with type 1 diabetes mellitus following intensive insulin treatment (Control & Group, 1993; Albers *et al.*, 1995; DiabetesControl & Group, 1998). Insulin therapy has also been shown to reduce some but not all cardiovascular diseases in people with type 1 diabetes (Group, 1995). Thus, treating diabetic patients with insulin does reduce and/or delay some diabetic complications but does not prevent the development and progression of these complications. Indeed, it appears that current insulin therapy is not enough to treat diabetes

and its complications in the long term, and a better understanding of the mechanisms of deleterious cardiovascular complications in diabetes is needed.

There is increasing evidence suggesting that an abnormal activation of the sympathetic nervous system contributes to the development of diabetic complications, including hypertension as well as cardiovascular and renal dysfunction (Perin *et al.*, 2001). For instance, the blocking activity of the sympathetic nervous system has been shown to reduce morbidity and mortality in patients with heart failure and diabetes (Shekelle *et al.*, 2003). The activity of sympathetic nerves is regulated by autonomic neurons within the central nervous system (CNS), including the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (PVN), the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) and the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS). As such, pathological changes in these nuclei may result in hyperactivity of the sympathetic nerves, but the detailed mechanisms that underlie the dysfunction of these nuclei in diabetes are poorly understood.

Neuroinflammation in CNS cardiovascular control regions has been suggested to contribute to the hyperactivity of sympathetic nerves in heart failure (Kang *et al.*, 2009a; Felder, 2010) and hypertension (Kang *et al.*, 2009b; Colombari *et al.*, 2010; Shi *et al.*, 2010a; Waki *et al.*, 2010), both of which are consequences of diabetes. The resident immune cells, which mediate inflammation within the CNS when activated, are called microglia. Microglial activation in the PVN is associated with angiotensin II-induced hypertension, and the pharmacological inhibition of microglial activation has been shown to prevent the development of hypertension, decrease PVN cytokines and attenuate cardiac hypertrophy in response to angiotensin II infusion (Shi *et al.*, 2010a). Diabetes is known to cause pathological changes in peripheral nerves, which results in subsequent inflammation within the CNS (Pabreja *et al.*, 2011). Previously, we have demonstrated an increase in activated microglia in specific cardiovascular control regions of the brain in STZ diabetic rats (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Despite this evidence, the functional consequence of microglial activation and its

contribution to the development of diabetic cardiovascular complications has never been investigated.

In this review, the objective is to provide a general overview of diabetes and its complications and the role that autonomic dysfunction plays in their generation, highlighting current knowledge relevant to the potential contribution of central inflammation in the brain regions involved in autonomic control of the cardiovascular system. The rationale for the experiments in this thesis is also explained.

1.2 Diabetes mellitus

The prevalence of diabetes is growing worldwide in both developed and developing countries. In 1980, around 153 million people suffered from diabetes mellitus, and this number had increased to 347 million by 2008 (Danaei *et al.*, 2011). By the year 2030, it is estimated that over 439 million people worldwide will be diagnosed with diabetes mellitus (Shaw *et al.*, 2010). In Australia, 3.6 million people have diabetes or a pre-diabetic condition (Atlas, 2011). In 2000, around 1 million Australians aged \geq 25 years suffered from diabetes, and its prevalence is expected to reach 2–2.9 million by 2025 (Magliano *et al.*, 2008). Diabetes is one of the top ten causes of death in Australia. In 2005, an estimated 3,529 Australians died as a consequence of diabetes and it complications. Diabetic complications not only increase mortality but also increase the cost of managing diabetes. For instance, type 1 diabetes costs an individual about \$4,669 each year if they are healthy; however, once diabetic complications develop, the cost increases up to \$16,698 (Colagiuri *et al.*, 2009). Thus, preventing or reducing the development of diabetic complications is an important objective to minimize the high prevalence of morbidity and mortality as well as the cost of treatments related to diabetes.

Diabetes mellitus is a metabolic disorder characterized by elevated blood glucose levels and associated disturbances of the metabolism of glucose, carbohydrates, proteins and lipids (Mwanri *et al.*, 2015). The elevation levels of glucose in the blood occur as a result of the inability of the pancreas to secrete insulin, defects in insulin action or both. Diabetes is classified into two main categories: type 1 diabetes and type 2 diabetes. Type 1 diabetes is characterised by hyperglycaemia due to the autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β cells, which secrete insulin to stimulate the metabolism of glucose in the body (Bluestone *et al.*, 2010). This type of diabetes accounts for 5% to 10% of all cases of diabetes. The risk factors for this type of diabetes are autoimmune, genetic and environmental factors (Deshpande *et*

al., 2008). In contrast, type 2 diabetes is characterised by the inability of the body to effectively respond to the insulin. Type 2 diabetes is responsible for around 90% to 95% of all cases of diabetes (Deshpande *et al.*, 2008). There are many factors that can contribute to the incidence of this form of diabetes. These include obesity, poor diet, western diet, physical inactivity, increasing age, family history of diabetes and ethnicity (Alberti *et al.*, 2007; Shaw *et al.*, 2010). The normal blood level of glucose in humans during fasting is between 4 to 6 mmol/L, and it is considered high when it reaches 12 mmol/L or above. High blood glucose is a defining feature of both types of diabetes. In the long term in both of these types of diabetes, the direct or indirect effects of hyperglycaemia increase the risk of the development of diabetes complications; however, correlation studies in humans can only go so far in understanding the mechanisms of generating diabetic complications via hyperglycaemia in animals.

1.2.1 Use of streptozotocin-induced diabetic models to study complications

The administration of streptozotocin (STZ) is a well-established technique to induce diabetes in animals through the selective destruction of the pancreatic β cells. As a consequence, insulin deficiency leads to hyperglycaemia and other characteristics observed in humans with diabetes mellitus, such as glycosuria, polyuria, polyphagia and polydipsia (Hebden *et al.*, 1986b); however, STZ induced diabetic animals do not show strong autoimmune features (Baxter & Duckworth, 2004). Because type 1 diabetes in humans results from the autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β cells, this model is not useful to study the mechanism that causes type 1 diabetes, but since an injection of STZ produces hyperglycaemia, it is a good model to study the mechanism that causes complications due to increased blood glucose levels. An injection of STZ also provides a robust and consistent hyperglycaemic in animals. In addition, since the hallmark symptom for humans with type 1 and 2 diabetes is hyperglycaemia, animal models injected with STZ may resemble both types of diabetes. STZ induced hyperglycaemia rats display abnormalities in the cardiovascular system, which is a characteristic of humans with type 1 and 2 diabetes. Thus, STZ-induced diabetes in animals is an adequate model for investigating the mechanisms of the cardiovascular complications of diabetes. Indeed, an STZ rat model was the primary model used for this thesis.

1.3 Cardiovascular complications in diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is described as a primary risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease (Grundy *et al.*, 1999; Fowler, 2008). Cardiovascular complications are the likely cause of morbidity and mortality in approximately 80% of diabetes mellitus patients (Carlson, Shelton *et al.*, 2000). Based on the differences in the size of the vessels injured, pathological mechanisms and risk factors, diabetic complications have been classified as either microvascular or macrovascular complications.

1.3.1 Microvascular complications

In diabetic patients, microvascular changes involve damage to small arteries, arterioles and capillaries, and these vascular abnormalities are suggested to lead to the following complications:

- A- Diabetic retinopathy: destruction of the retina, leading to vision impairment and eventually blindness (Porta *et al.*, 2011).
- B- Diabetic nephropathy: damage to the kidney, which progresses to renal failure. Diabetic nephropathy is associated with a decrease in the glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria (Van Buren & Toto, 2011).
- C- Diabetic neuropathy: damage to the peripheral nerves, which results in weakness, tingling, numbness and chronic pain (Callaghan *et al.*, 2012). For instance, diabetic neuropathy can cause foot ulcers in diabetic patients. Neuropathy not only affects sensory neurons but also autonomic neurons, which may lead to a secondary dysfunction of the cardiovascular and renal systems (Tesfaye *et al.*, 2010).

These microvascular complications are closely related to the severity and duration of diabetes. During the last decade, the most studied mechanisms of these complications included but were not limited to 1) increased metabolism of glucose through alternative polyol and hexosamine pathways to produce damage in diabetes; 2) increased activation of protein kinase isoforms; and 3) increased formation of advanced glycation end-products (Brownlee, 2001; Giacco & Brownlee, 2010; Rambhade *et al.*, 2011). An alteration in any of these molecular pathways induced by hyperglycemia will cause increased oxidative stress, increased activity of the renin-angiotensin system and increased free radicals production in mitochondria, which in turn will result in an up-regulation of inflammatory cytokines and growth factors. Combined, these changes are suggested to lead to multiple vascular and neurological dysfunctions, including ischemia in the retina, glomerulosclerosis and proteinuria in the kidney and degeneration in peripheral nerves (Brownlee, 2001, 2005; Gologorsky *et al.*, 2012; Nguyen *et al.*, 2012). All of these abnormalities could play a role in the development of cardiovascular disease in people with diabetes (Kim *et al.*, 2011).

1.3.2 Macrovascular complications

Macrovascular complications in people with diabetes are caused by damage to medium or large arteries. These complications include coronary artery disease, myocardial infarction and stroke, which can impair the central nervous system and the heart (Krentz *et al.*, 2007; Fowler, 2008). Such complications are known to be the most common risk factors that increase the mortality rate in people with diabetes. The common pathological mechanism of these complications is thought to be the development of atherosclerosis. While the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis remains insufficiently understood, endothelia dysfunction and chronic inflammation are thought to be important contributors (Williams & Nadler, 2007; Forbes & Cooper, 2013).

There are others factors that may be involved in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular complications in diabetes, such as macrophage dysfunction, dyslipidaemia and impaired platelet function (Cade, 2008). All of the diabetic complications mentioned above are dependent on the damaging effects of hyperglycemia on the blood vessels. In contrast, cardiomyopathy is a common complication of diabetes that is suggested to occur independent of vascular damage.

1.3.3 Diabetic cardiomyopathy

Diabetic cardiomyopathy is characterized by structural and functional changes in the myocardium of diabetic patients in the absence of other confounding factors, including coronary artery disease, valvular heart disease or hypertension (Aneja *et al.*, 2008; Pappachan *et al.*, 2013). Diabetic cardiomyopathy is associated with a left ventricular hypertrophy and myocardial remodelling, leading to abnormal left ventricle filling and diastolic dysfunction at early stages (Schilling & Mann, 2012). The progression of diastolic dysfunction accelerates systolic dysfunction, which in turn contributes to reducing the ejection fraction and the later development of heart failure (Fonseca, 2003). In both type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients, cardiomyopathy is common (Danielsen *et al.*, 1987; Schannwell *et al.*, 2002; Diamant *et al.*, 2003; Korosoglou *et al.*, 2012).

There is also evidence that cardiac functions are compromised in several types of diabetic animals. For example, *ex-vivo* studies on isolated hearts from diabetic mice and rats demonstrated a reduction in the maximal rate of pressure increase (+dP/dt) and decrease (– dP/dt) in the left ventricle and a reduction in the left ventricular developed pressure and left ventricular systolic pressure (Choi *et al.*, 2002; El-Omar *et al.*, 2003; Belke *et al.*, 2004; Ligeti *et al.*, 2006; Cao *et al.*, 2012). Similarly, *in vivo* studies have reported cardiac abnormalities, such as a decreased +dP/dt and decreased –dP/dt in the left ventricle; a decreased left ventricular developed pressure; an

increased left ventricular end-diastolic pressure; and a decreased fractional shortening and ejection fraction in STZ diabetic rats (Cheng *et al.*, 2004; Borges *et al.*, 2006; Bidasee *et al.*, 2008; Arozal *et al.*, 2009; Wang *et al.*, 2011; Bhatt & Veeranjaneyulu, 2012; Tappia *et al.*, 2013; Guo *et al.*, 2014), in rats treated with STZ combined with high fat feeding and in obese mice, both of which are animal models of type 2 diabetes (Zhou *et al.*, 2011; Sen *et al.*, 2012). Thus, in terms of cardiac changes, it appears that diabetic animals mimic cardiac features observed in human diabetes. The pathology of diabetic cardiomyopathy has been linked to several mechanisms, which include lipid accumulation in the cardiomyocytes (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2004), defects in myocardial subcellular organelles (Dhalla *et al.*, 2012), impairment of Ca²⁺ handling (Lagadic-Gossmann *et al.*, 1996; Dhalla *et al.*, 2014), endothelial dysfunction and myocardial fibrosis (Tschöpe *et al.*, 2005; Asbun & Villarreal, 2006); however, the exact mechanism behind diabetic cardiomyopathy is still unclear. There is evidence that suggests that increased sympathetic activity can cause cardiac dysfunction in other diseases (Aronson & Burger, 2002; Guggilam *et al.*, 2008), but its role in diabetic cardiomyopathy has not been investigated.

1.3.4 Blood pressure

Hypertension is considered to be an important risk factor in the development of cardiovascular disease, which is the likely cause of morbidity and mortality in approximately 80% of diabetes mellitus patients (O'Keefe *et al.*, 1999). The risk of developing cardiovascular disease in persons with diabetes is increased when it occurs with hypertension (Epstein & Sowers, 1992). In addition, it has been suggested that up to 75% of cardiovascular diabetic complications can be attributed to hypertension (Bild & Teutsch, 1987). Well-designed clinical trials have shown a reduction in complications in both types of diabetes following aggressive treatment for hypertension through the use of renin-angiotensin system inhibitors, such as diuretics, angiotensin receptor blockers and angiotensin-converting

enzyme inhibitors (Group, 1998; Tuomilehto *et al.*, 1999; Association, 2003). Therefore, the presence of hypertension in diabetic patients is thought to contribute to the overall diabetes mortality, although the possibility exists that increased angiotensin II levels cause complications via another mechanism.

While several clinical studies have shown that patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes are likely to show hypertension (Parving et al., 1988; Turner et al., 1993), blood pressure changes in diabetic animals are controversial. Studies showing hypertension in STZ-diabetic rats have mainly used the non-invasive tail cuff measurement method (Bunag et al., 1982; Katayama & Lee, 1985; Hartmann et al., 1988; Ramos, 1988). It has been suggested that the increased blood pressure observed in STZ rats with tail cuff measurements is spurious and is due to structural changes in the tail. Others studies have shown a decrease or no change in the blood pressure in conscious STZ diabetic animal studies using direct invasive measurements (Hebden et al., 1987; Maeda et al., 1995; Fazan et al., 1997; Schaan et al., 1997; Van Buren et al., 1998; Fazan et al., 1999; Dall'Ago et al., 2002; Schaan et al., 2004; Borges et al., 2006; Farah et al., 2007). The reasons for the difference between humans and rats in this aspect are not completely understood; however, several mechanisms have been postulated to be responsible for hypotension in STZ-diabetic rats, such as 1) a decreased cardiac output due to a dysfunction in the myocardium (Ren & Bode, 2000); 2) a differential sympathetic outflow to various organs; 3) hypovolemia due to osmotic diuresis (Teshima et al., 2000); and 4) the impairment of sympathetic innervation of the heart and blood vessels (Borges et al., 2006). For this thesis, the aim was to gain a better understanding of this difference, which will aid in the interpretation of the relevance of the STZ rat model to humans.

1.3.5 Salt-sensitivity of arterial blood pressure in diabetes

As discussed, the changes in blood pressure in STZ diabetic animals are different from the human condition, and the reason for the lack of an increase in blood pressure in rats treated with STZ is a matter of speculation; however, it is possible that dietary factors relevant to hypertension in human diabetes are also required for the development of hypertension in STZ diabetic rats.

There is consensus that dietary salt is a contributing factor in the development of hypertension in both humans and animals, particularly in salt-sensitive individuals (Campese, 1994; Sacks *et al.*, 2001; Jones, 2004; Brooks *et al.*, 2005). A large number of clinical and animal experimental studies have shown that a reduction in dietary salt lowers blood pressure, while a high salt intake has been found to increase blood pressure in animal models (Campese *et al.*, 1982; Koolen & van Brummelen, 1984; Howe *et al.*, 1990; Law *et al.*, 1991; Wyss *et al.*, 1995). In addition, excessive dietary salt reduces the effectiveness of most antihypertensive drugs (Chobanian & Hill, 2000).

Although the role of dietary salt in the development of hypertension in humans with type 1 and 2 diabetes is well-documented, the relationship between salt intake and hypertension in STZ diabetic rats has not been fully studied. Nevertheless, two studies on STZ-induced diabetes using the direct recording of blood pressure have reported that 1% NaCl intake causes an increase in blood pressure (Santos *et al.*, 1995; Maeda *et al.*, 2007). Dietary salt has also been shown to further elevate the blood pressure levels in obese Zucker rats compared with non-diabetic, lean Zucker rats (Carlson *et al.*, 2000). Collectively, this data suggests that dietary salt may have an important role in the development of hypertension in both diabetic humans and animals. Because the administration of STZ to rats induces a diabetic state that is not accompanied by hypertension, using STZ diabetic rats with increased salt intake may produce an animal model more closely related to human diabetes and thereby lead to a better understanding of the effects of hyperglycaemia on cardiovascular functions. This model will also provide a better understanding of the link between diabetes and hypertension.

1.3.6 Diabetic cardiovascular complications: the role of sympathetic nerve activity

The mechanisms responsible for the development diabetic cardiovascular complications are complex and multifactorial. For example, many studies on the mechanisms of the development of type 1 diabetes complications have suggested an important role for endothelial dysfunction (Woodman et al., 2008; Woodman & Malakul, 2009); however, a large body of evidence shows that the autonomic nervous system is impaired in diabetic patients. The peripheral autonomic nervous system functions to regulate the organ systems, such as the cardiovascular, digestive and renal systems. It is, in turn, regulated by the brainstem and the hypothalamus, which contain central autonomic control areas. Both the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems are regulated by reflex arcs between sensory and motor neurons in the viscera and autonomic brainstem nuclei. The sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems work together in a complex interplay to regulate the cardiovascular system. For example, in response to environmental stress, the activity of the sympathetic nervous system elevates blood pressure and accelerates the heart rate (Floras, 2009; Triposkiadis et al., 2009); however, the parasympathetic nervous system has restorative functions through exerting inhibitory input to the heart to decrease blood pressure and heart rate (Andresen & Kunze, 1994).

Diabetes mellitus imposes negative effects on both the function and structure of the autonomic nervous system, which may compromise its role in the maintenance of the body's internal environment (Baydas *et al.*, 2003; Lebed *et al.*, 2008). Autonomic neuropathy has been suggested to be the most serious complication of diabetes in terms of morbidity and mortality (Ewing *et al.*, 1980; Kempler *et al.*, 2002), and it may affect sensory and motor autonomic nerves. Still, the roles of the autonomic neuropathy and the dysregulation of the
autonomic nervous system in causing long-term diabetic complications, such as cardiovascular diseases, have not been fully explored.

As mentioned, diabetes affects not only the somatic sensory nerves but also autonomic sensory nerves, which modulate the control of the internal organs by sending signals regarding the state of the internal environment to the CNS, particularly into autonomic centres in the brainstem and hypothalamus (Perin *et al.*, 2001; Verrotti *et al.*, 2009). Thus, pathological changes in the peripheral nerves may result in the dysfunction of these autonomic centres, thereby causing adverse effects in the functionality of the cardiovascular, renal, endocrine and digestive systems. Any disturbance to the function of the autonomic nervous system may have substantial consequences for the health of the individual and mortality (Ewing *et al.*, 1980; Kempler *et al.*, 2002).

There is strong evidence that abnormal elevation of the sympathetic tone is a key mechanism underlying the development of cardiovascular diseases, including hypertension (Dampney *et al.*, 2005; Esler, 2011; Takahashi, 2012) and heart failure (Watson *et al.*, 2006; Kishi, 2012), which are major consequences of diabetes in the long term. Increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system has been reported in both humans and animals with heart failure (Packer, 1988; Zheng *et al.*, 2009; Patel *et al.*, 2011). Blocking the effect of increased activity with beta-blockers has been shown to decrease the mortality rate and improve outcomes for patients following a heart attack (Butler *et al.*, 2006); however, whether this approach is useful in diabetes has not been investigated.

Sympathetic nerve overactivity is known to occur in diabetic patients (Langer *et al.*, 1995; Stevens *et al.*, 1997; Perin *et al.*, 2001). Such overactivity has been shown to be involved in the development of diabetic complications, including hypertension (Frontoni *et al.*, 2005) and an increased risk of abnormal cardiac function and adverse cardiovascular events (Perin *et al.*, 2001; Manzella & Paolisso, 2005; Mori *et al.*, 2008) as well as chronic renal failure (Schlaich *et al.*, 2009). Thus, based on the data, an impaired autonomic nervous system function in diabetes promotes adverse effects on various body organs, leading to substantial and serious consequences for the health and survival of the individual.

Interestingly, a study on STZ-induced diabetic rats demonstrated significantly elevated basal renal sympathetic nerve activity (Patel *et al.*, 2011). Despite this evidence, the brain regions and cellular mechanisms responsible for the increase in sympathetic nerve activity in diabetes remain unidentified; however, it is likely that the increase in sympathetic nerve activity originates in the CNS cardiovascular centres (Dampney, 1994; Sato *et al.*, 2000; Chen & Toney, 2009).

1.4 Cardiovascular centers in the CNS

As discussed, cardiovascular functions are regulated via several nuclei in the brainstem and hypothalamus (Guyenet, 2006). These nuclei control and influence the neurons in the intermediolateral cell column of the spinal cord, which are sympathetic preganglionic motor neurons. These motor neurons activate the sympathetic postganglionic neurons in the peripheral ganglion to regulate cardiovascular function (Guyenet, 2006). The paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (PVN), the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) and the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS) are the main areas of the brain that are involved in cardiovascular regulation.

1.4.1 The paraventricular nucleus (PVN)

The PVN is located on both sides of the third ventricle in the hypothalamus, and it consists of parvocellular and magnocellular neurons. The PVN regulates the autonomic nervous system, including its cardiovascular functions, as well as the endocrine system (Kannan *et al.*, 1989; Badoer, 2001). Magnocellular neurons project to the posterior pituitary and are involved in secreting oxytocin and vasopressin in response to osmotic and other stimuli (Kannan *et al.*, 1989). Thus, the PVN plays a critical role in the control of blood volume via the secretion of oxytocin and vasopressin. In contrast, parvocellular neurons project to the anterior pituitary as well as other regions in the CNS in which they play a role in the regulation of sympathetic nerve activity (Cechetto & Saper, 1988; Stern *et al.*, 2003).

These parvocellular neurons can influence sympathetic nerve activity directly and indirectly (Figure1-1). They project directly into the intermediolateral cell column of the spinal cord, and the stimulation of this connection increases blood pressure and renal sympathetic nerve activity through the secretion of neurotransmitters, including vasopressin (Kawabe *et al.*, 2009). Parvocellular neurons also project to other brain regions, such as the RVLM, which in

turn projects to the sympathetic preganglionic neurons, thereby indirectly influencing sympathetic nerve activity (Kannan *et al.*, 1989; Kantzides & Badoer, 2003). In addition, functional evidence indicates that the inhibition of the PVN by the microinjection of a GABA receptor agonist produces a reduction in renal sympathetic nerve activity and mean arterial pressure in the normotensive rat (Haselton & Vari, 1998; Zhang & Patel, 1998; Deering & Coote, 2000). These findings indicate that activation of the PVN can cause changes in cardiovascular functions through the modulation of sympathetic nerve activity. Therefore, it is important to determine whether the cellular and molecular changes in the PVN may contribute to the activation of the sympathetic nerve system in diabetes.

The activation state of PVN is stimulated by a variety of factors, including haemorrhage (Badoer & Merolli, 1998), increased plasma leptin (Huang *et al.*, 1998), increased plasma volume (Badoer *et al.*, 1997), increased plasma osmolarity (Charlton *et al.*, 1988; Brooks *et al.*, 1989), dehydration (Zheng *et al.*, 2002), stress (Imaki *et al.*, 1995), prostaglandins (Konsman *et al.*, 2002), nuclear factor-kappa B (Kang *et al.*, 2009b) and proinflammatory cytokines (Shi *et al.*, 2010a).



Figure 1-1. Diagrams illustrating the PVN neuron pathways involved in the control of sympathetic activity. The PVN sends projections to the IML of the spinal cord to influence sympathetic activity directly (blue) or sends projections to the RVLM neurons, which send projections to the IML to ultimately influence sympathetic activity (red). PVN, paraventricular nucleus; RVLM, rostral ventrolateral medulla; IML, intermediolateral column. Modified from (Pyner, 2009).

1.4.2 Nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS)

The nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS) is located in the dorsomedial medulla oblongata and consists of the caudal and rostral regions. The caudal region of NTS is the region most involved in cardiovascular regulation. This nucleus receives projections from other brain regions that are known to be involved in cardiovascular regulation, such as the PVN and RVLM (Andresen et al., 2004). The NTS neurons play a pivotal role in regulating the cardiovascular system via modulating autonomic efferent activity (Paton, 1998; Silva-Carvalho et al., 1998). The NTS is the main area of the brain that relays sensory input for baroreflex control. It receives sensory terminals from the carotid chemoreceptors, arterial baroreceptors and cardiopulmonary receptors in the heart and vessels, which is used for the appropriate adjustment of blood pressure (Miura & Reis, 1969; Van Giersbergen et al., 1992; Machado *et al.*, 1997) (Figure 1-2). Upon baroreflex activation, the sympathetic nerve activity to the heart and vessels increases, and the parasympathetic nerve activity to the heart decreases to maintain a normal blood pressure. Lesions of NTS neurons have been shown to abolish the baroreflex responses in anesthetized animals (Miura & Reis, 1972), and the electrical stimulation of these neurons also produced a significant increase in blood pressure in another study in rats (Doba & Reis, 1973). The microinjection of a GABA receptor agonist into the NTS caused a decrease in sympathetic nerve activity and mean arterial pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats (Sato et al., 2000). These data indicate that the NTS is crucial in the regulation of the cardiovascular system and that increased NTS neuronal activity may contribute to the elevation of arterial pressure.



Figure 1-2. Diagram illustrating the neural pathways involved in the baroreceptor reflex. The NTS receives input from high and low-pressure baroreceptors and projects to the RVLM either directly or via the CVLM, which in turn projects to the RVLM before terminating at the IML of the spinal cord, which contains sympathetic post-ganglionic neurons, to ultimately influence sympathetic control of effector organs, including the heart, kidney and blood vessels. The NTS also projects to the NA and DMV, which mediate parasympathetic effects on the heart. NTS, nucleus tractus solitarius; RVLM, rostral ventrolateral medulla; IML, intermediolateral column; NA, nucleus ambiguous; DMV, dorsal motor nucleus of vagus.

1.4.3 Rostral Ventrolateral Medulla (RVLM)

The rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) is the area of the brain stem situated ventral to the nucleus ambiguous and caudal to the facial nucleus. This nucleus also projects into the intermediolateral cell column of the spinal cord (Guertzenstein & Silver, 1974; Dampney, 1994; Card *et al.*, 2006) and receives a variety of inputs from the NTS, PVN (Nosjean *et al.*, 1998) and caudal ventrolateral medulla (CVLM), which in turn are involved in the regulation of sympathetic activity via the inhibitory effects on the RVLM (Badoer & Merolli, 1998; Pyner, 2009).

The RVLM neurons are thought to play a pivotal role in controlling the tonic excitation of sympathetic preganglionic neurons, and the functional integrity of these neurons is important for maintaining blood pressure and sympathetic vasomotor activity. Chemical or electrical stimulation of the RVLM neurons has been shown to increase arterial pressure and heart rates in animals (Guertzenstein & Silver, 1974; Ross et al., 1984). On the other hand, the bilateral inhibition of the RVLM neurons causes a decrease in sympathetic nerve activity and blood pressure (Dampney, 1994; Guyenet, 2006). The RVLM neurons are also influenced indirectly by the NTS through peripheral inputs that adjust sympathetic nerve activity (Figure 1-2). For example, the arterial baroreflex is mediated via the RVLM neurons. An increase in arterial pressure causes the activation of arterial baroreceptors, which in turn inhibits output from the NTS to inhibit activation of RVLM neurons, thereby reducing sympathetic nerve activity to normalize blood pressure (Pilowsky & Goodchild, 2002). RVLM neurons also modulate the somatic pressor reflex and chemoreflex, which are involved in the regulation of blood pressure (Kiely & Gordon, 1994; Koshiya & Guyenet, 1996). The activity of RVLM neurons can also be influenced via inputs from the PVN (Badoer, 2000). Thus, multiple brain regions contribute to blood pressure control, and almost all are reported to show inflammation in disorders with increased sympathetic nerve activity.

1.5 The role of microglia in inflammation of the CNS

There is increasing evidence suggesting that inflammation within the central nervous system (CNS) may be crucial in the pathogenesis of peripheral diseases such as diabetes (Tsuda *et al.*, 2008; Patel *et al.*, 2011). Various studies on diabetic rats have demonstrated inflammation in specific cardiovascular centres of the brain (Luo *et al.*, 2002; Zheng *et al.*, 2006; Rana *et al.*, 2014). Despite this, the functional consequence of inflammation has never been investigated. The major cell types involved in CNS inflammation are microglia and astrocytes. As microglia play a significant role in the pathology of several diseases, it is important to understand their origins.

1.5.1 The origin of microglia

The functionality of the CNS is dependent on glia cells, which mainly consist of oligodendrocytes, astrocytes and microglia. Microglia are the primary immune cells in the CNS and were first described in 1899 by Nissl (1899). In 1919, Pio del Rio-Hortega began to characterize their function and origin. He documented that in response to brain injury, microglia migrate to the damaged tissue, undergo morphological changes and engulf tissue debris, suggesting that microglia act as an immunocompetent cell. He also suggested that microglia originate from mesoderm, which is similar to macrophages (del Rio-Hortega & Penfield, 1932).

For some time, the precise origin of the microglia in the CNS was controversial, but the neuroectoderm was proposed as the microglial origin, as well as for other cells in the CNS (Hutchins *et al.*, 1990; Hao *et al.*, 1991). This view was also supported by experimental data from cell cultures that suggested astrocytes and microglia cells derived from a similar progenitor cell (Eglitis & Mezey, 1997; Fedoroff *et al.*, 1997); however, it is now widely accepted that microglial cells in the CNS are derived from the mesoderm. Several studies

suggested that postnatally, progenitor microglia originate from circulating monocytes, traverse through blood vessels and eventually invade the CNS and differentiate to be ramified microglia (Perry *et al.*, 1985; Rezaie & Male, 2002); however, microglial cells have been shown to develop in the brain before vascularization (Ashwell, 1991; Cuadros *et al.*, 1993) and the formation of monocytes in hemopoietic tissues (Sorokin *et al.*, 1992; Naito *et al.*, 1996), indicating that during development at least, microglia cells are not generated from monocytes.

1.5.2 Morphology and function of microglia

The CNS previously was considered an 'immune privileged organ', meaning it was not susceptible to inflammation or activation of the immune system, as the CNS was not thought to have lymphatic drainage and because of the presence of the blood–brain barrier (BBB); however, this notion has changed, as activated T-cells cross the BBB (Cross *et al.*, 1990). In fact, the CNS has its own resident immune cells (microglia and astrocytes), which are involved in inflammation mechanisms and protect the CNS from pathogens (Gehrmann *et al.*, 1995; Dong & Benveniste, 2001).

Microglia represent the predominant resident immune cells in the CNS, and similar to macrophages, microglia perform immune functions and communicate with other cells of the immune system. In the CNS, three general morphological states of microglia have been described, which are ramified, activated and amoeboid, but others have suggested that there are more than three. It is believed that these morphological states indicate different functional states of microglia. In a healthy brain, microglia exist in the ramified state, consisting of a small cell body with long and highly branched processes that extend outwards (Davalos *et al.*, 2005). These long microglial processes monitor the surrounding local environment, allowing microglia to function as sentinels that sense insults within the CNS and engulf tissue debris

via phagocytosis (Sierra *et al.*, 2010). Ramified microglia also play a homeostatic role in supporting neurons (van Rossum & Hanisch, 2004).

Once activated in response to infection, injury, or inflammation of the CNS, ramified microglia undergo morphological changes consisting of shortened processes and enlarged cell bodies. In this state, microglia have the potential to display a diverse set of functional changes. They express other molecules, such as cell adhesion molecules, which enable them to further detect and eliminate foreign organisms (Kreutzberg, 1996; Lee & Benveniste, 1999). They also act as antigen-presenting cells by expressing major histocompatibility complexes, such as class I and II antigens, which are essential for T-cell activation and for allowing the entry of T-cells across the BBB (Babcock et al., 2003; Bailey et al., 2006). Upon activation, microglia secrete a wide variety of cytokines and express cytokine receptors, which facilitate communication with other cells of the immune system (Ferrari et al., 1996; Hide et al., 2000; Hanisch, 2002; Inoue, 2006). These immune mediators also may be involved in the regulation of inflammation by recruiting further microglia and other immune cells and causing the activation of these cells. Cytokines are subdivided into either pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory groups. When microglia become activated, they release both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines and change their expression of cytokine receptors, depending on the severity and type of stimulus. Furthermore, as modulators of immune function, microglia express various toll-like receptors, which are involved in the generation of innate immune responses and stimulate the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (Carty & Bowie, 2011). Upon activation, microglia also secrete reactive oxygen species, which can induce the proliferation and migration of microglia to the site of neuronal injury to further induce inflammatory processes (Parvathenani et al., 2003; Block et al., 2007; Lenertz et al., 2009).

Prolonged activation of microglia can result in their assuming amoeboid shapes with sparse processes, a cell type which is often called phagocytic microglia. They are also, however, capable of phagocytosis in their ramified state and this process plays an important role in maintaining the homeostasis of the CNS environment (Koizumi *et al.*, 2007; Fang *et al.*, 2009; Neumann *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, microglia cells are the principal immune cells in the CNS, play a significant role in normal brain function, host defence and serve as the link between the CNS and the peripheral immune system.

Several studies have reported activated microglia in pathologies of the CNS that are associated with brain inflammation, such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, neuropathic pain and diabetes. While microglia play a complex and multifaceted role in response to CNS pathological challenges, the situations in which activated microglia can be either neuroprotective or neurotoxic are still controversial.

1.5.3 Microglial activation: the dual ability of neuroprotection and neurotoxicity

As discussed, in response to CNS pathological challenges, such as stressful stimuli, brain injury, infection, inflammation or neurodegenerative diseases, microglial cells initiate and regulate the immune response in the CNS. This includes releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and the generation of reactive oxygen species. These secretions of microglia are beneficial to the host through the protection from infection in the CNS, but they also can be detrimental when inflammatory processes are induced chronically. It has been suggested that similar to systemic macrophages, activated microglia can be divided into two phenotypes. M1 microglia are the classic activated phenotype, which may be involved in the production of reactive oxygen species and pro-inflammatory cytokines; however, M2 or "alternatively activated" microglia are an anti-inflammatory phenotype, which release anti-inflammatory cytokines and neurotrophic factors (Fernandes *et al.*, 2014). In terms of morphology, no difference between these phenotypes has been observed and it is not yet clear whether so

called M2 microglia can participate in pathological processes. Therefore, additional research is needed to better define microglial activation phenotypes.

Activated microglia are commonly seen in the pathologies of the CNS, and their involvement in neuroprotection in various models of CNS injury has been reported. For example, studies on models of transient cerebral ischemia have shown that inhibition of microglial activation via minocycline reduces neurogenesis following brain ischemia (Yanagisawa *et al.*, 2008; Kim *et al.*, 2009). The secretion of the cytokine tumour necrosis factor (TNF) from activated microglia has been shown to protect neurons from ischemia-induced death (Lambertsen *et al.*, 2009). It has also been demonstrated that activated microglia are neuroprotective and stimulate remyelination in mice through the synthesis of the IL-1 β (Mason *et al.*, 2001). Also, many studies on other diseases have reported that activated microglia can, in some circumstances, protect CNS cells through the removal of potentially excitotoxic glutamate without producing excessing amount of inflammatory mediators (Shaked *et al.*, 2005), the engulfment of harmful invading neutrophils (Neumann *et al.*, 2008) or the degradation of amyloid-beta peptides deposits (Lee & Landreth, 2010).

On the other hand, a large body of evidence indicates that in a manner parallel to inflammation, exaggerated immune responses of activated microglia under specific circumstances have the potential to exert detrimental effects. Studies have reported the contribution of activated microglia to the pathologies of CNS diseases through the production of a range of neurotoxins, which include reactive oxygen species (Colton & Gilbert, 1987; Mao & Liu, 2008), nitric oxide (Moss & Bates, 2001; Liu *et al.*, 2002) and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Bi *et al.*, 2005; Balasubramaniam *et al.*, 2009). Activated microglia are found in the CNS in various neurodegenerative disorders, and they are thought to play a critical role in the pathology of these diseases. Several experimental studies have indicated that the inhibition of microglial activation via the drug minocycline leads to reduced levels of

neurotoxins and improved neuronal survival in neurodegenerative diseases (Jackson-Lewis *et al.*, 2002; Biscaro *et al.*, 2012). In Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, microglial activation is observed in various regions in the CNS, and their secretions, such as neurotoxic cytokines and reactive oxygen species, have been shown to promote neuronal damage (Teismann & Schulz, 2004; Mandrekar & Landreth, 2010). Further, chronically activated microglia have been observed in multiple sclerosis, and they have been implicated in contributing to the progression of the disease through the generation of nitric oxide (Hill *et al.*, 2004). These data suggest that activated microglia can exacerbate inflammation by producing toxic molecules and thereby contributing to CNS pathologies by exacerbating damage to neuronal tissue.

Even if activated microglia are not neurotoxic, they can still induce CNS dysfunction through increased neuronal excitability. For instance, activated microglia release brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) to induce neuronal survival, but increased levels of BDNF can induce neuronal excitability (Biggs *et al.*, 2010). Collectively, these studies have indicated the complexity of the role of activated microglia in regulating the CNS immune response and the difficulty in determining whether activated microglia exert pathological or protective effects. Therefore the role of activated microglia in diabetes, whether pathological or protective needs to be determined.

1.5.4 Consequences of microglial activation in the CNS in diabetes

Previous studies on STZ diabetic rats have reported increased neuronal activity in cardiovascular centres of the brain (Luo *et al.*, 2002; Zheng *et al.*, 2006; Rana *et al.*, 2014). Recently, our laboratory has shown that microglia become activated in these centres, including the PVN and NTS, but the functional consequence of this activation is not known (Rana *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, the consequences of microglial activation are better studied in other parts of the brain in diabetes.

Diabetes is known to cause pathological changes in the peripheral nerves and to result in subsequent inflammation within the CNS (Tsuda *et al.*, 2005). Chronic inflammation is also a major characteristic of neuropathic pain, which is a common complication of diabetes. Various animal models of neuropathic pain are characterised by activated microglia in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord and an increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-1 β , which have been implicated in increased neuronal excitability (Coyle, 1998; Schwei *et al.*, 1999; Tanga *et al.*, 2004; Obata *et al.*, 2006; Vega-Avelaira *et al.*, 2007). It has been documented that microglia-released pro-inflammatory cytokines can exacerbate chronic and neuropathological pain via the alteration of neuronal excitability in the spinal cord in STZ diabetic rats (Tsuda *et al.*, 2005). Enhanced expression of TNF- α and IL-1 β has been observed in the spinal cords of STZ diabetic rats. The inhibition of microglia has been shown to reduce TNF- α and IL-1 β levels and neuropathic pain-like behaviours in these animals (Talbot *et al.*, 2010; Pabreja *et al.*, 2011).

Another possible mechanism by which activated microglia can cause detrimental consequences in diabetes is the production of neurotoxic agents. Hyperglycaemia is believed to induce the generation of reactive oxygen species (Nishikawa *et al.*, 2000; Brownlee, 2005). These chemicals have been documented to be involved in the pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathic pain because antioxidant treatment prevents mechanical hypersensitivity in STZ diabetic rats (Cameron *et al.*, 2001; Li *et al.*, 2005a). An increase in oxidative stress in the spinal cord of STZ diabetic rats was reported and was attributed to microglial activation because the drug minocycline, which inhibits microglial activation, prevented the development of neuropathic pain associated with a decrease in oxidative stress (Pabreja *et al.*, 2011). These findings suggest that activated microglia could be a potential source of molecules that induce neurotoxicity and/or hyperexcitability in the context of diabetes; however, it appears that the functional consequence of microglial activation, and the possibility

that activated microglia may actually contribute to pathological cardiovascular changes in diabetes has not been investigated.

1.6 Astrocytes another cell types involved in neuroinflammation

Another important type of glial cells in the CNS is the astrocyte. As the name implies, astrocytes are star- or satellite-shaped cells with a central cell body and long, branched processes that extend outwards. The processes of adjacent astrocytes are connected to each other by gap junction channels that allow them to create a cellular network (Liu *et al.*, 2011).. Although high in number, the functions of astrocytes in the CNS have been somewhat mysterious in the field of neuroscience. For decades, they have been viewed as supporting structural cells that hold neuronal tissue together, but in recent years, astrocytes have been shown to be the most multifunctional cells in the CNS. In their resting state, they play a vital role in the maintenance of the neuronal microenvironment, which is required for the proper functioning of the CNS. In fact, astrocytes have the ability to affect neuronal function by regulating extracellular potassium and pH levels, regulating blood flow, providing energy metabolites for neurons, participating in synaptic functions, contributing to the metabolism of neurotransmitters and facilitating cellular communication (Koehler *et al.*, 2006; Hamby & Sofroniew, 2010). Thus, neuronal functioning is strongly linked to astrocytes via all of these processes, and astrocyte dysfunction may have a negative impact on neuronal activity.

Astrocytes also express a diversity of receptors that enable them to respond to virtually all known neuroactive compounds, neuropeptides, growth factors, cytokines, small molecules and toxins. These receptors enable astrocytes not only to participate in signal processing but also to function as sentinels that sense insults within the CNS (Dong & Benveniste, 2001; Liberto *et al.*, 2004), a role that has previously been attributed solely to microglia. In pathological conditions, astrocytes are activated and have the potential to display a diverse set of functional changes, including morphological changes, chemotaxis and proliferation (Ridet

et al., 1997). Astrocytes also perform immune functions and much like macrophage and microglia, are capable of phagocytosis (Magnus *et al.*, 2002). It now seems certain that astrocytes have an important function in the initiation and regulation of the immune response of the CNS (Hauwel *et al.*, 2005; Farina *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, while microglia cells are the principal immune cells in the CNS and play a significant role in host defence, astrocytes are also considered to be one of the immune effecter cells in the CNS.

1.6.1 Astrocytes are key players in CNS immunity

In their basal state, astrocytes have a small cell body and long, highly branched processes; however, in response to CNS pathological challenges, such as stressful stimuli, brain injury, infection, inflammation or neurodegenerative diseases, they undergo a process in which they are recognised as activated astrocytes. This process is associated with morphological changes that vary according to the stimulus but include the enlargement of the soma (Pekny & Nilsson, 2005). Furthermore, cell-surface molecules and cellular components, such as glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), are upregulated when astrocytes are activated (Lee & Brosnan, 1997). In the CNS, GFAP is specifically produced by astroglial cells, and it is widely used as a marker of astrocytes. Astrocyte activation causes a marked upregulation of GFAP that can be visualised with antibodies (Pekny & Pekna, 2004). Upon stimulation, astrocytes act as immune competent cells within the CNS, presenting antigens by expressing major histocompatibility complexes to activate T-cell activation (Benveniste, 1992; Kraus et al., 1992; Montgomery, 1994). Furthermore, as modulators of immune function, astrocytes display expressions of toll-like receptors, such as TLR3, which are involved in the generation of innate immune responses (Farina et al., 2007; Jacobs et al., 2011), and they secrete a wide variety of chemokines and cytokines that act as immune mediators, such as IL -1, -2, and -6, alpha and beta interferons, TNF and prostaglandins (Montgomery, 1994; John et al., 2003). Astrocytes also undergo other complex processes following activation, including an increase in number; an upregulation of intermediate filament components (nestin and vimentin) (Lee & Brosnan, 1997); a release of neurotrophic factors; a release of various growth factors, including a basic fibroblast growth factor, glial-derived growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor and an insulin-like growth factor-I (Travis, 1994; Merrill & Jonakait, 1995); a release of antioxidants (Wilson, 1997; Dringen *et al.*, 2000); the generation of reactive oxygen species (Simmons & Murphy, 1992; Kugler & Drenckhahn, 1996; Marchetti & Abbracchio, 2005); and glial scar formation (Silver & Miller, 2004). Thus, activated astrocytes help orchestrate the immune responses of the CNS.

1.6.2 The role of activated astrocytes in pathological conditions

There is compelling evidence that activated astrocytes have the potential to protect neural functions and promote tissue repair. Their protective effects can be mediated through the removal of potentially excitotoxic glutamate (Bush *et al.*, 1999; Swanson *et al.*, 2004); the production of glutathione to protect the CNS from oxidative stress (Shih *et al.*, 2003; Vargas & Johnson, 2009); neuroprotection via adenosine release (Lin *et al.*, 2008); the protection of neurons from ammonia toxicity, which is implicated in CNS dysfunction (Rao *et al.*, 2005); the protection of CNS cells by the degradation of amyloid-beta peptides (Koistinaho *et al.*, 2004); the repair of the BBB following injury (Bush *et al.*, 1999).

Moreover, astrocytes' involvement in the regulation of CNS inflammation in response to pathological insults is of particular interest regarding the neuroprotective effects of activated astrocytes. A large body of experimental studies have indicated that the inhibition of activated astrocytes is associated with a rapid infiltration of inflammatory cells into neural tissue following spinal cord injury (Okada *et al.*, 2006; Herrmann *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, Bush et al. showed that an ablation of activated astrocytes leads to a prolonged infiltration of

leucocytes associated with the degeneration of neurons in the injured CNS due to the absence of the glia scar (1999).

Under pathological conditions, activated astrocytes may also result in neuronal death and/or hyperactivity due to their involvement in CNS inflammation. Activated astrocytes can interact with microglia cells, the key players in the immunological response of the CNS, and modulate microglial inflammatory responses by releasing pro-inflammatory or antiinflammatory cytokines (Min et al., 2006; Farina et al., 2007). Both in vivo and in vitro studies have reported TNF- α and IL-1 β secretion from astrocytes (as reviewed in Dong and Benveniste 2001). An enhanced expression of TNF- α and IL-1 β has been observed in activated spinal astrocytes following peripheral nerve injury (Wei et al., 2008). The inhibition of these pro-inflammatory cytokines has been shown to reduce neuropathic pain-like behaviours, suggesting that TNF- α and IL-1 β contribute to increased neuronal excitability (Milligan et al., 2001). Moreover, studies on transgenic models that selectively delete or inhibit inflammatory molecules in astrocytes, such as transcription factor NF-kB, showed a reduction in the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and an improvement in functional recovery following spinal cord injury (Brambilla et al., 2005) or experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (Brambilla et al., 2009). These findings suggest that activated astrocytes could induce or facilitate neurotoxicity in various diseases.

Interestingly, in animal models of neuropathic pain, the rapid activation of microglia has been observed in the spinal cord followed by a delayed activation of astrocytes (Sweitzer *et al.*, 1999; Winkelstein *et al.*, 2001). Astrocyte activation persisted for a longer period compared with microglial activation (Coyle, 1998; Milligan & Watkins, 2009; Benarroch, 2010). At early time periods, microglial inhibition following peripheral nerve injury is effective on pain behaviours. In contrast, this inhibition at later stages has been shown to be less effective on pain behaviours (Raghavendra *et al.*, 2003; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2007; Padi & Kulkarni, 2008)

when compared with the inhibition of astrocytes in these animals (Meller *et al.*, 1994; Okada-Ogawa *et al.*, 2009). It has been suggested that microglial activation may induce astrocyte activation. As such, we propose that astrocyte activation may also have a greater effect in causing long-term complications of diabetes than microglia; however, whether activated astrocytes in the PVN contribute to neuronal activation and thereby promote diabetic cardiovascular complications requires investigation. Activated astrocytes have been observed in the PVN of diabetic rats (Luo *et al.*, 2002), but the time course, mechanism and consequences of astrocyte activation in the PVN have not been investigated.

1.7 Inflammation in cardiovascular centres and its role in regulating sympathetic activity and the cardiovascular system

Although there is a lack of studies on the consequence of inflammation in the cardiovascular centres of diabetic rats, the consequences of inflammation in these areas is better studied in other cardiovascular diseases, such as hypertension and heart failure. A common cause of heart failure is myocardial infarction, which is characterized by an elevation in sympathetic nerve activity. Brain pro-inflammatory cytokines are implicated in a pathological increase in the sympathetic drive. An elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-1, in the periphery has also been reported following myocardial infarction, and increased levels of these cytokines have been shown to correlate with the severity of heart failure (Tsutamoto MD et al., 1998; Maeda et al., 2000; Rauchhaus et al., 2000). Moreover, there is a large body of evidence suggesting that pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in the hypothalamic PVN are also elevated in heart failure, thereby contributing to the abnormal sympathetic overactivity (Felder et al., 2003; Francis et al., 2004a; Francis et al., 2004b). While the mechanisms responsible for increasing pro-inflammatory cytokines in the PVN are not known, it has been suggested that peripherally produced pro-inflammatory cytokines may cross the blood brain barrier (Banks et al., 1995). Despite this, local production of cytokines also has been demonstrated because mRNA levels for pro-inflammatory cytokines are elevated in the PVN (Francis et al., 2004b). In addition, in rats with acute myocardial infarction, an elevated expression of TNF- α and IL-1 β has also been reported in the PVN. These cytokines induce the production of reactive oxygen species in the PVN and contribute to exaggerated neuronal activity and increased sympathetic activity (Guggilam et al., 2007; Guggilam *et al.*, 2008). While microinjection of TNF- α into the PVN has been shown to increase renal sympathetic activity, most likely through the activation of PVN neurons (Felder *et al.*, 2003; Kang *et al.*, 2008), an infusion of a TNF-α blocker into the PVN of rats with heart failure decreased sympathetic hyperactivity (Kang et al., 2010). We have

demonstrated that microglia are activated in the PVN following myocardial infarction in rats, suggesting that these cells may be a source of the local production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the PVN (Rana *et al.*, 2010; Dworak *et al.*, 2012). Microglial activation was also observed in the NTS and RVLM following myocardial infarction in rats (Dworak *et al.*, 2014).

Hypertension is another condition for which neuroinflammation and increased activity in the sympathetic nervous system may be involved in the pathogenesis. TNF α and IL-1 β mRNA were found to be increased in the PVN of spontaneously hypertensive rats (Agarwal *et al.*, 2011) and angiotensin II–induced hypertension rats (Kang *et al.*, 2009b). Other researchers revealed that an ICV infusion of recombinant IL-1 β and TNF-a results in increased sympathetic nerve activity and elevated arterial blood pressure in conscious control animals (Kimura *et al.*, 1993; Kannan *et al.*, 1996; Ufnal *et al.*, 2005). Specifically, PVN stimulation with these mediators of inflammation has been shown to have the same effect in anesthetized rats (Shi *et al.*, 2011). These studies suggest that pro-inflammatory cytokines in the PVN play a key role in the regulation of the cardiovascular system through the modulation of PVN neuronal activity.

Previous data from our laboratory indicates that the injection of activated microglia into the PVN in naïve rats produces an increase in blood pressure. Interestingly, it has been postulated that microglia and their pro-inflammatory cytokines in the PVN participate in the development of Ang-II-induced hypertension. Chronic Ang II infusion has been shown to increase the mean arterial pressure and to activate microglia in the PVN (Shi *et al.*, 2010a). The inhibition of microglial activation via ICV minocycline treatment reduced arterial blood pressure, reversed cardiac hypertrophy and reduced the pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in the PVN in response to Ang II infusion (Shi *et al.*, 2010a). Moreover, the

microinjection of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 into the PVN also resulted in attenuated microglial activation and reduced hypertension in this model (Shi *et al.*, 2010a).

Similarly, the NTS and RVLM regions, which are involved in the regulation of cardiovascular functions, have been found to exhibit abnormal inflammatory responses in spontaneously hypertensive rats. In the RVLM, the expression of TNF α and IL-1 β are increased in hypertensive rats compared with normotensive rats (Agarwal *et al.*, 2011). There is also evidence of an increased reactive oxygen species production in the RVLM in hypertensive rats. These pro-inflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species are well-documented to induce neuronal activity via the transcription factor NF κ B expression (Shi *et al.*, 2010b; Hirooka *et al.*, 2011). Thus, abnormal inflammatory responses seen in the RVLM may contribute to sympathetic overactivity in this model. The NTS of spontaneously hypertensive rats also exhibited signs of inflammation, including the expression of junctional adhesion molecule-1 (Waki *et al.*, 2007). In addition, Takagishi et al. reported that the microinjection of IL-6 into the NTS decreased baroreceptor sensitivity, a phenomenon associated with hypertension (2010).

Collectively, these findings support the theory that inflammation in cardiovascular centres induces the over-activation of sympathetic nerves, which disrupts the normal functioning of the heart and blood vessels and may contribute to cardiovascular complications in other diseases. Whether the same mechanisms are involved in the increase in sympathetic nerve activity in diabetes is not known.

1.8 Rationale and research questions

In summary, cardiovascular complications, such as hypertension and cardiomyopathy, are common in diabetes mellitus. It is well-known that an elevated sympathetic drive occurs in diabetes and may contribute to the development of diabetic cardiovascular complications. Although the cause of the abnormal activation of sympathetic nerves in diabetes is not well understood, there is increasing evidence that increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines at the level of cardiovascular centres play an important role in other cardiovascular disorders. Diabetes is known to cause pathological changes in the peripheral nerves and to result in subsequent inflammation within the CNS, at least in the spinal cord. Our previous data indicated that microglia become activated in the areas of the brain that control the cardiovascular system in STZ diabetic rats (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Because activated microglia are involved in mediating inflammation, we hypothesize that they may influence the cardiovascular complications. Thus, we will also investigate whether the inhibition of activated microglia in the PVN can reduce or prevent cardiovascular changes in STZ diabetic rats.

Astrocytes also contribute to inflammation in the CNS, and published studies have demonstrated that activated astrocytes have the potential to increase neuronal hyperactivity and thereby exaggerate pathological processes and are potentially more important than microglia in the long-term complications of diabetes. Thus, we will investigate whether astrocytes are activated in the PVN of diabetic rats at different time points following STZ treatment and whether microglia induce astrocyte activation in the PVN in these animals.

As mentioned previously, giving STZ-treated diabetic rats 1% NaCl to drink causes a marked elevation in their blood pressure (Maeda *et al.*, 2007). The mechanisms underlying this hypertension are poorly understood but may be explained in part by an increased blood

volume. Interestingly, hypertension develops quickly at 2 weeks after STZ treatment in these animals; however, at this time period (2 weeks), STZ diabetic rats show no microglial activation in the cardiovascular centres (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Despite the possible effects of drinking 1% NaCl on blood volume, whether 1% NaCl also influences inflammation in cardiovascular centres to cause an increase in blood pressure in STZ diabetic rats is not known. Thus, we will investigate the effects of 1% NaCl on blood pressure, baroreceptor reflex, cardiac function and cardiovascular centre inflammation in STZ diabetic rats. In addition, we will investigate whether inhibition microglia in the PVN can reduce or prevent diabetic complications in STZ diabetic rats given 1% NaCl, as observed in the animal model of angiotensin II-induced hypertension (Shi *et al.*, 2010a).

Previously, we have reported the time range of microglial activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats (Rana *et al.*, 2014), but whether this activation also occurs in other species and other models of diabetes is not known. The mouse is the most suitable for genetic manipulations and can also be used in cellular and molecular studies. Thus, it is useful to examine whether microglia and neurons are activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice and the time course of any activation. This would also provide information about whether the results obtained in STZ diabetic rats are due to the effects of diabetes or are specific to the model tested.

Antioxidant treatment has been shown to prevent cardiovascular diseases in humans (Sugamura & Keaney, 2011). Systemic infusion of hydrogen sulphide (H₂S), which is known to have antioxidant properties, has been reported to reduce oxidative stress and blood pressure in an animal model of angiotensin II (Al-Magableh *et al.*, 2015), but whether the beneficial effect of H₂S is mediated via a central action is not clear. A deficiency in the levels of H₂S has been shown to occur in diabetic humans as well as animals (Jain *et al.*, 2010), and this deficiency contributes to the development of diabetic complications (Lefer,

2008; Szabo, 2012). In fact, H_2S also has anti-inflammatory actions, and several studies showed that H_2S reduces microglial and neuronal activation *in vitro* (Hu *et al.*, 2007; Umemura & Kimura, 2007; Hu *et al.*, 2009). Thus, we will investigate whether hydrogen sulphide influences PVN inflammation in STZ diabetic mice.

Type 2 diabetes in humans is also associated with cardiovascular disease and an overactivity of the sympathetic nerves that control the cardiovascular system. A high fat diet is a major contributing factor in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes, the most common form of diabetes in humans. If hyperglycaemia results in subsequent brain inflammation in STZ diabetic rats, it may be expected to also observe brain inflammation in type 2 diabetic animals. Thus, we will investigate whether microglia and neurons are activated in the PVN of mice treated with a low dose of STZ and fed a high-fat diet.

1.8.1 Project specific aims

The overall aim of this project is to determine whether inflammation within in the region of the hypothalamus that controls cardiovascular function can contribute to the development of cardiovascular and autonomic complications in diabetes. To achieve this, we address the following specific aims:

- To determine whether the inhibition of microglial activation or action in the PVN can ameliorate some of the cardiovascular complications of STZ diabetes.
- To investigate the time course of astrocyte activation in the PVN in STZ-treated diabetic rats and whether inhibiting the activation of microglia can prevent the activation of astrocytes in these animals.
- To investigate the effects of 1% NaCl on cardiovascular parameters and whether 1% NaCl influences inflammation in the CNS cardiovascular centres in STZ-diabetic rats and

whether the inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN can reverse any of the changes observed.

- To investigate whether microglia are activated in the cardiovascular centres of the brain in STZ diabetic mice and the time course of this activation.
- To investigate the effect a high-fat diet and hydrogen sulphide on PVN inflammation in STZ diabetic mice.

Chapter Two: Materials and Methods

2.1 Animals

All animal experiments were approved by the RMIT University animal ethics committee and were conducted in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council guidelines. Male Sprague Dawley rats and C57BL6/J mice were obtained from the Animal Resource Centre (Perth, Australia).

All animals were kept in standard high-top rat cages with environmental enrichment in a temperature-controlled room on a 12:12 hour light/dark cycle (lights on at 7:00 A.M.) in the Animal Facility (RMIT University, Victoria, Australia). Two male Sprague Dawley rats were housed per rat cage, and 4-5 C57BL6/J mice were housed per mouse cage. The plastic cages were cleaned and replaced once each week. Food and water were provided for all animals at all times. All animals were acclimatized for 4-7 days prior to undergoing any experimental procedure.

2.2 Animals models of diabetes 2.2.1 STZ / NaCl treatment

Male Sprague Dawley rats weighing 170-200 grams were exposed to a heat lamp for 2-3 minutes in a small animal cage to dilate the tail vasculature and then were given an intravenous injection of streptozotocin (STZ, 55mg/kg, Sigma) through the tail vein using a 27-gauge needle. The control rats were injected with a citrate buffer (0.42% in sterile saline, pH 4.5). Each week thereafter, blood was taken by heat lamp exposure followed by puncturing the tail vein with a 30-gauge needle to evaluate the blood glucose levels using a One Touch glucometer (Accu-Chek Perfoma). When the blood glucose exceeded 25 mM, the subcutaneous injection of insulin (3-4 units twice per week) was given. Two days after the induction of diabetes, the rats were placed in individual cages with free access to a 1% NaCl

solution **OR** tap water as a control. The amount of saline or water ingested was monitored daily by weighting the water bottles.

2.2.2 STZ / high fat diet treatment

Male C57BL/6J mice (10 weeks old) were provided standard standard lab chow diet (8% calories from fat, 21% calories from protein, and 71% calories from carbohydrate) or a high-fat diet (45% calories from fat, 20% calories from protein, and 35% calories from carbohydrate) for up to 10 weeks. Mice were then injected with either vehicle (saline) or a low dose of streptosotocin (STZ, 40 mg/kg/day) for five consecutive days in order to induce diabetes. Mice were then received an intraperitoneal injection with either or a citrate buffer or a low dose of streptosotocin (STZ, 40 mg/kg/day) for five consecutive days in order to induce type 2 diabetes.

2.2.3 STZ/ NaHS treatment

Male C57BL/6J mice aged 8 weeks (Animal Resource Centre, Western Australia) were randomly divided into three groups: Vehicle (Citrate buffer) control, diabetic and diabetic treated with NaHS. Type 1 diabetes was induced with streptozotocin (STZ, 60mg/kg/day, ip) for two weeks. The control group received an equivalent volume of the vehicle (0.1M citrate buffer, pH 4.5) daily for two weeks. NaHS (100µmol/kg/day, ip) was given daily for the final four weeks. Blood glucose measurement was performed at the beginning and the end of the experiment and twice a week during the experiment for diabetic mice. Insulin (0.1U, i.p, 50% isophane insulin (Protaphane) + 50% neutral insulin (Actrapid)) was given when the blood glucose level exceeded 30mM. Control group blood glucose was also measured during week 5. Blood samples were obtained from the tail vein and blood glucose concentration was measured using a one touch glucometer ACCU-CHEK Advantage (Roche, NSW, Australia) and glycated haemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) using an in2it (II) analyser (281-0000EX) (Bio-Rad, NSW, Australia). Induction of diabetes was considered successful when the blood glucose level was greater than 20mM.

2.3 Surgical procedure

2.3.1 Blood Pressure and heart rate recording under anesthesia

At 2 or 6 weeks following STZ/citrate buffer treatment, the animals were anaesthetized using isofluorane (5% in air or oxygen using a small animal anaesthetic Vetquip machine) by placing the animal in a closed box. Immediately following induction, the animals were placed on a heat pad, and isofluorane (2-3% in air or oxygen) was continually provided via a mask. For cannulation, the right groin region was shaved and swabbed with 70% alcohol. A midline incision (4-5 mm) through the skin in the right groin region was then made to expose the femoral vein and artery. A blunt dissection was made to clear the subcutaneous fascia and to separate the femoral vein from the artery. Two sutures (silk 3/0, Dynek Pty, Australia) were placed under the femoral vein and artery and pulled tight to obstruct the blood flow during the insertion of a separate cannula. Both the femoral vein and artery were then pricked with very fine McPherson-Vannas 8cm scissors (World Precision Instruments Inc., FL, USA). The cut in the femoral vein and artery was expanded by inserting closed fine tweezers # 5 (World Precision Instruments Inc., FL, USA) into the cut to allow a cannula tip to be introduced into the vessel. The cannula, filled with heparinised saline (50U/mL), was inserted into the femoral vein and artery while the tweezer was withdrawn. The cannula was then threaded along the femoral vein and artery and secured with a sutuer. The skin incision was then closed using stiches (silk 0-USP, Dynek Pty, Australia). At this stage, the anaesthetic agent was changed to urethane (1-1.4 g/kg intravenously), which has the least effect on dampening the cardiovascular reflexes compared to the other anaesthetics (Barringer et al., 1990). Supplemental doses of urethane were given as required. Every 5 minutes, the depth of anaesthesia was tested using the corneal and pedal reflexes. The arterial cannula was attached

to a transducer for monitoring blood pressure and heart rate. Prior to elicit the baroreceptor reflex, mean arterial pressure and heart rate were calculated from the arterial pressure pulse over a period of 5 minutes using labchart (ADInstruments, Bella Vista, NSW, Australia).

2.3.2 Conscious blood pressure recording via tail cuff

The systolic blood pressure in the restrained conscious animals was recorded via a tail cuff blood pressure measurement system (ML125 NIBP Controller and MLT125/R Pulse Transducer/Pressure Cuff for NIBP - Rat). At 2 weeks following STZ/buffer treatment and 10 days after minocycline or saline ICV infusion, the rats initially trained 2-3 times for recording blood pressure to acclimatize them to preheating, the restrainer and the inflation and deflation of the tail cuff. Prior to actual recording, the rats were exposed to a heat lamp for 5 minutes at 30°C and then placed in restrainers, and the tail cuff was placed around the tail of the rat for 10-15 minutes. Then, the systolic blood pressure was recorded.

2.3.3 Baroreceptor reflex testing

Before the beginning of the experiment recording, blood pressure and heart rat were allowed to stabilize for at least five minutes. The venous cannula was then flushed with saline (0.2ml), and five minutes later, four different doses of phenylephrine (1, 2, 5 and 10 μ g/kg) were given I.V. These doses were given in sequence to elicit the baroreceptor reflex. For each dose, 0.2 ml of phenylephrine solution was injected followed by flushing with 0.2 ml of saline. From 5-8 minutes were allowed between each dose of phenylephrine to allow blood pressure and heart rate to return to their original baseline levels before the injection of the next dose. The peak values of mean arterial blood pressure and heart rate in response to increasing doses of phenylephrine were measured and recorded using a PowerLab data acquisition system (ADInstruments, NSW, Australia).

2.3.4 Implantation of brain infusion catheters and osmotic pumps

One week following STZ/citrate buffer treatment, the animals were anaesthetized using isofluorane as previously described. The head of the rat was shaved and swabbed with 70% alcohol before being placed in a David Koph stereotaxic frame, such that the bregma and lambda were positioned on the same horizontal plane to allow for the accurate placement of the cannula in the lateral ventricle using a coordinate system. A midline incision was then made through the skin to expose the skull. The bregma and lambda were identified, and a small hole (1-2 mm diameter approximately) was drilled, centred at 0.7 mm caudal and 1.8 mm lateral from the bregma. Another hole was then drilled at a distance of 5mm from the initial hole to allow for the insertion of jeweller screws to act as anchors. A guide cannula was then inserted into the lateral ventricle (stereotaxic coordinates: 0.7 mm caudal to bregma, 1.8 mm lateral to midline, and 3.7 mm ventral to the surface of the dura). It was then advanced approximately 4 mm down to the lateral brain ventricle using a micromanipulator attached to the stereotactic frame. After the insertion procedure, dental cement was applied to the skull, the cannula and the screw. The dental cement was then set using a UV light device. Next, the skin of the back was separated from the underlying tissue by blunt dissection to insert a small osmotic pump (Alzet, 2004, Weight 1.1g, volume 1ml) under the skin. The tube attached to the osmotic pump was then connected to the intraventricular cannula to allow direct infusion of either saline (0.9% NaCl) or minocycline (5 µg/h) over a period of 4 weeks. Upon completion of the implantation procedures, the incision was sutured (silk 0-USP, Dynek Pty, Australia), and the animal was allowed to recover.

2.3.5 Implantation of telemetric blood pressure monitoring devices

Three weeks after the STZ/citrate buffer treatment, the animals were anaesthetized using isofluorane as previously described. The abdominal wall was shaved and swabbed with 70%

alcohol before a midline incision was made through the skin. With the aid of retractors, the intestine and fat tissue were pulled aside to expose the abdominal aorta. Then, the abdominal aorta was dissected free from the surrounding tissue under an operating microscope. Two sutures (silk 3/0, Dynek Pty, Australia) were placed under the abdominal aorta to obstruct the blood flow during the introduction of a catheter. The aorta was then cut using McPherson-Vannas 8cm scissors or a 27-gauge needle followed by introducing the catheter and gluing using tissue glue. A piece of surgical mesh was applied and glued to the outside of the aorta to further stabilize the catheter. The body of the telemetry was covered with sterilised surgical mesh and placed in the abdominal cavity. Upon completion of the implantation procedures, the muscle layers and skin were sutured with absorbable sutures, and the animal was allowed to recover.

2.3.6 Echocardiographic measurements

Six weeks after the STZ/citrate buffer treatment, the animals were anaesthetized with pentobarbitone 40 mg/kg i.p. To assess the cardiovascular function in these animals, a Vivid e echocardiography machine with a 10-MHz phased array probe (GE Vingmed, Horten, Norway) was used. The left chest, abdomen and groin were shaved and swabbed with 70% alcohol followed by applying a layer of acoustic coupling gel. A two-dimensional and Doppler echocardiography were performed with the animal in the left recumbent position. M-mode echocardiograms were recorded from the parasternal short-axis view of the left ventricle at the mitral valve level to measure the left ventricular internal diameter in the systole (LVIDs) and the left ventricular internal diameter in the diastole (LVIDd). These parameters were assessed using at least five cardiac cycles from the M-mode image. Next, a flow velocity was assessed using pulsed-wave Doppler echocardiography from the apical four-chamber view. Mitral inflow velocities at early diastole (E) and late diastole (A) were evaluated, and their ratio (E/A ratio) was calculated. The Doppler images were obtained with

a heart rate at approximately 300-350 bpm and all measurements were obtained from an average of at least three consecutive heart beats.

2.3.7 Ventricular hemodynamics

Immediately after the echocardiography procedures, a midline incision was made through the neck skin to expose the right carotid artery. The artery was dissected free from the surrounding tissue under an operating microscope, and 2 fine sutures (silk 3/0, Dynek Pty, Australia) were placed under it and pulled tight to obstruct the blood flow. The carotid artery was then pricked with very fine McPherson-Vannas 8cm scissors (World Precision Instruments Inc., FL, USA). A telemetry transducer catheter was used to insert it into the carotid artery, while monotring the blood pressure trace. It was then advanced 4-5 mm approximately into the left ventricle to assess the left ventricular end diastolic pressure, dP/dt max and heart rate using a PowerLab data acquisition system (ADInstruments, NSW, Australia).



Figure 2-1. Echocardiogram- representative M-mode image and measurements of left ventricular internal diameter in systole (LVIDs) and left ventricular internal diameter in diastole (LVIDd) in control animals.


Figure 2-2. Functional echocardiography: apical four-chamber view pulsed-wave Doppler displaing E and A wave in control animals.

2.4 Blood collection

For blood collection, a 1ml syringe was flushed with 6% Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid and 10 ul of the same solution was added to the syringe before connecting it to the venous cannula to collect blood while the animal was under deep anaesthesia. A minimum of 500ul of blood was collected in each syringe. The haematocrit and haemoglobin concentration were determined using ACTdiff 5 blood analyser (Beckman, USA). Blood samples were immediately centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 10 minutes. Plasma osmolarity was measured by using an osmometer (Gonotec Osmomat 030).

2.5 Tissue collection

2.5.1 Perfusion

Two, 6 or 8 weeks after the STZ/buffer treatment, the animals were anaesthetied with pentobarbital sodium (180mg/kg of body weight). The abdominal skin was cut to expose the end of the sternum, which was grasped and the diaphragm was cut laterally on both sides to access the rib cage. The pump needle (25-gauge) was inserted into the aorta through the left ventricle and clamped before the atrium was cut. Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (200ml) was perfused at a pressure of up to 100 mmHg and when the blood had cleared from the body, the perfusing solution was changed to 4% paraformaldehyde solution.

2.5.2 Brain collection

The occipital bone and vertebrae were exposed via a midline incision in the skin of the head. With the aid of rongeurs, the occipital bone was carefully removed to expose the cerebellum and brainstem. The bone over the posterior part of the nasal cavity was then cut with the rongeurs. The dura mater over the cortex of the cerebellum, and the cerebral hemispheres were elevated slightly and cut by sharp scissors. The brain was elevated using a long thin spatula and the optic nerves cut to allow it to be removed and post-fixed in a 4% paraformaldehyde solution for 4 hours at 4°C. It was then placed in a cryoprotection solution (30% sucrose in PBS) for at least 2 days at 4°C before sectioning processing.

2.5.3 Cryostat sectioning

A Leica CM1900 Cryostat was used for freezing and sectioning brain tissue. A few drops of embedding medium (OCT, **O**ptimal **C**utting **T**emperature) were placed on the surface of the specimen disc and the brain was positioned onto it. The tissue was frozen within the cryostat chamber at -20 °C for approximately 20 minutes. The transverse sections of the brain included were the paraventricular nucleus, rostral ventrolateral medulla and nucleus of the solitary tract, which were sectioned at 40 µm thickness and immediately mounted onto gelatine coated slides and left to dry for 2 hours at room temperature.

2.6 Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was used to identify various markers of glial cells (microglia and astrocytes) and neurons in the cardiovascular centres of diabetic animals. CD11b and Glial Filament/Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) markers were used to show morphological changes in microglia and astrocytes, respectively. In addition, nuclear c-fos protein immunoreactivity was used to identify activated neurons in the brain tissue (Dworak *et al.*, 2014).

All sections of the brain were washed 3 times in PBS (each wash for 5 min), then the endogenous peroxidase activity was destroyed by incubating with 0.5% H₂O₂ (Sigma-Aldrich, Australia) for 30 minutes at room temperature. The sections were blocked with 10% normal horse serum for 1 hour at room temperature to prevent nonspecific binding and then washed 3 times in PBS. The PBS was then replaced and the sections were washed 3 times in PBS before incubation with 0.5% Triton X (Sigma-Aldrich, Australia) in PBS for 30 minutes

at room temperature to enhance antibody penetration, and then washed 3 times in PBS. The sections were then incubated with the appropriate primary antibodies.

A mouse monoclonal primary antibody (OX-42 produced in house diluted 1:150 in 2% normal horse serum and 0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS) was applied to the sections, and the sections were placed into a humidified environment and left for three nights at -4° C. The sections were then washed three times with PBS and incubated with a biotinylated antimouse secondary antibody (diluted 1:400 in 2% normal horse serum in PBS: catalogue number BA-2001; Vector Laboratories,Burlingame, CA, USA) for 2 hours at room temperature. Next, the sections were washed three times with PBS and incubated with extravidin (diluted 1:40 in 2% normal horse serum in PBS) for 2 hours at room temperature. The sections were then washed three times with PBS and incubated with extravidin (diluted 1:40 in 2% normal horse serum in PBS) for 2 hours at room temperature. The sections were then washed three times with PBS and the slides were placed in 0.05% 3,3-diaminobenzidine hydrochloride (DAB; Sigma-Aldrich, Australia) in PBS for 10 minutes. Then 5 μ l of 30% hydrogen peroxide was added to start the reaction for 10 to 15 minutes at room temperature. The reaction was then stopped by washing them with PBS. The slides were left for 1 hour at room temperature to dry and then cover-slipped with Depex mounting medium (BDH Lab Supplies, Poole, UK).

To detect changes in astrocytes and c-fos activity, similar techniques were applied using a rabbit monoclonal primary antibody (GFAP Sigma-Aldrich, Australia: diluted 1:150 in 2% normal horse serum and 0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS) and a rabbit polyclonal primary antibody (Fos, diluted 1:400 in 2% normal horse serum and 0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS: c-Fos (K-25): sc-253, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, CA, USA), respectively and then incubated with the anti-rabbit secondary antibody (diluted 1:400 in 2% normal horse serum in PBS: catalogue number B8895, Sigma-Aldrich, Australia).

2.7 Quantification and morphological analysis

OX-42 antibody staining was used to identify morphological changes in microglia cells. The quantification and morphological analyses of microglia were performed as previously discussed (Rana et al., 2014) with a light microscope using ×400 magnifications. On the basis of subjective classification, non-activated microglia were identified by their small soma from which there emanated extensive, highly branched, long, thin processes. However, activated microglia were defined by three main criteria; stronger immunohistochemical staining for the marker CD11b (clone OX-42), the presence of a clearly enlarged soma, and marked changes in the appearance of the processes which were now reduced in number, but considerably thicker and shorter giving a stubby appearance. The number of microglia was counted in squares measuring 0.2×0.2 mm in size in all examined regions. The numbers of normal and activated microglia in the PVN were counted in two squares to cover the region from 0-1 mm lateral to the edge of third ventricle. In the NTS and RVLM, a similar analysis was performed. The percentage of activated microglia was determined by counting the number of activated microglia and total microglia in all examined regions. To quantify the length of microglial processes, the longest process was measured in 10 randomly selected microglia in one square in each brain region examined. A similar analysis for accounting for the number of neuronal activation was performed. The quantification of microglial and neuronal histology was done with the experimenter blinded to the experimental conditions in two sections from each region in all animals.

2.8 Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was performed using GRAPH PAD PRISM, version 6 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. The significance between groups was evaluated using a one way ANOVA. If a statistical

difference was obtained, subsequent comparisons between all groups were made using Tukey's post hoc test.

Chapter Three: Neuroinflammation in the Paraventricular Nucleus in STZ Diabetic Rats

3.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular complications are common in diabetes mellitus (O'Keefe *et al.*, 1999). Evidence demonstrates that overactivation of the sympathetic nerve is crucial in the development of these complications (Perin *et al.*, 2001; Augustyniak *et al.*, 2002; Patel *et al.*, 2011). Increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system has also been reported in both humans and animals with type 1 diabetes (Perin *et al.*, 2001; Patel *et al.*, 2011), but how this occurs is not clear.

The paraventricular nucleus (PVN) is a region of the brain that controls sympathetic nerve activity and the cardiovascular system (Kannan *et al.*, 1989; Badoer, 2001). Our study and other previous studies on rats injected with STZ to induce chronic hyperglycaemia have indicated that pathological changes occur in the PVN, including abnormally increased neuronal activity (Krukoff & Patel, 1990; Zheng *et al.*, 2002; Rana *et al.*, 2014). The central mechanisms behind PVN neuronal activation are not well understood, but studies on other cardiovascular diseases have suggested that proinflammatory cytokines increase neuronal activity in the PVN (Rivest *et al.*, 1992; Shi *et al.*, 2010a) and contribute to increased sympathetic activity (Guggilam *et al.*, 2007; Guggilam *et al.*, 2008); however, the source of proinflammatory cytokines in diabetes is not known.

The resident immune cells within the CNS that mediate inflammation are microglia. These cells have been implicated in the development of various neurological diseases. It has been suggested that the inhibition of microglia is therapeutically useful in preventing the consequences of inflammation (Sweitzer *et al.*, 1999; Moalem & Tracey, 2006; Milligan & Watkins, 2009). Previously, we found that microglia were activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Activated microglia can release proinflammatory molecules and cytotoxic factors, such as nitric oxide and TNF- α , which induce the activation of neurons.

Despite this evidence, whether the inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN can prevent the cardiovascular complications in STZ-induced diabetic rats has not been investigated.

Astrocytes also contribute to immune responses and inflammation in the CNS. Published studies have demonstrated that activated astrocytes in the CNS have the potential to exaggerate pathological processes (Meller *et al.*, 1994; Okada-Ogawa *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies have reported that activated astrocytes produce a variety of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1, IL-6 and TNF α , which may cause abnormal neuronal activity (Aloisi *et al.*, 1992; Lee *et al.*, 1993; Johnstone *et al.*, 1999). Following spinal nerve injury in rats, the rapid activation of microglia in the spinal cord is observed followed by a delayed activation of astrocytes, and this activation persists for a long period compared with microglial activation (Coyle, 1998; Milligan & Watkins, 2009; Benarroch, 2010). Hence, we hypothesised that activated astrocytes may have a greater effect in causing long-term complications of diabetes than microglia.

Regarding diabetic complications, in long-term STZ diabetic rats, hypertension has been demonstrated with the tail cuff measurement method (Bunag *et al.*, 1982; Katayama & Lee, 1985; Hartmann *et al.*, 1988; Ramos, 1988). In contrast, data from other studies that used the indirect blood pressure recordings are inconsistent (Fazan *et al.*, 1997; Van Buren *et al.*, 1998; Fazan *et al.*, 1999; Schaan *et al.*, 2004). The tail cuff measurement has been suggested to be inaccurate in long-term STZ diabetic rats due to morphological changes in the tail that lead to a change in the relationship between the pressure at the cuff and the pressure actually transmitted to the caudal artery. Therefore, in this study, a telemetry system was used to measure cardiovascular changes more precisely in conscious animals on a continuous basis, thereby also reducing the effect of handling induced stress.

Therefore, we aimed to investigate: (i) the effect of the inhibition of microglia in the PVN on blood pressure and heart rate in STZ diabetic rats, (ii) whether astrocytes are activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats (iii) and the mechanisms of astrocyte activation in these animals.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Body weight and blood glucose measurements

Eight weeks after injection of Male Sprague Dawley rats with either STZ or citrate buffer, all groups exhibited a continuous growth in body weights, but as expected, the body weights of the control group were significantly higher (P<0.001) compared with diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (STZ+saline) and the diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of minocycline (STZ+minocycline) (Figure 3-1A). Minocycline treatment did not significantly affect body weight in diabetic animals. The blood glucose levels were lower than 10 mmol/L in the control group and higher than 25 mmol/L in diabetic animals, indicating extreme hyperglycaemia (Figure 3-1B). The STZ+saline group exhibited significantly higher (P < 0.0001) blood glucose levels compared with the control group, as expected. This was also the case for blood glucose levels in the STZ+minocycline group when compared to the control group (P < 0.0001). Minocycline treatment had no effect on blood glucose in diabetic animals.



Figure 3-1. Effect of minocycline treatment on body weight and blood glucose of diabetic rats. A: Body weights; and B: blood glucose levels measured at weekly intervals after the injection of rats with either citrate buffer in control animals with an ICV infusion of saline (control) or STZ in diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (STZ+saline) or minocycline (STZ+minocycline). Number of rats = 8, 4, 8 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Significance was evaluated using one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for all comparisons (Control vs STZ+saline, control vs STZ+minocycline and STZ+saline vs STZ+minocycline) in this and all subsequent figures; * indicates P<0.05; ** indicates P<0.01; *** indicates P<0.001; **** indicates P<0.03; #### indicates P<0.001; #### indicates P<0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

3.2.2 Effect of minocycline on the mean arterial pressure and heart rate of diabetic rats

In this study, there were technical issues with the telemetric recording apparatus that resulted in a limitation in our ability to record the mean arterial pressure and heart rate in an adequate number of diabetic animals as well as to perform a statistical analysis. In addition, animals did not recover well following surgical implantation of the telemetry; however, our preliminary data indicated that the STZ+saline group (N=1) showed reduced blood pressure compared to the control group (N=6) (Figure 3-2A). Moreover, our results from the STZ+minocycline group (N=2) showed decreases in blood pressure similar to those seen in the STZ+saline group. The STZ+saline and STZ+minocycline groups showed a decrease in heart rate compared to the control group (N=6) (Figure 3-2B). Because the number of rats examined was small, we were unable to determine the effect of minocycline treatment on the blood pressure and heart rate of STZ diabetic animals.



Figure 3-2. Effect of minocycline treatment on cardiovascular parameters in diabetic rats. A: The mean arterial blood pressure (MAP); and B: The heart rate of conscious control animals with an ICV infusion of saline (control+saline) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (STZ+saline) or minocycline (STZ+minocycline). Number of rats = 6, 1, 2 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

3.2.3 Effect of minocycline on microglial activation in the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats

The OX-42 antibody was used to identify morphological changes in microglia cells in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats. At eight weeks following vehicle injection, the microglia displayed normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the control (Figure 3-3). In contrast, darkly stained microglia with shorter, thicker processes were clearly observed in the PVN in the STZ+saline group, which is consistent with our previous study (Rana *et al.*, 2014). As expected, minocycline treatment reversed the morphological changes of microglia that was seen in STZ+saline groups. The quantification of the percentage of activated microglia in the PVN in the STZ+saline group showed a significantly greater activation compared to the control group (P<0.0001) (Figure 3-4). Minocycline treatment in diabetic animals significantly (P<0.0001) reduced the percentage of activated microglia to a normal level seen in the control animals.



Figure 3-3. Morphology of microglia in STZ diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing the morphology of CD11b (OX-42 clone) immunoreactive microglia in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control animals with an ICV infusion of saline (A) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (B) or minocycline (C). OX-42 antibody staining shows microglia with normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the control and STZ+minocycline groups, while activated microglia showing larger cell bodies and shorter, thicker processes are seen in the STZ+saline group. Bar = 40 μ m.



Figure 3-4. Effect of minocycline on microglial activation in the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats. The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control animals with an ICV infusion of saline (control+saline) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (STZ+saline) or minocycline (STZ+minocycline). Number of rats = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

3.2.4 Astrocyte activation in the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats

Within the PVN, astrocytes were stained with a GFAP antibody in all groups (Figure 3-5). In control rats, astrocytes showed a normal morphology with a small cell body and very fine processes; however, in the STZ+saline group, astrocytes had swollen cell bodies with thicker processes as well as a marked upregulation of GFAP immunolabeling compared to the control. The same pattern was also observed in the STZ+minocycline group, the percentage of activated astrocytes in the PVN in the STZ+saline and STZ+minocycline groups was significantly greater (P<0.0001) compared to the control group (Figure 3-6). Minocycline treatment in STZ diabetic rats had no significant effect on the percentage of activated astrocytes in diabetic animals.



Figure 3-5. Morphology of astrocytes in STZ diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing GFAP immunoreactive astrocytes in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control animals with an ICV infusion of saline (A) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (B) or minocycline (C). GFAP antibody staining shows astrocytes with normal morphology with small cell bodies and fine processes throughout the PVN region in the control animals, while activated astrocytes showing intense expression of GFAP, larger cell bodies and thicker processes are seen in the STZ+saline and STZ+minocycline groups. Bar = 40 μ m.



Figure 3-6. Astrocytes activation in the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic rats. A: The percentage of astrocytes showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control animals with an ICV infusion of saline (control+saline) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (STZ+saline) or minocycline (STZ+minocycline). Number of rats = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

3.3 Discussion

We have previously found that microglia become activated in the PVN in STZ-diabetic rats at eight weeks following STZ injection (Rana *et al.*, 2014), but the consequence of this activation on diabetic complications has not been investigated. Thus, in this study, we aimed to investigate the effect of the inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN on the blood pressure and heart rate of long-term STZ diabetic rats and whether astrocytes are activated in these animals. The main findings of the present study were that (i) microglia and astrocytes are activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats at 8 weeks after STZ injection and (ii) minocycline treatment inhibited PVN microglial activation but not astrocyte activation.

In this study, we observed marked activation of microglia in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats when compared to the control animals, which is consistent with our previous study (Rana et al., 2014). Microglial activation was specifically in the PVN and not seen in surrounding areas. The PVN region is well-known to play an important role in the regulation of the autonomic nervous system, including cardiovascular functions. Several lines of evidence suggest that an abnormal increase in sympathetic nerve activity is linked to the pathogenesis of the development of cardiovascular-related diseases, including hypertension (Allen, 2002), myocardial infarction and heart failure (Aronson & Burger, 2002; Guggilam et al., 2008), which are major complications of diabetes. In the case of diabetes, over-activity of the sympathetic nervous system has been reported in humans and animals with type 1 diabetes hyperglycaemia (Perin et al., 2001; Patel et al., 2011), but the cause of this activation is not clear. Increased proinflammatory cytokines within the PVN are implicated in generating sympathetic hyperactivity in rats with heart failure (Guggilam et al., 2008; Kang et al., 2010). Once microglia undergo morphological changes, they can release proinflammatory cytokines. Hence, activated microglia seen in the PVN of STZ diabetic rats may be the source of proinflammatory cytokines. Combined with these studies, our data suggest that activated

microglia in the PVN may release proinflammatory cytokines, which may contribute to the observed changes in sympathetic nerve activity in diabetic animals.

Although the role of activated microglia in the pathological consequences of brain inflammation has been investigated, less is known about the role of astrocytes. Nevertheless, it is reported that an association exists between activated spinal astrocytes and neuropathic pain following nerve damage (Sweitzer et al., 1999). Thus, we investigated whether astrocytes are activated in the PVN of diabetic rats. Our results showed that activated astrocytes exist in the PVN of diabetic rats. This finding is in agreement with a previous study that reported activated astrocytes in the PVN of diabetic rats (Luo et al., 2002). While the consequences of this activation is unknown, an increased expression of astroglial protein (S100^β) in the spinal cord after nerve injury has been reported, and the inhibition of astroglial protein has been shown to result in a reduction of neuropathic pain behaviours in rats (Tanga et al., 2006). In this animal model, an enhanced expression of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-1 β , are observed in activated spinal astrocytes following peripheral nerve injury (Wei et al., 2008), and the inhibition of these proinflammatory cytokines has been shown to reduce neuropathic pain-like behaviours (Milligan et al., 2001). Thus, the activation of the astrocytes may be important for mediating inflammation in the PVN of diabetic rats, which may cause neuronal hyperactivity and sympathetic over-activity.

Minocycline is a second generation of a tetracycline antibiotic and has been shown to have anti-inflammatory actions (Yrjänheikki *et al.*, 1999; Sapadin & Fleischmajer, 2006). Also, several studies have reported an inhibitory effect of minocycline on microglial activation (Krady *et al.*, 2005; Shi *et al.*, 2010a). In the present study, ICV minocycline treatment significantly reduced microglial activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats. In contrast, minocycline treatment was not able to inhibit astrocyte activation, which is in agreement with other previous studies (Yoon *et al.*, 2012; Sauvant *et al.*, 2014). In animal models of neuropathic pain, astrocyte activation in the CNS was seen at later stages compared with microglial activation, suggesting that microglia may be responsible for astrocyte activation (Coyle, 1998; Milligan & Watkins, 2009; Benarroch, 2010); however, data obtained in this study suggested that astrocyte activation is not related to microglial activation. The mechanism behind astrocyte activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats is not clear, and further research is needed.

Regarding cardiovascular parameters, although the number of animals tested in this study was insufficient, we found that blood pressure tended to decrease in conscious STZ diabetic rats at eight weeks following STZ injection. This finding is in agreement with previous studies on long-term STZ-diabetic rats that used the direct technique for the measurement of blood pressure (Fazan *et al.*, 1997; Van Buren *et al.*, 1998; Fazan *et al.*, 1999; Schaan *et al.*, 2004). The mechanisms involved in hypotension seen in STZ diabetic rats have not been completely understood; however, there are several possible reasons for hypotension in these animals. It well-known that STZ diabetic rats excrete large amounts of urine and thereby they lose both water and salt, causing hypervolemia. Interestingly, in two other studies, giving STZ-treated diabetic rats are given saline (Santos *et al.*, 1995; Maeda *et al.*, 2007). Thus, hypotension seen in STZ diabetic rats could be related to hypovolima. The observation of decreased cardiac output due to a dysfunction in the myocardium (Ren & Bode, 2000) or the impairment of sympathetic innervation of the heart and blood vessels (Borges *et al.*, 2006) in STZ diabetic rats may also be possible explanations for this hypotension.

3.4 Conclusion

The present study demonstrated that microglia and astrocyte activation occur in the PVN in long-term STZ-induced diabetic rats. Minocycline treatment reduces microglial activation in the PVN but does not significantly affect the astrocyte activation seen in these animals. These

findings suggest that microglial activation does not precede astrocyte activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic animals. In this study, due to unintended morbidity and a lack of hypertension in STZ diabetic animals, we were unable to investigate the consequence of microglial activation. Thus, alternative routes of blood pressure recording with volume replacement therapy in STZ diabetic rats may be suitable for investigating the effect of PVN inflammation on diabetic complications.

Chapter Four: Drinking 1% NaCl for 2 Weeks Enhances Inflammation in the Cardiovascular Control Centers of the Brain in STZ Diabetic Rats

4.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular complications remain amongst the most serious long-term consequences of diabetes. Hypertension is the single most important risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease, and it is associated with various pathological conditions, including diabetes (Epstein & Sowers, 1992). While many studies on the mechanisms of diabetic cardiovascular complications have suggested an important role for endothelial dysfunction (Woodman et al., 2008; Woodman & Malakul, 2009), a large body of evidence shows that the autonomic nervous system, which functions to regulate the cardiovascular and renal systems, is impaired in diabetes (Baydas et al., 2003; Lebed et al., 2008). It is well established that an abnormal activation of the sympathetic nervous system is associated with various pathological conditions and is an important mechanism underlying the development of hypertension (Esler, 2000; Esler & Kaye, 2000). Interestingly, elevated renal sympathetic nerve activity is reported in humans with type 1 diabetes and animals with chronic hyperglycaemia (Perin et al., 2001; Patel et al., 2011). These changes in sympathetic nerve activity have been suggested to contribute to the development of diabetic complications, such as hypertension, heart failure and sudden cardiac death (Perin et al., 2001), but so far, evidence is lacking.

In addition to the role of sympathetic nerve overactivity in the pathogenesis of hypertension, emerging evidence shows that the sensitivity of the baroreflex, which controls heart rate, is reduced in conditions associated with hypertension. It is believed that this change may precede and contribute to the development of hypertension and its consequences (Grassi *et al.*, 1998; Gao *et al.*, 2002; Salgado *et al.*, 2007; Maliszewska-Scislo *et al.*, 2008). A study on spontaneously hypertensive rats, which showed decreased baroreflex sensitivity, demonstrated a direct link between an improvement of baroreflex function and a reduced incidence of stroke (Liu *et al.*, 2007). Thus, the restoration of baroreflex sensitivity may be a

novel strategy for reducing blood pressure and lowering the cardiovascular disease risk in diabetic patients.

Baroreflex impairment has been shown to occur in diabetic humans (Eckberg *et al.*, 1986; Frattola *et al.*, 1997) as well as in STZ-induced diabetic rats (Fazan *et al.*, 1999; Gouty *et al.*, 2001; Schaan *et al.*, 2004). In addition, an induction of diabetes by STZ treatment in spontaneously hypertensive rats further depressed baroreflex function (Farah *et al.*, 2007). Dysfunction in the autonomic neurons system could explain both the decrease in baroreceptor reflex activity and the increase in sympathetic nerve activity seen in diabetic humans and STZ-induced diabetic rats. Thus, it is important to determine which pathological changes may be occurring in the central autonomic centers of diabetic animals.

Cardiovascular centers of the brain, such as the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN), rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) and nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS), play a pivotal role in autonomic cardiovascular regulation. Several studies on STZ-induced diabetic animals have reported abnormally increased neuronal activity in the cardiovascular centers of the brain involved in sympathetic and baroreflex regulation, but the central mechanisms behind this neuronal activation are not well understood (Krukoff & Patel, 1990; Zheng *et al.*, 2002; Rana *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, other studies have suggested that inflammation in these areas may result in neuronal activation (Shi *et al.*, 2010a; Shi *et al.*, 2011).

We have recently reported activation of microglia in the PVN and NTS of STZ-induced diabetic animals at eight weeks following STZ injection (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Microglia are the primary immune cells in the brain and act to protect and support neurons but also have the potential to exaggerate pathological processes by causing inflammation. Activated microglia release proinflammatory molecules and cytotoxic factors, such as nitric oxide and TNF- α , which can damage neurons. In addition, in other CNS regions, secretion of purines and BDNF from activated microglia have been shown to cause neuronal hyperexcitability by

increasing excitation and decreasing inhibition (Lu *et al.*, 2009). While the effect of microglial activation in the PVN in diabetes is not known, in rats treated with angiotensin II, inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN has been shown to prevent the development of hypertension (Shi *et al.*, 2010a). Collectively, this data suggests that microglia may have an important role in generating enhanced sympathetic nerve activity and baroreflex dysfunction through releasing proinflammatory cytokines, neurotrophic factors and/or purines. Whether inhibition of microglial activation or action in the PVN can ameliorate some of the cardiovascular complications of STZ-induced diabetes has not been investigated.

While in human subjects, Type 1 diabetes is strongly associated with hypertension, rats treated with STZ to induce hyperglycaemia show unchanged or lowered blood pressure (Fazan *et al.*, 1999; Dall'Ago *et al.*, 2002), although there is evidence that their sympathetic nerves are more activated (Patel *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, two studies on animal models of STZ-induced diabetes that used direct recording of blood pressure have reported that saline intake (1% NaCl) increases blood pressure at two and four weeks following STZ injections (Santos *et al.*, 1995; Maeda *et al.*, 2007). The mechanisms underlying this hypertension are not clear, but at early stages following STZ injections, diabetic rats showed unchanged baroreflex-mediated bradycardia (Maeda *et al.*, 1995; Van Buren *et al.*, 2014). It was therefore hypothesised that saline intake causes hypertension by increasing inflammation in the cardiovascular control centres and causing baroreflex dysfunction, thereby increasing blood pressure in STZ-diabetic rats.

Therefore, we investigated the effects of saline intake on (i) blood pressure, (ii) baroreflex sensitivity and (iii) inflammation in the cardiovascular centres in STZ diabetic rats. In addition, we investigated whether inhibition of microglia in the PVN can reduce or prevent hypertension in STZ diabetic rats treated with saline.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Effect of 2 weeks 1% NaCl intake on general features of diabetic rats

When Male Sprague Dawley rats were injected with either STZ or citrate buffer and maintained for 2 weeks with free access to either tap water or saline to drink, the non-diabetic control animals given water (C) and non-diabetic animals given saline (CS) exhibited a gradual increase in body weight, but diabetic animals given water (D) and diabetic animals given saline (DS) showed no significant change in body weight (Figure 4-1A). As expected, the body weights of the D group were significantly lower (P<0.01) compared with the C group animals, which is consistent with previous studies (chapter 3). Also, the body weights of the DS group were significantly lower (P<0.001) when compared with the CS group. Saline treatment did not significantly affect body weight in either the diabetic or control animals. Blood glucose levels were lower than 8 mmol/L in C and CS groups and higher than 25 mmol/L in D and DS groups, indicating extreme hyperglycaemia (Figure 4-1B). The D group exhibited significantly higher (P < 0.0001) blood glucose levels compared with the C group, as expected. This was also the case for blood glucose levels in the DS group when compared to the CS group (P < 0.0001). Saline treatment had no effect on blood glucose in diabetic or control animals. The results of body weight and blood glucose measurements indicated that STZ-treated diabetic rats exhibited changes characteristic of this model (Schaan et al., 1997; Maeda et al., 2007).

Regarding fluid intake, drinking both 1% saline and tap water increased progressively over 2 weeks in the D and DS groups, but this was not the case in the C and CS groups, suggesting that diabetic animals were compensating for substantial fluid loss (Figure 4-1C). Daily water intake was significantly greater (P<0.001) in the D group when compared to the C group, and the DS group drank a significantly greater (P < 0.0001) volume of saline than the CS group.

In diabetic animals, the daily saline intake was significantly higher (P < 0.0001) compared to the daily water intake. This was not the case in the control animals.

Because increased plasma osmolarity and dehydration are implicated in neuronal activation in STZ diabetic rats (Rana *et al.*, 2014), we measured the plasma osmolarity and haemoglobin concentration in all groups at 2 weeks. No significant differences were found in the level of plasma osmolarity between C and CS or between the D and DS groups (Figure 4-2A). As expected, plasma osmolarity was significantly increased (P<0.01) in the D group when compared with the C group; however, interestingly, saline treatment significantly decreased (P<0.05) the plasma osmolarity to normal levels in diabetic animals. As an indicator of blood volume status, the haemoglobin concentration was also similar between the C and CS groups but not between the D and DS groups (Figure 4-2B). In the D group, the Haemoglobin concentration were significantly higher (P<0.05) than in the C group; however, saline intake in diabetic animals significantly reduced (P<0.05) the levels of haemoglobin compared to the D group. The results of the plasma osmolarity and haemoglobin measurements suggested that STZ diabetic rats were dehydrated and that drinking saline restored blood parameters to normal levels.



Time after injection (weeks)

Figure 4-1. Effect of 2 weeks saline treatment on body weight, blood glucose and fluid intake of diabetic rats. A: Body weight measured at weekly intervals in control animals (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water to drink and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. B: Blood glucose levels measured at 2 weeks after the injection of rats with either STZ or citrate buffer. C: The amount of tap water or 1% NaCl solution ingested was monitored daily by weighting water bottles and then averaged for each week. Number of rats = 6 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Significance was evaluated using a one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for all comparisons (C vs D, CS vs DS and D vs DS) in this and all subsequent figures; * indicates P<0.05; *** indicates P<0.001; **** indicates P < 0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; ### indicates P <0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups.



Figure 4-2. Effect of 2 weeks saline treatment on plasma osmolarity and haemoglobin in diabetic rats. A: Plasma osmolarity (Osmol/litre); and B: Haemoglobin concentration (g/litre) measured at the end of the experimental period in control animals (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. Number of rats = 8,4,10 and 12 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. * indicates P<0.05; ** indicates P<0.01 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; # indicates P<0.05 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

4.2.2 Measurement of baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in diabetic rats

In experiments to investigate the baroreflex-mediated bradycardia at two weeks after STZ or citrate injection, the mean arterial blood pressure under anaesthesia was not significantly different between the C and D or between the CS and DS groups (Figure 4-3A). Also, no significant differences were found in the heart rate among the groups (Figure 4-3B). A progressive increase in the maximal mean arterial blood pressure and a decrease in the maximal heart rate in response to the infusion of increasing amounts of phenylephrine was seen in all groups. The maximal mean arterial blood pressure response to phenylephrine at all doses was not significantly different between the D and C groups (Figure 4-4) (Figure 4-5A). The same pattern was also observed in the DS group compared to the CS group. Saline intake had no effect on blood pressure changes in response to phenylephrine in the diabetic or control animals. The maximal heart rate response to phenylephrine was also similar between the D and C groups (Figure 4-5B). In the DS group, the heart rate response to phenylephrine appeared smaller compared with the CS and D groups but was not significantly different, although the variability was high, meaning our tests were underpowered for detecting small differences; however, when baroreflex sensitivity was quantified as the ratio of maximal change in heart rate divided by the maximal change in mean arterial blood pressure, there was less variability. The baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in response to increasing doses of phenylephrine was similar between the D and C groups (Figure 4-5C); however, there was a significant reduction in baroreflex sensitivity in the DS group compared to the CS (P<0.05) and D (P<0.01) groups.



Figure 4-3. Effect of 2 weeks saline treatment on cardiovascular parameters in diabetic rats under anaesthesia. A: The mean arterial blood pressure (MAP); and B: The heart rate of unconscious control animals (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. Number of rats = 6, 6, 6 and 7 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. No significant differences were observed.


Figure 4-4. Measurement of baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in diabetic rats. Representative recordings showing changes in arterial blood pressure and heart rate in response to phenylephrine (10 μ g/kg at the arrow) in control animals (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution.



Figure 4-5. Cardiovascular responses to phenylephrine in diabetic rats. A: Changes in mean arterial pressure (MAP); and B: changes in heart rate (HR) in response to graded doses of intravenous phenylephrine (1, 2, 5 and 10 μ g/kg) in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given saline. C: Baroreflex sensitivity (bpm/mmHg) of bradycardic responses represented as the average of the maximal change in heart rate divided by the maximal change in mean arterial blood pressure for each phenylephrine dose and then averaged for each animal. Baroreflex-mediated bradycardia was significantly attenuated in the salt-treated diabetic group compared with the diabetic group and the salt-treated control group. Number of rats = 6, 6, 6 and 7 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. * indicates P<0.05 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; # indicates P<0.01 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

4.2.3 OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in cardiovascular centres in diabetic rats

The OX-42 antibody was used to identify morphological changes in microglia cells in the cardiovascular centres in STZ rats. At two weeks following STZ or vehicle injection, microglia displayed a normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the D and C groups, which is consistent with our previous study (Rana *et al.*, 2014) (Figure 4-6). While no microglial activation was seen in the PVN in the CS group, saline intake in the DS groups caused a significant increase in the percentage of activated microglia with large cell bodies and short, thick processes compared to the PVN microglia in the CS (P<0.0001) and D (P<0.0001) groups. Saline intake in diabetic animals, though not in the control group, resulted in approximately a 5-fold elevation in the percentage of microglia that were activated compared with other groups (Figure 4-9A). Interestingly, a significant increase in the percentage of activated microglia that were activated microglial was restricted to the parvocellular PVN (Figure 4-12A).

In the NTS region in which baroreceptive afferent nerves terminate, microglial cells showed normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes in the D and C groups, which is in agreement with our previous study (Rana *et al.*, 2014) (Figure 4-7). In contrast, darkly stained microglia with shorter, thicker processes were clearly observed in the NTS in the DS group. The quantification of the percentage of activated microglia in the NTS in the DS group showed a significantly greater activation compared to the CS (P<0.001) and D (P<0.001) groups (Figure 4-9B).

Microglial cells in the RVLM region exhibited normal morphology in the D and C groups (Figure 4-8). In contrast, in the DS group, microglia showed markedly shortened, thicker processes and stronger staining for OX-42 compared with other groups. The quantitative analysis of microglial activation in the RVLM region indicated that saline intake caused a

significant increase in the percentage of activated microglia in the DS group compared to the CS (P<0.01) and D (P<0.05) groups (Figure 4-9C).

To confirm our observation, we measured the microglial process length in the brain areas examined. We found that in the DS group, the microglia in the PVN, NTS and RVLM regions had significantly shorter processes compared to the microglia in the CS (P<0.0001) and D (P<0.0001) groups (Figure 4-10 A-B-C).



Figure 4-1. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the PVN in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing CD11b (OX-42 clone) immunoreactive microglia in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. Dotted lines in low-power images (A-D) outline the PVN. High-power images (E-H) show the morphology of microglia in the parvocellular PVN region in detail. OX-42 antibody staining shows microglia with normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the C, CS and D groups, while activated microglia showing larger cell bodies and shorter, thicker processes are seen in the DS group. Bar = 100 μ m in A–D, 50 μ m in E–H.



Figure 4-2. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the NTS in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing CD11b (OX-42 clone) immunoreactive microglia in the nuclear tractus solitarius (NTS)in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. Dotted lines in low-power images (A-D) outline the NTS. High-power images (E-H) show the detailed morphology of microglia in NTS region. OX-42 antibody staining showing microglia with normal morphology was seen throughout the NTS region in the C, C-S and D groups, while activated microglia showing intense immunolabelling, larger cell bodies and thicker processes were common in the NTS in the D-S group. Bar = 200 μ m.



Figure 4-3. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the RVLM in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing CD11b (OX-42 clone) immunoreactive microglia in the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (C-S) and diabetic animals (D-S) given saline. Low-power images (left panel) and high-power images (right panel) show the morphology of microglia in the RVLM region. a normal microglia morphology was seen throughout the RVLM region in the C, C-S and D groups, while activated microglia showing intense immunolabelling, larger cell bodies and shorter, thicker processes were again common in the D-S group. Bar = 200 μ m left panel, 100 μ m in right panel.



Figure 4-9. Microglial activation in cardiovascular centres of the brain of 2 week salinetreated diabetic rats. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN); B: in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS); and C: in the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) of control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given saline. After 2 weeks, the percentage of activated microglia was significantly increased in the saline-treated diabetic group when compared with the diabetic group and the saline-treated control group. Number of rats = 4, 4, 4 and 7 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. ** indicates P<0.01; *** indicates P<0.001; **** indicates P < 0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; # indicates P<0.05; ### indicates P<0.001; #### indicates P <0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups.



Figure 4-10. Microglia exhibit shorter processes in cardiovascular centres of the brain of 2 week saline-treated diabetic rats. A: Average length of microglial processes in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN); B: in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS); and C: in the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) of control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water (D) and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given saline. Number of rats = 4, 4, 4 and 7 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. *** indicates P<0.001; **** indicates P < 0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; ### indicates P<0.001; ##### indicates P<0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

4.2.4 C-fos immunoreactivity in cardiovascular centres in diabetic rats

In this study, an antibody to c-fos was used to quantify neuronal activation in the regions where microglia were activated. In the PVN in the C and CS groups, the number of fosimmunoreactive neurons was smaller compared to the D and DS groups (Figure 4-11 A). On quantification, we observed a significant increase in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the D group compared to (P<0.01) the C group. The DS group also exhibited a greater level of fos activity than seen in (P<0.05) the CS group. In the D group, a significant increase in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons was seen in both the magnocellular and parvocellular subdivisions of PVN (Figure 4-12 B). Interestingly, in the DS group, there was a significant increase in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons only in the parvocellular PVN. In contrast to the PVN, the counts of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the NTS and RVLM regions showed no significant difference among all groups (Figure 4-11 B-C).



Figure 4-11. Fos activity in the PVN in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing neuronal nuclei stained with anti-Fos antibody in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution.Dotted lines the PVN. Parvocellular (P) and magnocellular (M regions of the paraventricular nucleus are delineated. Bar = $100 \mu m$.



Figure 4-12. Fos-IR immunoreactivity indicating activated neurons in cardiovascular centres of the brain in diabetic rats. A: Quantification of Fos-IR positive cell nuclei in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN); B: in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS); and C: in the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) of control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals(DS) given saline. Number of rats = 7, 6, 4 and 5 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. * indicates P<0.05; ** indicates P<0.01 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls.



Figure 4-13. Microglial and neuronal activation in the parvocellular and magnocellular portions of the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the parvocellular and magnocellular of the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given saline. B: Quantification of Fos-IR positive cell nuclei in the same regions. Number of rats = 5, 5, 4 and 7 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. * indicates P<0.05; ** indicates P<0.01; **** indicates P < 0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; #### indicates P <0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

4.2.5 Effect of saline and minocycline treatment on blood pressure in awake diabetic rats.

Because we observed no change in the blood pressure in anaesthetized STZ diabetic rats treated with saline and microglia become activated in the PVN following saline intake in STZ diabetic rats, we therefore investigated the effect of the inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN in another cohort of STZ diabetic rats by direct ICV infusion into the lateral ventricle of either saline OR minocycline. At two weeks after treatment with STZ or citrate, there was no significant difference in systolic blood pressure between the control (CWS) and diabetic animals (DWS) infused with saline and given tap water to drink, which is in agreement with previous studies (Kawashima et al., 1978; Hayashi et al., 1983) (Figure 4-13). Minocycline infusion in diabetic animals given tap water (DWM) had no effect on systolic blood pressure compared to the DWS group. In contrast, diabetic animals infused with saline and given 1% NaCl (DSS) exhibited a greater increase in systolic blood pressure than those seen in the CWS and DWS (P<0.0001) groups, which is consistent with a previous study, suggesting saline causes hypertension in these rats (Maeda et al., 2007). The increase in systolic blood pressure in the DSS group was prevented by minocycline infusion (P<0.0001) (Figure 4-13). These results suggest that central inflammation contributes to the development of hypertension in STZ diabetic rats treated with saline.



Figure 4-14. Effect of minocycline treatment on the development of hypertension in diabetic rats treated with saline for 2 weeks. Systolic blood pressure of conscious control animals (CWS) and diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink for 2 weeks and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals given tap water (DWM) or 1% NaCl (DSM) with an ICV infusion of minocycline. Number of rats = 5, 7, 9, 9 and 8 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Significance was evaluated using a one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for all comparisons (CWS vs DWS, CWS vs DSS, DWS vs DWM, DWS vs DSS and DSS vs DSM).**** indicates <0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; &&&& indicates P <0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups; #### indicates P<0.0001; for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective groups of diabetic animals with minocycline treatment.

4.3 Discussion

There is evidence that drinking saline causes hypertension in diabetic animals, but how this occurs and whether CNS pathological changes contribute to it has not been investigated. Thus, in this study, we aimed to investigate the effects of 1% NaCl on cardiovascular parameters and whether saline intake influences inflammation in CNS cardiovascular centres in STZ diabetic rats. The main findings of the present study were that 1% NaCl (i) increased the mean arterial blood pressure of conscious STZ-diabetic rats, (ii) accelerated the dysfunction of bradycardic baroreflex and (iii) accelerated the activation of microglia in the PVN, NTS and RVLM and that (iv) ICV minocycline prevented the development of hypertension in diabetic rats treated with saline.

In the present study, there was no change in the blood pressure of awake diabetic animals when compared to the control, which is consistent with other studies at this early stage of diabetes (Kawashima *et al.*, 1978; Hayashi *et al.*, 1983). In contrast, when given to diabetic animals, 1% NaCl caused a significant increase in systolic blood pressure in awake animals, confirming a previous study by Maeda et al. (2007). Some authors have suggested that reduced blood volume in STZ rats due to osmotic diuresis is the mechanism of normotension or hypotension in STZ-diabetic rats (Hebden *et al.*, 1986a; De Angelis *et al.*, 2000). Thus, hypertension in diabetic animals given saline may be explained in part by increased blood volume. Interestingly, in the current study, saline intake also reduced the haemoglobin concentration and plasma osmolality to normal levels in diabetic rats, which indicates a normalization of blood volume. The effect of drinking 1% NaCl on the fluid balance of diabetic rats has not been studied previously. Our data provide strong support for the hypothesis that saline treatment normalises blood volume and may be responsible for the development of hypertension in STZ diabetic rats; however, it is possible that there are other

mechanisms involved in the development of hypertension in these animals besides blood volume.

Reduction in baroreflex sensitivity has been implicated in the pathogenesis of hypertension (Grassi *et al.*, 1998; Gao *et al.*, 2002; Salgado *et al.*, 2007; Maliszewska-Scislo *et al.*, 2008). While baroreflex sensitivity in STZ diabetic animals have been widely investigated, few studies on the effects of saline intake on baroreflex sensitivity have been conducted in STZ diabetic rats. In the present study, we observed no changes in baroreflex sensitivity in diabetic animals compared to the control, which is in agreement with previous studies that have shown that the baroreflex-mediated bradycardia was unaltered in short-term (5 to 14 days) STZ diabetic rats (Maeda *et al.*, 1995; Van Buren *et al.*, 1998). In contrast, 1% NaCl caused an impairment of baroreflex sensitivity in diabetic animals at 2 weeks. Interestingly, several studies have reported that baroreflex sensitivity is reduced in long-term (4 to 42 weeks) STZ-diabetic rats (Van Buren *et al.*, 1998; Dall'Ago *et al.*, 2002; Harthmann *et al.*, 2007; Souza *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, our results suggest that 1% NaCl accelerates the development of baroreflex dysfunction in diabetic animals at early stages, and this dysfunction may contribute to the development of hypertension seen in awake diabetic animals.

Because we did not observe a significant difference in the blood pressure among diabetic groups under anaesthesia, the decreased baroreflex sensitivity is not attributable to a simple blood pressure change. Urethane may interrupt the mechanism that generates high blood pressure in salt-treated diabetic rats, but it is the anaesthetic of choice for studying baroreceptor reflexes. In support of this, Barringer et al. demonstrated that urethane had no effect on the baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in the normotensive rat (1990). The only other published study to have investigated baroreflex sensitivity in diabetic animals treated with saline was inconclusive (Maeda *et al.*, 2007). We suspect that the difference between their

results and ours is likely due to their use of ketamine/xylazine anaesthesia. Considered collectively, these data indicate that 1% NaCl treatment for 14 days impaired the baroreflex-mediated bradycardia response selectively in diabetic rats without affecting blood pressure or heart rate under anaesthesia.

To understand the potential mechanism of these changes on cardiovascular parameters, we examined whether microglia are activated in CNS cardiovascular centres. In the PVN, we found no activation of microglia in diabetic animals at two weeks following STZ injection, which is in agreement with our previous study that reported that microglia become activated at later stages (Rana et al., 2014). In contrast, we show here that 1% NaCl accelerated microglial activation in the PVN in STZ-induced diabetic rats. This activation was selectively in the PVN and not seen in surrounding areas. To clarify the pathological consequences of microglial activation in the PVN of diabetic rats treated with 1% NaCl, we measured blood pressure via the tail cuff and investigated the effect of the inhibition of microglial activation in another cohort of animals. There was a significant increase in the systolic blood pressure only in diabetic rats treated with saline. By administering minocycline, which acts as an antiinflammatory drug, into the lateral brain ventricle, we observed a marked reduction in blood pressure. It has been shown previously that microglial activation in the PVN contributes to the development of neurogenic hypertension (Shi et al., 2010a). In this context, our results strongly suggest that hypertension seen in diabetic rats given saline is neurogenic and that increased microglial activation in the PVN may cause the increased blood pressure in these rats. Because saline treatment had no effect on blood pressure in the control rats, it appears that 1% NaCl intake accelerates and increases the inflammatory response seen in the PVN in response to diabetes.

The data from this study do not outline the mechanisms by which saline intake accelerates microglial activation in diabetic animals, thereby impairing baroreflex sensitivity and causing

hypertension; however, it is clear from other studies that high salt intake contributes to increased blood pressure. In fact, the only current information about the mechanisms by which saline may influence brain inflammation is based on studies using highly concentrated sodium diets (Koga *et al.*, 2008; Braga, 2010). In this study, diabetic rats given saline consumed a larger amount of 1% NaCl compared to the control rats, but it is not clear if diabetic rats drank more 1% NaCl than they needed because their excretion was also high. Therefore, we must consider the possibility that the brain inflammation seen in our study could be in part due to increased NaCl intake. Thus, despite the fact that saline normalises haemoglobin concentration and plasma osmolality, it may also contribute to brain inflammation in diabetic rats.

A high salt intake (8% NaCl in food or 2% NaCl to drink) increases reactive oxygen species formation in brain regions that are involved in autonomic control (Koga *et al.*, 2008; Braga, 2010). The increase in the generation of reactive oxygen species can enhance the influx of Ca²⁺ in neurons, which in turn leads to neuronal activation (Wang *et al.*, 2003; Zimmerman & Davisson, 2004). It is well-known that microglia become activated following neuronal death, damage or over excitation (Hathway *et al.*, 2009; Lu *et al.*, 2009). In addition, we previously reported increased neuronal activity in the PVN of diabetic rats at 6 weeks following STZ injection; however, increased microglial activation was not observed until 8 weeks following STZ injections. Rana et al. (2014) suggested that microglial activation in the PVN may be secondary to prolonged intense activation of PVN neurons in diabetic rats.

In the parvocellular PVN, we observed increased neuronal activation in diabetic rats at 6 weeks following STZ injection (Rana *et al.*, 2014). These neurons play a role in the regulation of autonomic function, including sympathetic nerve activity and blood pressure, as well as endocrine functions. Since microglial activation was not seen in this region in diabetic rats given tap water at 2 weeks, our data support the hypothesis that neuronal activation

precedes microglial activation. The reason that parvocellular PVN neurons were activated in diabetic rats is not clear; however, parvocellular PVN neurons have been shown to be activated by haemorrhage (Badoer *et al.*, 1993; Badoer & Merolli, 1998), suggesting that those neurons may be activated by a decrease in blood volume seen in diabetic animals. Also, infusion of hypertonic saline has been shown to increase neuronal activation in this region (Bealer & Metcalf, 2005). Thus, this activation may be also a result of increased plasma osmolarity in diabetic rats. Therefore, it appears that the parvocellular division of the PVN responds to disturbances in blood volume and plasma osmolarity in diabetic rats. In diabetic rats treated with saline, we observed neuronal and microglial activation in the parvocellular division of the PVN, although the haemoglobin concentration and plasma osmolarity were normalised, suggesting that the mechanisms by which PVN neurons become activated in these rats are different.

Activated microglia have also been shown to cause neuronal over excitation via the release of proinflammatory molecules and reactive oxygen species (Shi *et al.*, 2011; Wu *et al.*, 2012). Interestingly, Shi et al. (2010a) reported that microinjection of IL-1 β into the PVN increased PVN neuronal activation and blood pressure, suggesting IL-1 β secretion from activated microglia enhances PVN neuronal activation to increase blood pressure. This suggests that PVN microglial activation may be a cause of over excitation of PVN neurons, which in turn elevated blood pressure seen in diabetic rats treated with saline.

Interestingly, in the magnocellular division of the PVN, we also observed increased neuronal activation in diabetic rats but not in saline-treated diabetic rats. This result is in agreement with previous studies that reported increases in neuronal activity in the magnocellular of the PVN at 2 weeks following STZ injection (Krukoff & Patel, 1990). The magnocellular part of the PVN is the main site involved in secreting oxytocin and vasopressin in response to osmotic and other stimuli to control body fluid balance and blood volume. It has been

suggested that elevated levels of plasma osmolality (Charlton *et al.*, 1988; Brooks *et al.*, 1989) and dehydration (Zheng *et al.*, 2002) in diabetic animals may be responsible for neuronal activation in the magnocellular PVN and consequently increased vasopressin secretion (Zerbe *et al.*, 1979; Brooks *et al.*, 1989). In the present study, diabetic rats displayed increased plasma osmolality as well as increased haemoglobin concentration, which indicates depletion in blood plasma volume and may explain the activation of magnocellular neurons seen in diabetic rats. Interestingly, in the magnocellular PVN, there was no neuronal activation in diabetic rats treated with saline, potentially because blood volume was normalised.

In the present study, we also show microglial activation in the NTS and RVLM in diabetic rats treated with saline. These autonomic brain areas are also involved in cardiovascular regulation. The NTS plays a pivotal role in mediating the baroreceptor reflex. In addition, the NTS also receives inputs from the PVN. The activation of microglia and neurons was not observed in the NTS in diabetic rats at 2 weeks after STZ injection, which is in agreement with our previous study (Rana *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, there was an increase in the activation of microglia in diabetic rats treated with saline. Another study reported that microinjection of proinflammatory cytokine (IL-6) into the NTS cause a marked decrease in the baroreceptor sensitivity (Takagishi *et al.*, 2010). It is well-known that activated microglia are capable of secreting proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6. Thus, it is possible that microglial activation may explain the decreased baroreceptor sensitivity in diabetic rats

The RVLM also showed an increase in microglial activation in diabetic rats treated with saline. RVLM is an important autonomic region that is involved in blood pressure regulation through modulating sympathetic nerve activity. It also receives inputs from other cardiovascular centres, including PVN and NTS. An increase in reactive oxygen species in

the RVLM has been shown to precede the development of hypertension (Koga *et al.*, 2008; Braga, 2010; Nunes & Braga, 2011). Interestingly, a recent study on LPS-hypertensive animals reported that microglial activation was associated with increased reactive oxygen species in the RVLM (Wu *et al.*, 2012). Along with our results, these studies suggest that activated microglia contribute to an increased production of reactive oxygen species and may contribute to hypertension seen in diabetic rats treated with saline.

Interestingly, there was no increase in neuronal fos expression in the NTS and RVLM in diabetic rats treated with saline, suggesting that the mechanisms by which microglia become activated in those areas are different from those in the PVN. Still, it could also be argued that c-fos expression is a very binary classification for each cell type, so it is not capable of showing an increase in the intensity of the activation of a group of neurons if the change does not lead to an increase in the number of neurons activated. On the other hand, there was no appreciable increased expression of c-fos in any condition; thus, c-fos may not be expressed in all activated neurons in the NTS and RVLM. Alternatively, microglial activation in those regions could be mediated by other mechanisms. For example, a study on STZ diabetic rats reported microglial activation in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord (Tsuda *et al.*, 2008). This study suggested that damage to peripheral sensory neurones that terminate in the dorsal horn was responsible for microglial activation. Therefore, while we do not know the effect of saline intake on the terminals of autonomic sensory neurons, damage of those neurons may be responsible for microglial activation in the NTS and RVLM.

4.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, our data indicated that 1% NaCl intake increases blood pressure in STZ diabetic rats. Saline treatment also accelerates microglial activation in the PVN in diabetic rats. Microglial inhibition in the PVN prevents the development of hypertension in diabetic rats, suggesting that microglial activation is involved in the mechanisms of hypertension in

these animals. Microglial activation in the PVN may be either a cause or an effect of neuronal activation or both. In addition, saline intake can significantly effect baroreflex sensitivity in diabetic rats, and this is associated with microglial activation in the NTS and RVLM; however, the role of microglia in the NTS and RVLM is not clear, and further research is required to demonstrate the effect of microglia inhibition in those regions. Overall, the attenuation of inflammation in cardiovascular centres may be a novel strategy for lowering the risk of cardiovascular diseases in diabetes. In addition, salt intake may have profound and complex effects on brain inflammation and blood pressure in diabetic humans.

Chapter Five: Drinking 1% NaCl for 6 Weeks Increases Baroreflex Sensitivity in STZ Diabetic Rats

5.1 Introduction

Salt intake has been associated with the risk of the development of hypertension and cardiovascular disease in both humans and animals (Campese, 1994; Sacks *et al.*, 2001; Jones, 2004; Brooks *et al.*, 2005). Dehydration is common in diabetes, and low salt intake may cause deleterious effects. Still, the mechanisms underlying the effect of salt intake on hypertension and its effects in diabetes has not been fully understood. It has been suggested that salt intake contributes to the development of hypertension via several potential mechanisms, including dysregulation of autonomic nervous system or increased blood volume, but which of these mechanisms are relatively important in diabetes is not known (Brooks *et al.*, 2005).

Autonomic dysfunction in relation to the cardiovascular system has been reported in humans with type 1 diabetes and animals with chronic hyperglycaemia. This includes an abnormal increase in the renal sympathetic activity (Perin *et al.*, 2001; Patel *et al.*, 2011). Evidence demonstrates that abnormal activation of the sympathetic nerve is crucial in the development of hypertension (Dampney *et al.*, 2005; Esler, 2011; Takahashi, 2012). The cause of the abnormal activation of sympathetic nerves in diabetes is not well understood; however, there is increasing evidence that an impairment of baroreflex sensitivity, which is important in controlling both sympathetic activity and blood pressure levels, may play an important role. Interestingly, although impairment of baroreflex sensitivity is reported in long-term STZ-induced diabetic rats, we have previously reported that drinking 1% NaCl accelerates the dysfunction was also associated with an increase in the mean arterial blood pressure, suggesting that impairment of baroreflex sensitivity may be the potential mechanism that contributes to the development of hypertension in STZ-induced diabetic rats.

However, the central mechanism by which saline intake triggers baroreflex dysfunction in STZ diabetic rats is not completely understood. Interestingly, we have previously reported that saline intake in STZ diabetic rats not only accelerates baroreflex dysfunction but also increases microglial activation in the PVN, RVLM and NTS (chapter 4). Microglial inhibition in the PVN prevents the development of hypertension in these animals, suggesting that microglial activation is involved in the mechanisms of hypertension (chapter 4). Another study has shown that microinjection of proinflammatory cytokine (IL-6) into the NTS caused a marked decrease in the baroreceptor sensitivity (Takagishi *et al.*, 2010). Activated microglia are known to release proinflammatory molecules, such as IL-6. Thus, this inflammation seen in STZ diabetic rats treated with saline at early stages may be responsible for baroreflex dysfunction; however, there is a lack of data on the effect saline intake has on CNS inflammation in the long term after STZ treatment.

While it is clear from our study and other previous studies that saline intake can accelerate and intensify diabetic cardiovascular complications in short-term STZ diabetic rats, there is evidence that drinking saline improved cardiac function in the long term (Dai *et al.*, 1994). Therefore, it appears that saline intake has paradoxical effects on the cardiovascular system, and this effect may be time dependent. It is not known whether STZ diabetic rats treated with 1% NaCl for longer periods show similar baroreflex alterations to the ones seen during early stages or whether 1% NaCl causes further depression in the baroreflex function.

At early stages in STZ diabetic rats, drinking saline accelerates microglial activation in the brain nuclei that are involved in cardiovascular regulatory functions. While this activation may explain the baroreflex dysfunction that is seen in these animals, it is not consistent with improving cardiac function in long-term STZ diabetic rats treated with saline. Whether saline intake reduces or increases CNS inflammation in STZ diabetic rats given saline for long periods is not known.

Therefore, we investigated the effects of saline intake on blood pressure and baroreflex sensitivity in long-term STZ diabetic rats. In addition, we investigated whether saline intake influences inflammation in the cardiovascular centres in long-term STZ diabetic rats.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Effect of 6 weeks saline intake on general features of diabetic rats

When Male Sprague Dawley rats were injected with either STZ or citrate buffer and maintained for 6 weeks with free access to either tap water or saline to drink, the non-diabetic control animals given water (C) and non-diabetic animals given saline (CS) exhibited a gradual increase in body weight. The same pattern was also observed in diabetic animals given water (D) and diabetic animals given saline (DS), but the weight gained in these diabetic groups was lower when compared with the control groups (Figure 5-1A). As expected, the body weights of the D group were significantly lower (P<0.01) compared with the C group animals, which is consistent with previous studies (chapter 3). Also, the body weights of the DS group were significantly lower (P<0.001) when compared with the CS group. Saline treatment in long-term STZ diabetic rats did not significantly affect body weight in either diabetic or control animals, which is in agreement with our previous study, in the short term (chapter 4). Blood glucose levels were lower than 8 mmol/L in the C and CS groups and higher than 25 mmol/L in the D and DS groups, indicating extreme hyperglycaemia (Figure 5-1B). The D group exhibited significantly higher (P < 0.0001) blood glucose levels compared with the C group, as expected. This was also the case for the blood glucose levels in the DS group compared to the CS group (P < 0.0001). Interestingly, saline treatment significantly reduced (P<0. 0001) blood glucose levels in the diabetic group, though not to normal levels, and it had no effect on blood glucose in the control animals. The results of body weight and blood glucose measurements indicated that STZ-treated diabetic rats exhibited changes that are characteristic of this model.

Regarding fluid intake, drinking both 1% saline and tap water increased progressively over 6 weeks in the D and DS groups, but this was not the case in C and CS groups, suggesting that diabetic animals were compensating for substantial fluid loss (Figure 5-1C). Daily water

intake was significantly greater (P<0.0001) in the D group compared to the C group, as expected. Also, the daily saline intake was significantly greater (P<0.0001) in diabetic animals when compared with control animals. In diabetic animals, the daily saline intake was significantly higher (P < 0.01) compared to the daily water intake, which is consistent with data observed in early stages (chapter 4). This was not the case in the control animals.



Figure 5-1. Effect of 6 weeks saline treatment on body weight, blood glucose and fluid intake of diabetic rats. A: Body weight measured at weekly intervals in control animals (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water to drink and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. B: Blood glucose levels measured at 6 weeks after injection of rats with either STZ or citrate buffer. C: The amount of tap water or 1% NaCl solution ingested was monitored daily by weighting water bottles and then averaged for each week. Number of rats = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Significance was evaluated using a one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for all comparisons (C vs D, C vs CS, CS vs DS and D vs DS) in this and all subsequent figures; ** indicates P<0.01; **** indicates P<0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; ## indicates P<0.01; #### indicates P<0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

5.2.2 Measurement of baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in diabetic rats

In experiments to investigate the baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in the long term (6 weeks) after STZ or citrate injection, the mean arterial blood pressure under anaesthesia was not significantly different between the C and D or between the CS and DS groups (Figure 5-2A). Also, no significant differences were found in heart rate among the groups (Figure 5-2B). These results are consistent with a previous study at early stages (chapter 4). A progressive increase in the maximal mean arterial blood and decrease in the maximal heart rate in response to the infusion of increasing amounts of phenylephrine was seen in all groups. The maximal mean arterial blood pressure response to phenylephrine at all doses was not significantly different between the D and C groups (Figure 5-3A). The same pattern was also observed in the DS group compared to the CS group. Saline intake had no effect on blood pressure changes in response to phenylephrine in the diabetic or control animals. The maximal heart rate response to phenylephrine was also similar between the DS and CS group (Figure 5-3B); however, in the D group, the heart rate response to phenylephrine was significantly lower at 1, 2 and 5 µg doses but not 10 µg compared with the C groups. When baroreflex sensitivity was quantified as the ratio of maximal change in heart rate divided by the maximal change in mean arterial blood pressure, the baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in response to increasing doses of phenylephrine was similar between the DS and CS groups (Figure 5-3C); however, there was a significant reduction in baroreflex sensitivity in the D group when compared to the CW group (P<0.05), which is in agreement with the findings of others in long-term STZ diabetic rats. Interestingly, in late stages, saline treatment significantly increased (P<0.05) baroreflex sensitivity to normal levels in diabetic animals, which is opposed to our data at early stages of diabetes. These data suggested that saline has paradoxical effects on baroreflex sensitivity in STZ diabetic rats and that this effect is time dependent.



Figure 5-2. Effect of 6 weeks saline treatment on cardiovascular parameters in diabetic rats under anaesthesia. A: The mean arterial blood pressure (MAP); and B: The heart rate of unconscious control animals (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. Number of rats = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. No significant differences were observed.



Figure 5-3. Cardiovascular responses to phenylephrine in diabetic rats. A: Changes in mean arterial pressure (MAP); and B: changes in heart rate (HR) in response to graded doses of intravenous phenylephrine (1, 2, 5 and 10 μ g/kg) in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given saline. C: Baroreflex sensitivity (bpm/mmHg) of bradycardic responses represented as the average of the maximal change in heart rate divided by the maximal change in mean arterial blood pressure for each phenylephrine dose and then averaged for each animal. Baroreflex-mediated bradycardia was significantly attenuated in the diabetic group compared with the diabetic group treated with saline and the control group. Number of rats = 4, 4, 5 and 3 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. * indicates P<0.05 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

5.2.3 OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in cardiovascular centres in diabetic rats

The OX-42 antibody was used to identify morphological changes in microglia cells in the cardiovascular centres in STZ rats. At 6 weeks following STZ or vehicle injection, microglia displayed normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the C and CS groups, which is consistent with our previous study at early stages (chapter 4) (Figure 5-4). In contrast to our data at 2 weeks, there was a significant increase in the percentage of activated microglia with large cell bodies and short, thick processes in the PVN in the D group (P<0.01) compared to PVN microglia in the C group. Also, the percentage of activated microglia was significantly increased in the PVN in the DS group compared to PVN microglia in the CS group (Figure 5-6A). Saline treatment had no effect on the percentage of activated microglial in the diabetic group or control group. A significant increase in the percentage of activated microglial in the diabetic group or control group. A significant increase in the percentage of activated microglial in the diabetic group or seen in both the parvocellular PVN (Figure 5-9A).

In the NTS region in which baroreceptive afferent nerves terminate, microglial cells showed normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes in the C, CS and DS groups (Figure 5-5). In contrast, darkly stained microglia with shorter, thicker processes were clearly observed in the NTS in the D group. The quantification of the percentage of activated microglia in the NTS in the D group showed a significantly greater activation compared to the C (P<0.01) and DS (P<0.001) groups (Figure 5-6B). Saline treatment in long-term STZ diabetic rats reduced the increase in the percentage of activated microglia in the NTS reduction in microglial activated microglia in the NTS seen at 2 weeks following STZ treatment. This reduction in microglial activation was associated with improving baroreflex sensitivity, suggesting that NTS inflammation contributes to baroreflex dysfunction in short-term STZ diabetic rats treated with saline.

Microglial cells in the RVLM region exhibited normal morphology in the D and C groups. The same pattern was also observed in the DS and CS groups. The quantitative analysis of microglial activation in the RVLM region indicated that no significant differences were found among any of the groups (Figure 5-6C).


С



Chapter Five:

Figure 5-4. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the PVN in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing CD11b (OX-42 clone) immunoreactive microglia in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. Dotted lines in low-power images (A-D) outline the PVN. High-power images (E-H) show the morphology of microglia in the parvocellular PVN region in detail. OX-42 antibody staining shows microglia with normal morphology with small cell bodies and long fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the C and CS groups, while activated microglia showing larger cell bodies and shorter, thicker processes are seen in the D and DS group. Bar = 100 μ m in A–D, 50 μ m in E–H.



Figure 5-1. OX-42 Immunohistochemistry in the NTS in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing CD11b (OX-42 clone) immunoreactive microglia in the nuclear tractus solitarius (NTS) in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution. Dotted lines in low-power images (A-D) outline the NTS. High-power images (E-H) show the detailed morphology of microglia in NTS region. OX-42 antibody staining showing microglia with normal morphology was seen throughout the NTS region in the C, CS and DS groups, while activated microglia showing intense immunolabelling, larger cell bodies and thicker processes were common in the NTS in the D group. Bar = 200 μ m in A–D, 100 μ m in E–H.



Figure 5-6. Microglial activation in cardiovascular centres of the brain of 6 weeks saline-treated diabetic rats. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN); B: in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS); and C: in the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) of the control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given saline. After 6 weeks, the percentage of activated microglia was significantly increased in the PVN in the diabetic groups compared with the control groups. Also, the percentage of activated microglia was significantly increased as the mean \pm SEM. ** indicates P<0.01 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

5.2.4 C-fos immunoreactivity in cardiovascular centres in diabetic rats

In this study, an antibody to c-fos was used to quantify neuronal activation in the regions in which microglia were activated. In the PVN in the C and CS groups, the number of fosimmunoreactive neurons was smaller compared to the D and DS groups (Figure 5-7). On quantification, we observed a significant increase in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the D group compared to (P<0.05) the C group (Figure 5-8A). No significant differences were observed in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons between the DS and CS groups. In the D group, a significant increase in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons was restricted to parvocellular subdivisions of the PVN (5-9B). The number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the NTS was not significantly different between the C and D or between the CS and DS groups (Figure 5-8B); however, saline treatment significantly reduced (P<0.05) fos activity in the NTS in the diabetic animals. This was not case in the control animals. The counts of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the NTS and RVLM regions showed no significant difference among any of the groups (Figure 5-8C).



Figure 5-7. Fos activity in the PVN in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing neuronal nuclei stained with anti-Fos antibody in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control animals (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given 1% NaCl solution.Dotted lines the PVN. Bar = $100 \mu m$.



Figure 5-8. Fos-IR immunoreactivity indicating activated neurons in cardiovascular centres of the brain in diabetic rats. A: Quantification of Fos-IR positive cell nuclei in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN); B: in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS); and C: in the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) of control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given saline. Number of rats = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. * indicates P<0.05 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls; # indicates P<0.05 for comparisons between diabetic groups.



Figure 5-9. Microglial and neuronal activation in the parvocellular and magnocellular portions of the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the parvocellular and magnocellular of the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control (C) and diabetic animals (D) given tap water and control (CS) and diabetic animals (DS) given saline. B: Quantification of Fos-IR positive cell nuclei in the same regions. Number of rats = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. * indicates P<0.05; ** indicates P<0.01; *** indicates P<0.001; **** indicates P < 0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and their respective controls.

5.3 Discussion

While drinking saline causes improvement in some cardiovascular changes in long-term STZ- induced diabetic rats, there is a lack of data on the effect of saline intake on baroreflex sensitivity and CNS inflammation. Thus, in this study, we aimed to investigate the effects of 1% NaCl on baroreflex sensitivity and whether saline intake influences inflammation in CNS cardiovascular centres in long-term STZ diabetic rats. The main findings of the present study were that 6 weeks of treatment with 1% NaCl (i) had no effect on the mean arterial blood pressure under anaesthesia but (ii) restored the function of bradycardic baroreflex and (iii) reduced the activation of microglia and neurons in the NTS in STZ diabetic rats.

We previously reported no changes in baroreflex sensitivity at 2 weeks in STZ diabetic animals compared to the control. In contrast, in the current study, there was dysfunction in the baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in the longer term, which is in agreement with previous studies (Van Buren et al., 1998; Dall'Ago et al., 2002; Harthmann et al., 2007; Souza et al., 2007). This suggests that a reduction in baroreflex sensitivity is dependent on the time course of diabetes. The detailed mechanism of bradycardic baroreflex dysfunction in STZ diabetic rats is not known. There is evidence that suggests CNS inflammation can alter baroreflex function. For example, in a previous study, we have shown that the NTS exhibited microglial activation that was associated with baroreflex dysfunction in short-term STZ diabetic rats treated with saline. In addition, Takagishi et al. reported that microinjection of IL-6 into the NTS decreased baroreceptor sensitivity (Takagishi et al., 2010). It is well documented that activated microglia can contribute to inflammation by producing proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6. Therefore, we investigated whether microglia are activated in autonomic brain areas that are involved in cardiovascular regulation, including the baroreceptor reflex. In the NTS but not in the RVLM, we found activation of microglia in diabetic animals at 6 weeks following STZ injection, which is in agreement with our previous study that reported that microglia become activated at later stages (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Consistent with this result, it is well-known that over time after STZ treatment, autonomic dysfunction occurs. This includes abnormal increases in the renal sympathetic activity and impairment of baroreflex sensitivity. It is believed that these pathological changes in the autonomic nervous system may contribute to the development of cardiovascular complications (Grassi *et al.*, 1998; Gao *et al.*, 2002; Salgado *et al.*, 2007; Maliszewska-Scislo *et al.*, 2008). In the present study, microglial activation in the NTS in diabetic rats was observed around the time that autonomic system dysfunction occurred. These data suggest that microglial activation in the NTS may be responsible for baroreflex dysfunction seen at 6 weeks in STZ diabetic animals.

Interestingly, prolonged saline intake in STZ diabetic rats caused improvement of baroreflex sensitivity, which is not consistent with the effect of saline seen at 2 weeks. The detailed mechanism by which saline intake restores the baroreflex dysfunction is not known. A likely mechanism would be involvement of neuroinflammation in autonomic centres in the brain. In contrast to early stages of diabetes, saline intake reduced microglial activation in the NTS in STZ diabetic rats compared to STZ diabetic rats given tap water to drink. Also, there was no increase in microglial activation in the RVLM at 6 weeks in STZ diabetic rats treated with saline, suggesting that drinking saline reduces microglial activation over time. This reduction in microglial activation was accompanied with an enhancement of baroreceptor sensitivity. These findings also provide support for the effect of NTS microglial activation on baroreflex function.

The mechanisms by which microglia become activated in diabetic animals and saline intake reduces this activation are not completely understood. As discussed previously, neuronal over excitation can enhance microglial activation (Hathway *et al.*, 2009; Lu *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, we examined whether neurons were activated in CNS cardiovascular centres. In the NTS, we observed no significant increase in neuronal activation in diabetic rats compared

to non-diabetic control rats. Thus, the present finding is consistent with our earlier observations, supporting our interpretation that microglial activation was not mediated by neurons activation in the NTS and that damage to sensory neurons could be the potential mechanism; however, interestingly, prolonged saline treatment was able to reduce NTS neuron activation in diabetic rats. Studies on naïve animals have shown that salt intake potentiates the depressor responses to excitation of the NTS with a microinjection of glutamate (Ito *et al.*, 1999; Isogai *et al.*, 2005), but the exact mechanism is not clearly understood.

A change in sodium balance is a possible mechanism that may be involved in altering the NTS neuron activity and baroreflex function. A sodium imbalance is characteristic of STZ diabetic rats because their excretion of sodium is high (Wald & Popovtzer, 1984; Schaan *et al.*, 2005). Animal studies have shown that sodium depletion can cause impairment of the baroreceptor sensitivity (Kunze & Brown, 1978; Echtenkamp & Anderson, 1988; Huang & Leenen, 1994). Moreover, sodium depletion has been shown to activate the NTS neurons (Geerling & Loewy, 2007). We speculate that the dysfunction of baroreflex may be related to sodium depletion in STZ diabetic rats; therefore, drinking saline may restore sodium balance, thereby improving baroreflex sensitivity.

Another possibility is that hormonal factors, such as renin angiotensin aldosterone, may influence the NTS neurons and baroreflex sensitivity. There have been studies that have demonstrated that an increase in angiotensin II is associated with diminished baroreflex sensitivity in dahl salt-sensitive rats (Ferrari *et al.*, 1984) and that the inhibition of renin angiotensin aldosterone can improve baroreflex sensitivity in hypertensive animals (Gordon *et al.*, 1981). In addition, microinjection of angiotensin II into the NTS decreased baroreceptor sensitivity (Casto & Phillips, 1986). An increase in the level of circulating angiotensin II can also activate neurons in brain regions that are involved in autonomic

control (Li *et al.*, 1997). In early stages of diabetes, Kalinyak et al. found no change in the levels of angiotensin II in STZ diabetic rats (Kalinyak *et al.*, 1993). In contrast, increased internal angiotensin II has been found at 6-8 weeks following STZ injection (Anderson *et al.*, 1993). Interestingly, salt intake has been shown to reduce angiotensin II in Zucker diabetic fatty rats (Takenaka *et al.*, 2011). Thus, the decreased neuronal activity in diabetic rats treated with saline may be a result of decreased angiotensin II. Consequently, we presume that elevated angiotensin II may be responsible, at least in part, for the dysfunction of baroreflex seen in diabetic animals and that saline intake reduces angiotensin II, which in turn enhances baroreflex sensitivity.

In addition to the role of angiotensin II in baroreflex dysfunction, it has also been shown that systemic infusion of angiotensin II increases blood pressure and activates microglia in the PVN (Shi et al., 2010a). In the present study, there was no change or reduction in the blood pressure of diabetic animals under anaesthesia compared to the control, which is in agreement with other studies at this later stage (Fazan et al., 1997; Van Buren et al., 1998; Fazan et al., 1999; Schaan et al., 2004). In addition, we observed no changes in the blood pressure of anaesthetized diabetic animals when given 1% NaCl to drink, which is consistent with our previous study at early stages of diabetes (chapter 4), although we and others have provided evidence that drinking 1% NaCl caused a significant increase in blood pressure in awake diabetic animals in the short and longer terms (Santos et al., 1995; Maeda et al., 2007). Because of the potential effects of anaesthesia on the mechanism that generates hypertension, recording actual blood pressure under anaesthesia is not a valid method. Therefore, it is difficult to compare the effect of saline on blood pressure seen in our study and other previous studies in awake animals (chapter 4). Although saline was able to restore baroreflex dysfunction in diabetic rats in this study, another study reported that saline intake increases blood pressure at 8 weeks after STZ injection in awake animals. This suggests that prolonged

saline intake contributes to the development of hypertension in diabetic rats independently of baroreflex sensitivity, but how this occurs is not known.

We previously provided evidence that saline intake promotes the development of hypertension and induces microglial activation in the PVN at 2 weeks in STZ diabetic rats and that the inhibition of microglial activation via a minocycline drug prevents hypertension. This suggests that microglial activation in the PVN contributes to this neurogenic hypertension. In the present study, we observed increased microglial activation in the PVN in diabetic rats compared with control rats, which is in agreement with our previous study that reported that microglia become activated at later stages. Also, we found microglial activation in the PVN of diabetic rats treated with saline, similar to our observations at earlier stages of diabetes. Microglial activation was seen in the parvocellular and magnocellular PVN; however, the functional consequences of microglial activation in the PVN are not known, and further studies are needed.

The mechanisms by which microglia become activated in the PVN in diabetic groups remain to be determined. We previously provided evidence that microglial activation in the PVN may be secondary to prolonged intense activation of PVN neurons in diabetic rats. Interestingly, neuronal activation was observed in the parvocellular PVN but not in the magnocellular. The parvocellular PVN is involved in the regulation of autonomic function. We previously reported increased neuronal activity in this region at 2 weeks following STZ injection, but the microglia were not activated. In the present study at 6 weeks, both neuronal and microglial activation. In diabetic rats treated with saline, no increase in neuronal activation was observed in the parvocellular division of the PVN, although microglia were activated. These findings indicate that microglial activation can occur without neuronal activation, suggesting that saline may trigger microglial activation directly or via another mechanism.

5.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, our data indicated that 1% NaCl intake enhances baroreflex sensitivity in longterm STZ diabetic rats. This enhancement was accompanied by a reduction in microglial activation in the NTS in diabetic rats treated with saline. Microglial activation in the NTS may contribute to the attenuated arterial baroreflex function observed in diabetic rats through the production of proinflammatory cytokines; however, further research is required to determine the full effect of microglia inhibition in the NTS. Saline intake had no effect on blood pressure in long-term STZ diabetic rats under anaesthesia. We conclude that prolonged saline intake may have beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system through a reduction of brain inflammation in diabetes.

Chapter Six: Inhibition of Microglial Activation Improves Cardiac Dysfunction in STZ Diabetic Rats

6.1 Introduction

Type I diabetes mellitus is an independent risk factor for the development of cardiovascular complications, which are the leading cause for 80% of deaths in diabetic patients (Kannel & McGee, 1979; Bell, 2003; Hayat *et al.*, 2004). Diabetic cardiomyopathy is a common cause of heart failure that may occur independently of arterial hypertension and coronary artery disease (Rubler *et al.*, 1972; Francis, 2001; Boudina & Abel, 2007). Diabetic cardiomyopathy is characterised by an impaired ventricular function of the heart. This includes left ventricular diastolic dysfunction (Joffe *et al.*, 1999; Schannwell *et al.*, 2001), and the progression of this dysfunction accelerates systolic dysfunction, which in turn contributes to the development of heart failure (Fonseca, 2003). While several mechanisms have been implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy, including endothelial dysfunction and myocardial fibrosis (Tschöpe *et al.*, 2005; Asbun & Villarreal, 2006), the exact mechanism is still unclear.

Activity in the sympathetic nervous system that controls the heart and blood vessels has been shown to increase in heart failure diseases (Packer, 1988). Such activation may exacerbate and cause some of the aforementioned cardiovascular problems since interventions such as 'beta-blocker' drugs can improve patient prognosis following myocardial infarction, which is another common complication of diabetes (Butler *et al.*, 2006); however, whether this approach is useful in diabetes has not been investigated. There is growing evidence that abnormal cardiac function is associated with over-activity of sympathetic nerves measured by norepinephrine in both humans (Langer *et al.*, 1995; Stevens *et al.*, 1997; Perin *et al.*, 2001) and animals with type 1 diabetes (Paulson & Light, 1981; Schmid *et al.*, 1999). In addition, an abnormal activation of the sympathetic nervous system has also been reported in animals with type 1 diabetes via a direct measurement (Patel *et al.*, 2011). This abnormal activation of

the sympathetic nervous system has been suggested to contribute to the development of heart failure in diabetes, but the cause is not known.

Sympathetic nerve activity in the cardiovascular system is controlled via several regions in the brain called cardiovascular centres. The PVN is a key site within the brain that regulates sympathetic nerve activation. Our study and other previous studies on STZ-induced diabetic animals have reported abnormally increased neuronal activity in the PVN (Krukoff & Patel, 1990; Zheng *et al.*, 2002; Rana *et al.*, 2014), but the central mechanisms behind this neuronal activation are not well understood. Interestingly, inflammation in the PVN has been shown to activate PVN neurons in other diseases (Shi *et al.*, 2010a; Shi *et al.*, 2011).

Previously, we have shown that the resident immune cells within CNS, called microglia, become activated in the PVN in diabetic rats (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Microglia have been implicated in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases, including neuropathic pain. Once they become activated, they release proinflammatory molecules, which have been shown to cause neuronal hyperexcitability by increasing excitation and decreasing inhibition in the spinal cord (Sweitzer *et al.*, 1999; Tsuda *et al.*, 2008; Milligan & Watkins, 2009).

Therefore, we hypothesize that activated microglia may be the cause for PVN neurons activation, which in turn activates sympathetic drive and contributes to cardiac dysfunction. The use of drugs that inhibit microglial activation in diabetic rats will help to understand whether microglial activation contributes to the development of diabetic complications. It has been suggested that dehydration may be responsible for the PVN neuron activation seen in diabetic rats.

Accordingly, we investigated whether the inhibition of microglia in the PVN via minocycline can reduce or prevent PVN neuron activation and thereby result in an improved cardiac function in STZ-induced diabetic rats. In addition, we investigated whether plasma osmolarity and/or dehydration contributes to PVN neuron activation.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Effect of minocycline on general features of diabetic rats

At 6 weeks following injection with either STZ or citrate buffer, the body weights of diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (DS) were significantly lower (P<0.05) compared with control animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CS), as expected (Figure 6-1A). The body weights of diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of minocycline (DM) were also significantly lower (P<0.001) compared with the CS group. Minocycline did not significantly affect the body weight of diabetic animals. Blood glucose levels were around the normal levels (6-7 mmol/L) in the CS group, but the diabetic groups showed high blood glucose (higher than 25 mmol/L) (Figure 6-1B). As expected, the diabetic groups exhibited significantly higher (P < 0.0001) blood glucose levels compared with the CS group, and minocycline treatment had no effect on blood glucose. Daily water intake was significantly greater (P<0.0001) in the DS group compared to the CS group (Figure 6-1C), which is consistent with previous studies (chapter 5). The DM group drank a significantly greater (P < P0.0001) volume of water than the CS group. Interestingly, minocycline treatment in diabetic animals significantly reduced the daily water intake. Heart weight (heart weight/body weight) was not significantly different between the CS and DS or between the DS and DM groups (Figure 6-2A); however, kidney weight (kidney weight/body weight) was significantly greater (P<0.0001) in the DS group compared to the CS group (Figure 6-2B). This was also the case for kidney weight in the DM group compared to the CS group (P < 0.05). Despite this, minocycline treatment significantly decreased the kidney weight of diabetic animals.

To assess whether STZ diabetic rats were dehydrated, we measured plasma osmolarity, haemoglobin and haematocrit at the end of the experimental period. As expected, the plasma osmolarity was significantly elevated (P<0.001) in the DS group compared with the CS group, which is consistent with our previous study (Rana *et al.*, 2014) (Figure 6-3A);

however, no significant differences were found in plasma osmolarity between the DM group and CS group. When compared to the DS group, minocycline treatment significantly reduced (P<0.05) plasma osmolarity, suggesting it had restored plasma osmolarity to normal levels in diabetic animals. As indicators of blood volume status, the haematocrit and Haemoglobin concentration were significantly elevated (P<0.01) in the DS group compared to the CS group (Figure 6-3B-C). The haematocrit (P= 0.13) and Haemoglobin concentration (P= 0.30) were similar between the DM and CS groups, suggesting that minocycline-treated diabetic rats were not dehydrated; however, there was no significant difference in the haematocrit (P= 0.18) and Haemoglobin concentration (P= 0.21) between the diabetic animals.



Figure 6-1. Effect of minocycline treatment on body weight, blood glucose and fluid intake of diabetic rats. A: Body weight measured at 6 weeks after injection of rats with either STZ or citrate buffer in control animals and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CS, DS, respectively) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of minocycline (DM). B: Blood glucose levels measured at 6 weeks. C: The amount of tap water ingested was monitored daily at week 6 by weighting water bottles. Number of rats = 6, 8, and 8 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Significance was evaluated using a one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for all comparisons (CS vs DS, CS vs DM, and DS vs DM) in this and all subsequent figures; * indicates P<0.05; ** indicates P<0.01; **** indicates P<0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and controls; # indicates P<0.05; ## indicates P<0.001; #### indicates P<0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups.



Figure 6-2. Effect of minocycline treatment on heart weight and kidney weight in diabetic rats. A: Heart weight (heart weight / body weight); and B: kidney weight (kidney weight / body weight) as a proportion of the body weight of control animals and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CS, DS respectively) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of minocycline (DM). Number of rats = 6, 8, and 8 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.



Figure 6-3. Effect of minocycline treatment on plasma osmolarity and haemoglobin in diabetic rats. A: Plasma osmolarity (Osmol/litre); B: Haemoglobin concentration (g/L); and C: Haematocrit (%) measured at the end of the experimental period in control animals and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CS, DS respectively) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of minocycline (DM). Number of rats = 6, 8, and 8 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

6.2.2 Echocardiographic measurements in diabetic rats

The left ventricle of diabetic animals displayed a significant increase in the internal diameter in systole and diastole compared to the CS group, (P<0.01) and (P<0.0001), respectively (Figure 6-4A-B). The treatment of diabetic animals with ICV minocycline significantly reduced the left ventricle internal diameter in systole and diastole compared with the DS group, (P<0.05) and (P<0.01), respectively. No significant difference was seen in the internal diameter in the systole between the DM and CS groups, but there was a significant difference in the diastole. Diabetic animals demonstrated a significant reduction (P<0.0001) in the E/A ratio compared with the CS group (Figure 6-4C). No differences were observed in the E/A ratio between the DM group and CS group. Interestingly, minocycline treatment significantly improved (P<0.0001) the E/A ratio in diabetic animals. Heart rate did not differ among any of the groups (Figure 6-4D).



Figure 6-4. Effect of minocycline treatment on echocardiographic measurements in diabetic rats. A: Left ventricular internal diameter in systole — LVIDs (mm); B: left ventricular internal diameter in diastole — LVIDd (mm); C: E/A ratio (the ratio of the early (E) to late (A) ventricular filling velocities); and D: the heart rate of control animals and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CS, DS respectively); and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (DM). Number of rats = 6, 8, and 8 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

6.2.3 Measurement of haemodynamic parameters in diabetic rats

Immediately after the echocardiography procedure, cardiac catheterization was performed to assess the left ventricular end diastolic pressure, dP/dt max and heart rate. Compared to control rats, the DS group exhibited significantly higher (P<0.0001) left ventricular end diastolic pressure at 6 weeks following STZ injection, indicating clear left ventricular dysfunction (Figure 6-5A). No difference was observed in the left ventricular end diastolic pressure between the DM group and CS group. The treatment of diabetic animals with minocycline significantly restored (P<0.0001) the elevated end diastolic pressure to levels comparable to the CS group. The maximal rate of pressure change (dP/dt max) was significantly lower (P<0.05) in the DS group compared to the level observed in the CS group (Figure 6-5B); however, there was no significant difference in the maximal rate of pressure change in diabetic animals (P= 0.07). The heart rate under deep anaesthesia was similar among all groups (Figure 6-5C).



Figure 6-5. Effect of minocycline treatment on hemodynamic parameters in diabetic rats. A: End-diastolic pressure; (EDP); B: the maximal rate of pressure change (dP/dt max); and C: the heart rate of control animals and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CS, DS, respectively); and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of minocycline (DM). Number of rats = 6, 8, and 6 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

6.2.4 OX-42 and C-fos Immunohistochemistry in the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic rats

At 6 weeks following STZ or vehicle injection, the microglia displayed normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the CS group, which is consistent with our previous study (Rana *et al.*, 2014); however, microglial cells in the PVN in the DS group appeared to be present in an activated form with larger cell bodies and shorter, thicker processes (Figure 6-6). The quantification of the percentage of activated microglia in the PVN showed that it was lower than 7% in the CS group and higher than 60% in the DS group (Figure 6-8 A). Thus, the DS group exhibited a significant increase (P<0.0001) in the percentage of activated microglia compared with the PVN between the DM group and CS group. Minocycline treatment in diabetic animals caused a significant reduction (P<0.0001) in the percentage of activated microglia in the PVN.

The number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the PVN in the CS group appeared smaller when compared to the DS group (Figure 6-7). On quantification, we observed a significant increase (P<0.01) in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the DS group compared to the CS group (Figure 6-8 B). Fos-immunoreactive neurons in the PVN showed no significant difference between the DM group and CS group. When the diabetic groups were compared, the increased number of fos-immunoreactive neurons seen in the PVN in the DS was significantly reduced (P<0.05) by the minocycline treatment.



CS

DS

DM

Chapter Six:

Figure 6-6. Morphology of microglia in STZ diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing CD11b (OX-42 clone) immunoreactive microglia in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control animals and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CS, DS respectively) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of minocycline (DM). Dotted lines in low-power images (A-C) outline the PVN. High-power images (D-F) show the morphology of microglia in the PVN region in detail. OX-42 antibody staining shows microglia with normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the CS and DM groups, while activated microglia showing larger cell bodies and shorter, thicker processes are seen in the DS group. Bar = 100 μ m in A–D, 50 μ m in E–H.





DS



Chapter Six:

Figure 6-7. Fos activity in the PVN in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing neuronal nuclei stained with anti-Fos antibody in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control animals and diabetic animals with ICV infusion of saline (CS, DS respectively); and diabetic animals with ICV infusion of minocycline (DM). Dotted lines outline the PVN. Scale bar = $100 \mu m$.



Figure 6-8. Effect of minocycline treatment on microglial and neuronal activation in the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control animals and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CS, DS respectively) and diabetic animals with an ICV infusion of minocycline (DM). B: Quantification of Fos-IR positive cell nuclei in the same region. Number of rats = 6 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

6.3 Discussion

There is evidence that an over-activity of the sympathetic nervous system is a potential contributing factor to the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy, which is characterized by left ventricular dysfunction; however, whether PVN inflammation contributes to this sympathetic over-activity has not been investigated. Therefore, in this study, we aimed to investigate cardiovascular function in diabetic rats at 6 weeks following STZ injection and whether the inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN can reverse any of the changes seen. The main findings of the present study were that diabetic rats exhibited (i) left ventricular dysfunction, including elevated end diastolic pressure, an increased internal diameter in systole and diastole and a decreased E/A ratio; (ii) renal hypertrophy and elevated plasma osmolarity; (iii) microglial and neuronal activation in the PVN and that (iv) ICV minocycline inhibited microglial and neuronal activation and that (v) this inhibition was accompanied by improved left ventricular and renal changes without affecting hyperglycaemia or the body weight in STZ diabetic rats.

In the present study, we observed increased microglial activation in the PVN in diabetic rats compared with control rats, which is similar to our observations in an earlier study (chapter 5). This activation of microglia was accompanied by left ventricle impairment and renal hypertrophy. Increased microglial activation in the PVN and left ventricle and renal changes were significantly attenuated via administering ICV minocycline. Minocycline treatment not only attenuated microglial activation but also neuronal activation in the PVN in diabetic rats; however, minocycline did not alter the glycaemia level in diabetic rats, indicating that it improved cardiovascular and renal function via another mechanism.

There is evidence that suggests that an abnormal activation of sympathetic nerves can result in ventricular dysfunction in human and animals with heart failure (Aronson & Burger, 2002; Guggilam *et al.*, 2008). In the current study, echocardiographic measurements of the left ventricle function and structure demonstrated diastolic dysfunction in STZ diabetic rats when compared with control rats, which is consistent with other previous studies at the same or earlier stages (Hoit et al., 1999; Wichi et al., 2007; Arozal et al., 2009). Similarly, a direct evaluation of left ventricle function demonstrated increased end diastolic pressure and decreased dP/dt max in diabetic rats, confirming diastolic dysfunction, which is in agreement with previous studies (Riad et al., 2007; Wichi et al., 2007; Arozal et al., 2009); however, treating diabetic animals with ICV minocycline caused a significant reduction in left ventricular end diastolic pressure. The increase in internal diameter in the systole and diastole in diabetic rats was also significantly decreased by minocycline, and the decrease in the E/A ratio was also significantly reversed by minocycline. In almost all cases, there was no longer any difference from the control. These data indicate that ICV minocycline improved left ventricle diastolic function in STZ diabetic rats. Although we did not measure sympathetic activity directly in the present study, other studies have reported that over-activity of the sympathetic nervous system occurs in both humans and animals with type 1 diabetes (Perin et al., 2001; Patel et al., 2011; Salman et al., 2011). Thus, the cardiovascular dysfunction seen in diabetic animals may be related to autonomic dysfunction.

PVN neuronal activation has been implicated in driving sympathetic overactivity in several diseases, including hypertension (Allen, 2002), heart failure (Li *et al.*, 2003), water deprivation (Stocker *et al.*, 2005) and chronic hypoxia (Sharpe *et al.*, 2013). In the present study, we observed increased neuronal and microglial activation in the PVN in diabetic rats at 6 weeks after STZ injection, which is consistent with our previous observation (chapter 5). Minocycline treatment significantly reduced both microglial and neuronal activation in the PVN. This drug has multiple anti-inflammatory actions (Yrjänheikki *et al.*, 1999; Du *et al.*, 2001; Sapadin & Fleischmajer, 2006). Proinflammatory cytokines in the PVN have been shown to contribute to the activation of PVN neurons in cardiovascular disease models (Shi *et al.*, 2010a; Shi *et al.*, 2011). In addition, a study on rats with chronic heart failure, which is
associated with increased sympathetic activity, reported evaluated levels of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-1 β , in the PVN (Felder *et al.*, 2003; Francis *et al.*, 2004a; Francis *et al.*, 2004b). Inhibition of these cytokines in the PVN has been shown to reduce sympathetic over-activity, resulting in improvement in left ventricle function, including left ventricle end diastolic pressure in these animals (Guggilam *et al.*, 2008). In addition, Yu et al. reported that the microinjection of anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10) into the PVN in rats with heart failure decreased left ventricle end diastolic pressure (Yu *et al.*, 2007). One possible source of these cytokines is microglia. Once microglia become activated in response to infection, injury or inflammation of the CNS, they release proinflammatory molecules and cytotoxic factors, such as nitric oxide (NO) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α), that induce neuronal over excitation. We have previously provided evidence that activated microglia in the PVN contribute to hypertension in STZ diabetic rats (chapter 4). Along with these studies, our data suggest that activated microglia in the PVN may release proinflammatory cytokines that lead to the observed over-activation of PVN neurons, which activates the sympathetic nerves and thereby contributes to cardiac dysfunction in diabetic rats.

As discussed previously, abnormal sympathetic over-activation is reported in diabetic humans and animals. This abnormality has also been shown to be involved in the pathogenesis of renal dysfunction in diabetes, including glomerular hyper-filtration and increased renal plasma flow. For instance, an elevated glomerular filtration rate has been shown to occur in STZ diabetic animals, and renal denervation reversed glomerular hyper filtration (Luippold *et al.*, 2004; Salman *et al.*, 2011). Although we did not measure the renal haemodynamic properties directly in the present study, diabetic rats exhibited an increased kidney weight/body weight ratio, indicating that STZ diabetic rats display renal hypertrophy. Several studies have reported that increased kidney size is associated with elevated glomerular filtration rate as seen in diabetic humans (Christiansen *et al.*, 1981; Gundersen & Mogensen, 1981) and animals (Luippold *et al.*, 2004; Malatiali *et al.*, 2008). It was believed

that an increase in kidney size precedes glomerular hyperfiltration, which would lead to subsequent albuminuria and diabetic nephropathy (Christiansen, 1984; Bak *et al.*, 2000; Zerbini *et al.*, 2006). Thus, the enlarged kidney size observed in STZ diabetic rats may be indicative of renal dysfunction. Interestingly, this hypertrophy was significantly reversed by ICV minocycline treatment. The precise mechanism is not clear, but inhibition of abnormal PVN activation via minocycline would be expected to reduce sympathetic activity and may therefore attenuate renal hypertrophy in diabetic rats via this mechanism.

In addition to sympathetic nerve over-activity, other mechanisms may be involved in the development of renal hypertrophy in diabetic rats. In the present study, we found a significant increase in plasma osmolality in diabetic rats compared with the control. The haematocrit and Haemoglobin concentration were also increased in diabetic rats, indicating depletion in blood plasma volume. These results suggest that our diabetic animals were dehydrated, which is in agreement with our previous observation at an earlier stage (chapter 4). The PVN neurons would cause secretion of vasopressin in response to osmotic stimuli to regulate body fluid balance and blood volume in diabetic animals (Zerbe et al., 1979; Charlton et al., 1988; Brooks et al., 1989; Zheng et al., 2002). Elevated vasopressin secretion is well documented in diabetic humans and animals (Zerbe et al., 1985). This elevation has been implicated in the development of diabetic renal complications, including renal hypertrophy, glomerular hyperfiltration and albuminuria (Bouby et al., 1999; Lamarche et al., 1999; Donnelly et al., 2000). Normalization vasopressin secretion in vasopressin-deficient rats injected with STZ to induce diabetes reversed these structural and physiological changes (Bardoux et al., 1999; Bouby et al., 1999). Therefore, we speculate that renal hypertrophy may be related to an increased vasopressin concentration in STZ diabetic rats, and minocycline treatment attenuated PVN neuronal activation and consequently normalised vasopressin secretion, preventing renal hypertrophy.

Our previous study on STZ diabetic rats showed that neuronal activation in the PVN occurs at an earlier stage (2 weeks) than the onset of microglial activation in the PVN (6-8weeks), suggesting that neuronal activation precedes microglial activation in this nucleus; however, the result obtained here that minocycline treatment attenuated both microglial and neuronal activation suggests that the opposite may be true. It has been reported that minocycline inhibits microglial activation without affecting neurons in the spinal cord of neuropathic rats (Raghavendra *et al.*, 2003; Ledeboer *et al.*, 2005). Thus, a possible scenario is that firstly, neuronal activation at early stages induces microglial activation. Consequently, via a positive feedback mechanism, microglial activation induces the secondary and sustained neuronal activity that appears to cause the diabetic cardiovascular and renal complication observed in this study.

Although several studies have reported activated neurons in the PVN in STZ diabetic animals (Krukoff & Patel, 1990; Zheng *et al.*, 2002; Morgado *et al.*, 2011; Rana *et al.*, 2014), the mechanism by which diabetes induces this activation in the hypothalamic PVN or other cardiovascular regions is unclear. A large body of evidence shows that hyperglycaemia induces the production of reactive oxygen species in the PVN (Patel *et al.*, 2011) and other brain areas in STZ diabetic rats (Acar *et al.*, 2012; Ola *et al.*, 2014). It has been reported that the increase in the generation of reactive oxygen species can enhance the influx of Ca²⁺ in neurons, which in turn leads to neuronal activation (Wang *et al.*, 2003; Zimmerman & Davisson, 2004). We have preliminary evidence that an antioxidant can significantly attenuate the increase in neuronal activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice at 5 weeks following the induction of diabetes. Reactive oxygen species in dorsal horn neurons have been shown to contribute to neuronal hyperexcitability and the development of neuropathic pain, since the administration of antioxidants prevents neuropathic pain-like behaviours (Stevens *et al.*, 2000; Ho *et al.*, 2006). These findings suggest that PVN neuron activity may be mediated by increased reactive oxygen species in diabetic animals, but it is also clear that

microglia are a major source of reactive oxygen species in the brain and that reactive oxygen species are required for microglial activation and cytokine release.

Elevated levels of plasma osmolality in diabetic animals has also been implicated in PVN neuronal activation (Charlton *et al.*, 1988; Brooks *et al.*, 1989); however, it seems unlikely that elevated plasma osmolality seen in diabetic rats is responsible for the neuronal activation because the inhibition of PVN via minocycline reduced the plasma osmolality to normal levels. Despite this, if a positive feedback mechanism is involved, then breaking the cycle at any point may prevent multiple detrimental outcomes.

Interestingly, ICV minocycline was able to restore cardiac and renal dysfunction seen in our diabetic rats without affecting high blood glucose. Whatever the mechanisms by which high blood glucose can cause central inflammation may be, it is clear from our animals at 6 weeks following STZ injection that the changes in the brain are a major cause of the development of the cardiovascular and renal complications seen. Indeed, at this stage, our study provides little evidence of a direct effect of high blood glucose in cardiac function. Our data suggest that these pathological changes are mediated by CNS inflammation as a second mechanism or pathway to contribute to these diabetic complications.

6.4 Conclusion

This study suggests that microglial activation in the PVN in STZ-induced diabetic rats leads to PVN neuronal excitation. We speculate that this increase in the neuronal activity could explain increased sympathetic activity seen in humans and animals with type 1 diabetes. Consequently, this abnormal activity may be responsible for altered cardiac and renal function in diabetes. We provide evidence here that the inhibition of central inflammation may lead to preventing cardiac and renal diseases associated with diabetes. Thus, targeting microglial activation in the PVN may be an effective therapeutic approach through preventing neuronal activity and multiple diabetic complications.

Chapter Seven: Drinking 1% NaCl for 6 Weeks Improves Cardiac Dysfunction in STZ Diabetic Rats: The Role of Neuroinflammation

7.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular complications are the likely cause of morbidity and mortality in approximately 80% of diabetes mellitus patients (O'Keefe *et al.*, 1999). As previously discussed, diabetic cardiomyopathy occurs frequently in humans and animals with type 1 diabetes, and this includes left ventricular diastolic dysfunction (Joffe *et al.*, 1999; Schannwell *et al.*, 2001). Over-activity in the sympathetic nervous system that controls the cardiovascular system is associated with diabetes. Such activity may contribute to left ventricular dysfunction and consequently to the development of heart failure in diabetes (refer to chapter 6).

The paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in the hypothalamus is a major focus for studies on cardiovascular complications because it regulates the autonomic nervous system and the endocrine system, including their cardiovascular functions (van den Pol, 1982; Badoer, 2001, 2010). Previously, we have reported that PVN neurons are activated in STZ diabetic rats, potentially due to dehydration in these animals (refer to chapter 6). Therefore, increased sympathetic nerve activity and diabetic complications may be caused by dehydration and its effects on the PVN. In support of this, Stocker and Keith have reported that renal sympathetic nerve activity is increased in water-deprived rats, PVN neurons are activated by this stimulus and renal sympathetic nerve activity is decreased via inhibiting PVN neurons in these animals (Stocker *et al.*, 2004). Treatment with normal saline may be expected to reverse this dehydration in diabetes, but the effect of long-term saline intake on dehydration and cardiovascular changes in STZ diabetic rats has not been investigated.

In contrast, our previous data suggest that the activation of PVN neurons is also caused by local microglial activation in STZ diabetic rats and that inhibiting microglia prevents dehydration (refer to chapter 6). Microglia are the primary immune cells that mediate inflammation in the CNS. They have been implicated in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases, including neuropathic pain. When these cells become activated, they can further induce inflammatory processes via secreting cytokines, such as tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukins (IL), interferon (INF), reactive oxygen species and superoxides. These cytokines have been found to increase neuronal excitability in the CNS in many neurological disorders (refer to chapter 6). We have previously provided evidence that the pharmacological inhibition of PVN microglia can prevent not only PVN neuronal activity but also the cardiac dysfunction seen in diabetic animals, suggesting that inflammation in the CNS may be a mechanism contributing to the development of cardiovascular complication in diabetes (refer to chapter 6). The interactions between dehydration and CNS inflammation are therefore complex and require further investigation.

Our previous study found that drinking 1% NaCl influenced CNS inflammation in STZ diabetic rats (refer to chapters 4-5). Oral intake of 1% NaCl caused the activation of microglia in the PVN and increases in blood pressure in diabetic rats at 2 weeks following STZ injection. The inhibition of microglial activation prevented the hypertension seen in these animals (refer to chapter 4); however, drinking 1% NaCl for 6 weeks in STZ diabetic rats reduced the activation of microglia and neurons in the NTS, a baroreceptor reflex regulator region. This reduction was accompanied by a restoration of the function of the bradycardic baroreflex in STZ diabetic rats (refer to chapter 5). Thus, it appears that drinking 1% NaCl for a longer period in STZ diabetic animals produces beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system.

Our previous study showed that microglial activation in the PVN may cause the cardiac dysfunction seen in diabetic rats (refer to chapter 6). Dai et al. (1994) reported that saline intake for 6 weeks improved *ex vivo* cardiac function in STZ diabetic rats. Despite this, in our study, prolonged saline intake did not reduce microglial activation in the PVN in STZ

diabetic rats, even though the number of rats tested was small (refer to chapter 5), suggesting the effect of long-term saline on the cardiac function may not occur via the PVN.

Therefore, in this study, we investigated the effects of prolonged saline intake on (i) the *in vivo* cardiac function, (ii) dehydration and (iii) microglial activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats. In addition, we investigated whether the microglial inhibitor minocycline provided any additional effect to that of prolonged saline treatment in STZ diabetic rats.

7.2 Results

7.2.1 Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline on general features of diabetic rats

At 6 weeks following injection with either STZ or citrate buffer, the body weights of diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals given 1% NaCl with an ICV infusion of minocycline (DSM) were significantly lower (P<0.01, <0.001 and <0.01, respectively) compared with control animals with an ICV infusion of saline (CWS), as expected (Figure 7-1A). Saline and saline plus minocycline treatments did not significantly affect the body weight of diabetic animals. As expected, all diabetic groups exhibited significantly higher (P < 0.0001) blood glucose levels compared with the CWS group, and saline \pm minocycline treatment had no effect on blood glucose (Figure 7-1B). Daily water intake was significantly greater (P<0.0001) in all diabetic groups when compared to the CWS group (Figure 7-1C). Saline ± minocycline treatment in diabetic animals showed no significant effect on daily fluid intake. Heart weight (heart weight/body weight) was not significantly different between any of the groups (Figure 7-2A); however, kidney weight (kidney weight / body weight) was significantly greater (P<0.0001) in the DWS group compared to the CWS group (Figure 7-2B). This was also the case for kidney weight in the DSS and DSM groups compared to the CWS group (P < 0.05), but the saline + minocycline treatment tended to decrease kidney weight compared to the DWS group (P = 0.07).

To assess whether STZ diabetic rats were dehydrated and whether saline \pm minocycline prevented dehydration, we measured plasma osmolarity, haemoglobin and haematocrit at the end of the experimental period. As expected, plasma osmolarity was significantly elevated in the DWS group as well as in the DSS group (P<0.001 and <0.05, respectively) compared with the CWS group (Figure 7-3A); however, no significant differences were found in plasma

osmolarity between the DSM group and CWS group. When compared to the DWS group, the combination of saline and minocycline treatment significantly reduced (P<0.05) plasma osmolarity, suggesting that plasma osmolarity was restored to normal levels in these animals. As an indicator of blood volume status, the haematocrit and Haemoglobin concentration were significantly elevated (P<0.01) only in the DWS group compared to the CWS group (Figure 7-3B-C). There was no significant difference between the DSS and CWS groups, suggesting that diabetic rats treated with saline did not have a significantly reduced blood volume. This also was the case between the DSM and CWS groups; however, there was also no significant effect of saline \pm minocycline on haematocrit and Haemoglobin concentration when compared to diabetic animals. The results of plasma the osmolarity, haemoglobin and haematocrit measurements indicated that STZ-treated diabetic rats were dehydrated, and saline \pm minocycline tended to prevent this characteristic of this model.



Figure 7-1. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on body weight, blood glucose and fluid intake of diabetic rats. A: Body weight measured at 6 weeks after injection of rats with either STZ or citrate buffer in the following groups: control animals (CWS), diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSM) given 1% NaCl with an ICV infusion of minocycline. B: Blood glucose levels measured at 6 weeks in these groups. C: The amount of tap water or 1% NaCl ingested was monitored daily at week 6 by weighting water bottles. Number of rats = 6, 8, 8 and 8respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Significance was evaluated using a one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for all comparisons (CWS vs DWS, CWS vs DSS, CWS vs DSM, DWS vs DSS, DWS vs DSM and DSS vs DSM) in this and all subsequent figures; * indicates P<0.05; ** indicates P<0.01; *** indicates P<0.001; **** indicates P < 0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and controls; # indicates P < 0.05; ## indicates P<0.0; ### indicates P<0.001; #### indicates P < 0.0001 for comparisons between diabetic groups; & indicates P<0.05; && indicates P<0.01; &&& indicates P<0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups and diabetic animals with minocycline treatment.



Figure 7-2. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on heart weight and kidney weight in diabetic rats. A: Heart weight (heart weight / body weight); and B: kidney weight (kidney weight / body weight) as a proportion of control animals (CWS), diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSM) given 1% NaCl with an ICV infusion of minocycline. Number of rats = 6, 7, 7 and 7 respectively in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.



Figure 7-3. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on plasma osmolarity and haemoglobin in diabetic rats. A: Plasma osmolarity (Osmol/litre); B: Haemoglobin concentration (g/L); and C: Haematocrit (%) measured at the end of the experimental period in control animals (CWS), diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSM) given 1% NaCl with an ICV infusion of minocycline. Number of rats = 6, 8, 8 and 7 respectively in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

7.2.2 Echocardiographic measurements in diabetic rats

The left ventricle of diabetic animals given water to drink displayed a significant increase in the internal diameter in systole and diastole compared to the CWS group (P<0.001 and P<0.01, respectively) (Figure 7-4A-B). In contrast, no significant difference was seen in the internal diameter in the systole and diastole between the DSS and CWS groups or the DMS and CWS groups. Treatment of diabetic animals with a combination of saline and minocycline significantly reduced the left ventricle internal diameter in systole and diastole compared with the DWS group (P<0.0001 and P<0.01, respectively), suggesting saline \pm minocycline reversed structural changes in the heart. When compared to the DSS group, minocycline + saline treatment had no significant effect on the internal diameter in the diastole, but it significantly (P<0.001) reduced the internal diameter in the systole, suggesting that the effect of saline was intermediate. The E/A ratio of the DWS and DSS groups demonstrated a significant reduction (P<0.001 and <0.01, respectively) compared with the CWS group, suggesting diastolic dysfunction (Figure 7-4C); however, no differences were observed in the E/A ratio between the DSM group and CWS group, and the combination of saline and minocycline significantly improved (P<0.01) the E/A ratio in the DWS and DSS groups, suggesting no effect of saline on this parameter in diabetes. The heart rate under anaesthesia did not differ among any of the groups (Figure 7-4D).



Figure 7-4. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on echocardiographic measurements in diabetic rats. A: Left ventricular internal diameter in systole — LVIDs (mm); B: left ventricular internal diameter in diastole — LVIDd (mm); C: E/A ratio (the ratio of the early (E) to late (A) ventricular filling velocities); and D: the heart rate of control animals (CWS), diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSM) given 1% NaCl with an ICV infusion of rats = 6, 8, 6 and 8 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

7.2.3 Measurement of haemodynamic parameters in diabetic rats

Immediately after echocardiography, cardiac catheterization was performed to assess the left ventricular end diastolic pressure and the maximal rate of pressure change (dP/dt max). Heart rate was again measured during this procedure. Compared to control rats, the DWS group exhibited significantly higher (P<0.0001) left ventricular end diastolic pressure at 6 weeks following STZ injection, indicating clear left ventricular dysfunction (Figure 7-5A). Treatment of diabetic animals with saline significantly restored (P<0.001) the elevated end diastolic pressure to levels comparable to the CWS group. This also was the case in diabetic rats treated with minocycline compared with the DWS group (P<0.0001). No difference was observed in left ventricular end diastolic pressure in the DSS and DSM groups compared with the CWS group. When dP/dt max was quantified, it was significantly lower (P<0.05) in the DWS and DSS groups compared to the level observed in the CWS group (Figure 7-5B); however, there was no significant difference in the maximal rate of pressure change between the DSM group and CWS group. Despite this, a combination of minocycline and saline did not significantly increase the maximal rate of pressure change in diabetic animals. The heart rate under deep anaesthesia was similar among all groups (Figure 7-5C). These data indicated that saline \pm minocycline treatment was able to prevent diastolic dysfunction seen in diabetic animals given water to drink.



Figure 7-5. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on hemodynamic parameters in diabetic rats. A: end-diastolic pressure; (EDP); B: the maximal rate of pressure change (dP/dt max); and C: the heart rate of in control animals (CWS), diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSM) given 1% NaCl with an ICV infusion of minocycline. Number of rats = 6, 8, 7 and 7 respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

7.2.4 OX-42 and C-fos Immunohistochemistry in the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic rats

At 6 weeks following vehicle injection, microglia in the CWS group displayed normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region, which is consistent with our previous study; however, microglial cells in the PVN in the DWS group appeared to be present in an activated form with larger cell bodies and shorter, thicker processes (Figure 7-6). The quantification of the percentage of activated microglia in the PVN showed that it was lower than 7% in the CWS group and higher than 60% in the DWS group (Figure 7-8A). Thus, the DWS group exhibited a significant increase (P<0.0001) in the percentage of activated microglia compared with the CWS group. Saline treatment in long-term STZ diabetic rats significantly reduced (P<0.01) the percentage of activated microglia in the PVN compared to the DWS group, but it was still significantly higher (P<0.0001) compared with the CWS group, suggesting that saline treatment was not able to inhibit microglial activation completely. There was no significant difference in the percentage of activated microglia in the PVN between the DSM group and CWS group. Minocycline treatment in diabetic animals given saline caused a significant reduction (P<0.0001) in the percentage of activated microglia in the PVN compared to diabetic animals to a level comparable to that in the CWS group.

The number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the PVN in the DWS group appeared larger compared to the CWS group (Figure 7-7). On quantification, we observed a significant increase (P<0.001) in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the DWS group compared to the CWS group (Figure 7-8B). Although the DSS groups also exhibited a significant increase (P<0.05) in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons compared to the CWS group, saline treatment significantly reduced (P<0.05) fos activity in the PVN in the diabetic animals. The number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the PVN showed no

significant difference between the DSM group and CWS group. When diabetic groups were compared, the increased number of fos-immunoreactive neurons seen in the PVN in the DWS and DSS groups was significantly reduced (P<0.0001 and <0.05) by the minocycline treatment. These results suggested that saline \pm minocycline treatment prevented the activation of PVN neurons in STZ diabetic rats.



Chapter Seven:

Figure 7-6. Morphology of microglia in STZ diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing CD11b (OX-42 clone) immunoreactive microglia in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control animals (CWS), diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink with ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with ICV infusion of saline; and diabetic animals (DSM) given 1% NaCl with ICV infusion of minocyclineDotted lines in low-power images (A-C) outline the PVN. High-power images (D-F) show the morphology of microglia in the parvocellular PVN region in detail. OX-42 antibody staining shows microglia with normal morphology with small cell bodies and long fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the CS and DM groups, while activated microglia showing larger cell bodies and shorter, thicker processes are seen in the DS group. Bar = 100 μ m in A–D, 50 μ m in E–H.



Chapter Seven:

Figure 7-7. Fos activity in the PVN in diabetic rats. Photomicrographs showing neuronal nuclei stained with anti-Fos antibody in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control animals (CWS), diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink with ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with ICV infusion of saline; and diabetic animals (DSM) given 1% NaCl with ICV infusion of minocycline.Dotted lines the PVN. Bar = 100 μ m.



Figure 7-8. Effect of saline plus or minus minocycline treatment on microglial and neuronal activation in the paraventricular nucleus of diabetic rats. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control animals (CWS), diabetic animals (DWS) given tap water to drink with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSS) given 1% NaCl solution with an ICV infusion of saline and diabetic animals (DSM) given 1% NaCl with an ICV infusion of minocycline. B: Quantification of Fos-IR positive cell nuclei in the same region. Number of rats = 6 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

7.3 Discussion

There are increasing indications from previous studies that prolonged drinking of normal saline reduced cardiovascular complications in STZ diabetic animals, including cardiac dysfunction (Dai *et al.*, 1994) (chapter 5), but the exact mechanism is still unclear. We previously provided evidence that inflammation in CNS cardiovascular centres plays a key role in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiovascular complications; however, whether the effect of saline intake on cardiovascular complications is mediated by PVN inflammation has not been investigated. Therefore, in this study, we aimed to investigate the effects of 1% NaCl on the cardiovascular function *in vivo*, whether saline intake influences PVN inflammation in longer term (6 weeks) STZ-diabetic rats and whether the inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN can reverse any of the changes seen. The main findings of the present study were that prolonged treatment with 1% NaCl (i) restored elevated end diastolic pressure and (ii) reduced the activation of microglia and neurons in the PVN and that (iii) ICV minocycline further inhibited microglial and neuronal activation and that (iv) this inhibition was accompanied by a further improvement in left ventricular function in STZ diabetic rats.

In the present study, the structure of the left ventricle in diabetic rats treated with saline tended to be normalised when assessed by an echocardiographic approach, although there was no significant difference when functional parameter was measured (E/A ratio). Similarly, a direct evaluation of the left ventricle function demonstrated that saline treatment significantly restores elevated end diastolic pressure in diabetic rats to the level seen in control rats but not dP/dt max. Thus, although 1% NaCl intake did not significantly improve all aspects of left ventricle functions and structure, these data provide evidence confirming an improvement in cardiac function in STZ diabetic rats treated with saline, which is in agreement with previous *ex vivo* studies (Dai *et al.*, 1994); however, how this effect of saline occurs is not known. Interestingly, the improvement observed in cardiac function in diabetic

rats treated with saline was associated with a significant reduction in microglial activation in the PVN when compared to diabetic rats. We previously provided evidence that microglial activation in the PVN contributes to the development of left ventricle dysfunction in STZ diabetic rats. Inhibition of this activation via minocycline improved cardiac function. In addition, in a previous study, we have shown that another CNS cardiovascular centre, the NTS, exhibited microglial activation that was associated with baroreflex dysfunction in STZ diabetic rats at the same stages examined here. Prolonged saline intake reduced the NTS microglial activation and restored the baroreflex dysfunction seen in STZ diabetic rats. Therefore, this current study also supports the hypothesis that drinking saline in long-term STZ diabetic rats can prevent cardiovascular complications through a reduction in PVN inflammation.

To understand the effect of microglial activation in the PVN in diabetic rats treated with saline, we inhibited this activation via ICV minocycline in these animals. We observed that minocycline treatment significantly reduced microglial activation in the PVN when compared to both of the other diabetic groups to the level comparable to control rats, which is consistent with our previous study (chapter 6). As a consequence of this inhibition, diabetic rats treated with saline plus minocycline exhibited a significant improvement in almost all aspects of cardiac performance compared to diabetic groups, and there was no significant difference from the control rats. Because the effect of the combination of saline and minocycline treatment on cardiac function and PVN inflammation was greater when compared to the effect of saline treatment alone in the present study, collectively, these data suggest that changes in the left ventricle function in diabetic groups were paralleled by the levels of microglial activation in the PVN seen in these rats.

Several lines of evidence have suggested that inflammatory changes within the PVN mediate the over-activity of the sympathetic nervous system, which is linked to the pathogenesis of the development of cardiovascular-related diseases, including hypertension, myocardial infarction and heart failure, which are major consequences of diabetes. These inflammatory changes include abnormally increased proinflammatory cytokines. In rats with acute myocardial infarction that is associated with increased sympathetic activity, elevated TNF- α and IL-1ß in the PVN has been reported (Felder et al., 2003; Francis et al., 2004a; Francis et al., 2004b). Microinjection of a TNF- α blocker into the PVN of rats with heart failure has been shown to decrease sympathetic hyperactivity (Guggilam et al., 2008; Kang et al., 2010). This reduction in sympathetic activity normalised left ventricle end diastolic pressure in these animals (Guggilam et al., 2008). In addition, Yu et al. (2007) reported that the microinjection of anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10) into the PVN in rats with heart failure decreased left ventricle end diastolic pressure. Our laboratory demonstrated that microglial activation in the PVN also occurs in animal models of heart failure. As discussed previously, once microglia become activated in response to infection, injury or inflammation of the CNS, they release pro-inflammatory molecules and cytotoxic factors, such as nitric oxide (NO) and TNF-a. Therefore, one possible source of these cytokines is activated microglia. Along with these studies, our data suggest that activated microglia observed in the PVN in diabetic rats may secrete proinflammatory cytokines that activate the sympathetic nerves, and thereby contributes to the cardiac dysfunction seen here.

In addition to the beneficial effect of drinking saline on the cardiac function of STZ diabetic rats, emerging evidence confirms a previous result that kidney function is also improved by saline intake (McDonald *et al.*, 1969). Vallon et al. reported that drinking 1% NaCl for 6 weeks following STZ injection caused a reduction in glomerular hyperfiltration (Vallon *et al.*, 1997). Glomerular hyper-filtration is a risk factor for the development of diabetic nephropathy and renal failure (Mogensen & Christensen, 1984; Mogensen, 1986). In the present study, we did not measure the glomerular filtration rate, but we did measure kidney size. Saline intake tended to reduce kidney hypertrophy in diabetic rats, although there was

no significant difference, which is consistent with a previous study (Vallon et al., 1997). This was also the case when diabetic rats were treated with saline + minocycline. In fact, several studies have reported that increased kidney size is associated with an elevated glomerular filtration rate, as seen in diabetic humans (Christiansen et al., 1981; Gundersen & Mogensen, 1981) and animals (Luippold et al., 2004; Malatiali et al., 2008). It has been suggested that increased kidney size contributes to the glomerular hyperfiltration seen in diabetes (Christiansen, 1984; Bak et al., 2000; Zerbini et al., 2006). Therefore, these data suggest that saline ± minocycline treatment in long-term STZ diabetic rats may blunt renal changes. Our data on plasma osmolality also support this view.

Abnormally high renal sympathetic activation has been implicated in causing glomerular hyper filtration because renal denervation reversed glomerular hyper filtration in STZ diabetic rats (Luippold et al., 2004; Salman et al., 2011). It is well documented that PVN neuronal activation contributes to increased sympathetic nerve discharge observed in several diseases, including hypertension (Allen, 2002), heart failure (Li et al., 2003), water deprivation (Stocker et al., 2005) and chronic hypoxia (Sharpe et al., 2013). Thus, the decreased PVN neuronal activity in diabetic rats treated with saline ± minocycline may explain improved renal changes in diabetic rats.

Elevated vasopressin secretion is another possible mechanism that may induce renal changes seen in diabetic rats (Bouby et al., 1999; Lamarche et al., 1999; Donnelly et al., 2000). Normalization vasopressin secretion has been shown to prevent renal hypertrophy and glomerular hyperfiltration in vasopressin-deficient rats injected with STZ to induce diabetes (Bardoux et al., 1999; Bouby et al., 1999). In the present study, we found a significant increase in plasma osmolarity in diabetic rats compared with the control. Haematocrit and Haemoglobin concentration were also increased in diabetic rats, indicating depletion in blood plasma volume. These results suggest that our diabetic animals were dehydrated. In response

to osmotic stimuli to regulate body fluid balance and blood volume in diabetes, the PVN neurons would cause secretion of vasopressin (Zerbe *et al.*, 1979; Charlton *et al.*, 1988; Brooks *et al.*, 1989; Zheng *et al.*, 2002). In this study, treatment with saline prevented dehydration seen in diabetic animals, and the effects were found to be significant with the combination of saline and minocycline. Therefore, we speculate that decreased PVN neuronal activity by saline \pm minocycline would normalise vasopressin secretion, which may in turn prevent renal hypertrophy.

We previously provided evidence that minocycline treatment not only attenuated microglial activation but also neuronal activation in the PVN in diabetic rats, suggesting that microglial activation induces the secondary and sustained neuronal activity via a positive feedback mechanism. In this study, saline treatment reduced both PVN microglia and neuron activation in diabetic rats, though not completely. Also, the increase in microglial and neuronal activation within the PVN was significantly inhibited by minocycline, which is consistent with our earlier observations. Thus, the present finding supports our interpretation that neuronal activation may be mediated by microglial activation in the PVN.

The mechanisms by which saline intake reduces microglial activation in the PVN are not clearly understood. Increased internal angiotensin II has been found at 6-8 weeks following STZ injection (Anderson *et al.*, 1993). Several reports have established that an increase in the renin-angiotensin system is associated with diabetic cardiomyopathy in experimental and clinical studies (Kumar *et al.*, 2012; Mandavia *et al.*, 2013) and that the inhibition of the renin angiotensin/aldosterone system can improve cardiac dysfunction in STZ diabetic rats (Zheng *et al.*, 2015). In addition, the involvement of the renin-angiotensin system in PVN inflammation has previously been reported. For example, systemic infusion of angiotensin II in naïve rats has been shown to cause hypertension and activate microglial cells in the PVN (Shi *et al.*, 2010a). Interestingly, salt intake has been shown to reduce angiotensin II in

Zucker diabetic fatty rats (Takenaka *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, prolonged drinking of saline may reduce microglial activation indirectly through a reduction in the angiotensin II levels in STZ diabetic rats. Consequently, we presume that elevated angiotensin II may be responsible, at least in part, for cardiac dysfunction seen in diabetic animals and that saline intake reduces angiotensin II, which in turn improves this dysfunction.

7.4 Conclusion

The present study demonstrated that the cardiac and renal complications seen in STZ-induced diabetic rats were prevented by drinking 1% NaCl. Saline treatment also reduces microglial activation in the PVN in diabetic rats. Microglial inhibition in the PVN via ICV minocycline prevents the development of diabetic complications. This strongly suggests that microglial activation within the PVN is involved in the mechanisms of these complications. The beneficial effect of saline intake in diabetic rats was mediated by a reduction in central brain inflammation induced by diabetes; however, the exact mechanism is not clear, and further studies are needed.

Chapter Eight: Neuronal and Microglial Activation in the Cardiovascular Centers of Diabetic Mice: Effect of a High-fat diet and an Antioxidant

8.1 Introduction

As discussed in previous chapters, sympathetic nerve over-activity is widely accepted as a risk factor for several cardiovascular complications related diseases, including hypertension, cardiomyopathy, atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction and stroke. Blocking the increase in nerve activity with beta-blockers has been shown to decrease the mortality rate and improve outcomes for patients following a heart attack (Butler *et al.*, 2006). Elevated sympathetic nerve activity has been characterized in humans and animals with type 1 diabetes mellitus (Refer to chapter 1); however, the cause of this abnormal activation in diabetes is not clear.

Sympathetic nerve activity to the cardiovascular system is controlled via several regions in the brain, including the paraventricular nucleus (PVN). Previously, we have reported that the resident immune cells within CNS, called microglia, become activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats. These cells have been implicated in the development of many neurological disorders, including neuropathic pain. Once they become activated, they release proinflammatory molecules, which have been shown to induce the death of neurons as well as cause neuronal hyperexcitability by increasing excitation and decreasing inhibition in the spinal cord (Sweitzer et al., 1999; Tsuda et al., 2008; Milligan & Watkins, 2009). Moreover, we provided evidence that activated microglia contribute to PVN neuronal hyperexcitability, hypertension and cardiomyopathy in STZ diabetic rats and that the inhibition of microglia in the PVN via minocycline prevents the hypertension and cardiac dysfunction seen in these animals (Refer to chapter 4, 6 and 7). Therefore, we hypothesize that activated microglia may be the cause of PVN neuronal activity, which in turn activates sympathetic drive and contributes to cardiovascular complications; however, whether microglial activation occurs in other species and other models of diabetes is not known. The mouse is the most suitable animal model for genetic manipulations and can also be used in cellular and molecular studies. Therefore, for several reasons, we determined that it was important to examine whether microglia are activated in cardiovascular centres in STZ diabetic mice and the time course of any activation. This would also provide an opportunity to further investigate mechanisms and test the effects of other interventions in CNS inflammation in diabetes.

Hydrogen sulphide (H₂S) donor has been reported to play beneficial roles in cardiovascular diseases, such as hypertension (Zheng *et al.*, 2011) and atherosclerosis (Beltowski *et al.*, 2010), but deficiency in the levels of H₂S in the blood is reported in diabetic humans and STZ diabetic animals (Jain *et al.*, 2010). Several studies have documented that lower levels of H₂S contribute to the development of diabetic complications, including diabetic cardiomyopathy and nephropathy (Lefer, 2008; Szabo, 2012). Interestingly, H₂S has been shown to act as an anti-inflammatory in activated microglia in *vitro* experiments (Hu *et al.*, 2007); however, the effect of the systemic infusion of H₂S on PVN inflammation in STZ mice is not known.

Type II diabetes is the most common form of diabetes in humans, and it has become a serious health problem worldwide. It is characterized by hyperglycemia due to insulin resistance and often associated with obesity in humans. Therefore, whether PVN inflammation contributes to complications of type II diabetes deserves investigation. A high fat diet is a major contributing factor in the pathogenesis of type II diabetes; however, a high fat diet only causes insulin resistance but not hyperglycemia in rodents. Thus, in this study, we combined a high-fat feeding with a low dose of STZ to produce an animal model that is more closely related to human type II diabetes (Reed *et al.*, 2000; Sugano *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2009). Abnormal sympathetic nerve activity has also been implicated in the development of cardiovascular complications in type II diabetic animals (Carlson *et al.*, 2000). Whether similar pathophysiological changes in the PVN as seen in type I diabetic animals may cause this increase in sympathetic nerve activity in models of type II diabetes has not been investigated.

Therefore, in the present study, we examined (i) whether microglia and neurons are activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice, (ii) the time course of microglial and neuronal activation and (iii) the effects of hydrogen sulphide and high-fat feeding on the PVN in these mice.

8.2 Results

8.2.1 Body weights and blood glucose of STZ diabetic mice

At 7 weeks following injection of C57BL6/J mice with STZ (50 mg/kg/day, 5 days), the body weights of diabetic mice (STZ) were found to be significantly lower (P < 0.0001) than the control mice (Figure 8-1A). The body weights of STZ mice treated with Na H₂S (STZ+H₂S) were also significantly lower (P<0.0001) compared with the control mice. There was no significant difference in the body weights between the STZ and STZ+ H₂S groups. Blood glucose levels in STZ and STZ+ H₂S groups were significantly higher (P<0.0001) in comparison to control mice (Figure 8-1B). Hydrogen sulphide had no effect on blood glucose in STZ mice.

In a second study, male FVB/N mice were injected with STZ (50mg/kg/day, 5 days) and maintained for 16 weeks. The body weights of the control mice were significantly greater than in diabetic mice (STZ) (Figure 8-1C). Blood glucose levels in STZ mice were significantly higher (P < 0.0001) than in the control mice (Figure 8-1D). The STZ treatment had less of an effect on body weight in FVB/N mice than in C57BL6/J mice, but the blood glucose levels were similar.

In the final study, at 10 weeks after C57BL6/J mice were injected with STZ (40 mg/kg/day, 5 days), the body weights were not significantly different when compared to the control mice (Figure 8-1E). This was also the case between the control mice and STZ mice with fat feeding (STZ+FF). Fat feeding did not significantly affect the body weight of STZ mice; however, blood glucose levels in STZ mice were significantly higher (P<0.01) compared with control mice, as expected (Figure 8-1F). This was also the case for blood glucose levels in the STZ+FF group (P < 0.0001) compared to the control mice. Fat feeding in STZ mice caused a significant increase in blood glucose levels (P<0.01) compared with STZ-alone
mice. The blood glucose in mice injected with a low dose of STZ alone was lower compared with mice treated with a high dose.







D.





E.



F.



Figure 8-1. Body weights and blood glucose of STZ diabetic mice. Top panel: Body weights (A); and blood glucose levels (B) measured at 7 weeks after injection of mice with either STZ or citrate buffer in control animals, diabetic animals (STZ) or diabetic animals treated with hydrogen sulphide (STZ+ H₂S). Number of mice = 4 in each group. Middle panel: Body weights (C); and blood glucose levels (D) of mice at 16 weeks following treatment with either citrate buffer (control) or STZ. Number of mice = 4 in each group. Bottom panel: Body weights (E); and blood glucose levels (F) measured at 10 weeks after injection of mice with either citrate buffer in control animals or STZ in diabetic animals (STZ) and diabetic animals treated with fat feeding (STZ+FF). Number of mice = 12 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Significance was evaluated using a one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for all comparisons in the top and bottom panels or an unpaired t test in the middle panel. In this and all subsequent figures; * indicates P<0.05; ** indicates P<0.01; *** indicates P<0.001; **** indicates P<0.05; ## indicates P<0.00; ##### indicates P<0.001 for comparisons between diabetic groups.

8.2.2 Plasma osmolarity and haematocrit in STZ diabetic mice

In this study, we measured plasma osmolarity and haematocrit at 7 and 16 weeks after STZ treatment because increased plasma osmolarity and dehydration are implicated in neuronal activation in STZ diabetic rats. We observed a significant increase in plasma osmolarity in STZ mice at 8 weeks (P<0.001) compared to the control mice (Figure 8-2A); however, no significant differences were found in plasma osmolarity between STZ mice treated with H₂S and the control mice. When compared to STZ mice, Na H₂S treatment significantly reduced (P<0.01) plasma osmolarity. At 16 weeks, plasma osmolarity was also significantly higher (P < 0.01) in STZ mice compared to the control mice (Figure 8-2B).

Regarding haematocrit, we found no significant difference in haematocrit between STZ mice and control mice at 7 weeks (Figure 8-2C). Also, the haematocrit was similar between the STZ mice and control mice at later stages (Figure 8-2D). H_2S had no effect on haematocrit in STZ mice.



Figure 8-2. Plasma osmolarity and haematocrit in STZ diabetic mice. Left panel: Plasma osmolarity (A); and Haematocrit (C) measured at 7 weeks after injection of mice with either citrate buffer in control animals or STZ in diabetic animals (STZ) and diabetic animals treated with Na H₂S (STZ+ H₂S). Right panel: Plasma osmolarity (B); and Haematocrit (D) of mice at 16 weeks following treatment with either citrate buffer or STZ. Number of mice = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

8.2.3 CD11b and C-fos Immunohistochemistry in the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic mice

A CD11b antibody was used to identify morphological changes in microglia cells in the PVN in STZ mice. The microglia displayed normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the control mice examined at 7 weeks (Figure 8-3). A similar observation was seen in the PVN in STZ mice with and without H₂S treatment at same stages, although STZ-alone mice appeared to show a more subtle change in microglial morphology. The quantitative analysis of the percentage of microglial activation in the PVN region indicated that no significant differences were found at 7 weeks when comparing STZ mice and control mice (Figure 8-5A). The percentage of activated microglia in the PVN was not significantly affected by H₂S treatment in STZ mice. In the PVN in control mice, the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons was smaller compared to STZ mice at 7 weeks (Figure 8-4). On quantification, we observed a significant increase (P<0.0001) in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons in STZ mice compared to control mice (Figure 8-5B). Interestingly, H₂S treatment was able to be significantly reduce (P<0.0001) fos activity in the PVN in STZ mice.

At later stages (16 weeks), the microglia in the PVN in STZ mice exhibited an activation form with larger cell bodies and thicker processes when compared to control mice (Figure 8-6). The percentage of activated microglia was significantly greater (P<0.0001) in the PVN in STZ mice compared with the control mice (Figure 8-8A). Compared with control mice, the counts of fos-immunoreactive neurons in the PVN showed a greater (P<0.01) level of fos activity in the PVN in STZ mice at this stage (Figure 8-7) (Figure 8-8B).

In the STZ + fat feeding study, microglial cells in the PVN region exhibited normal morphology in control mice at 10 weeks (Figure 8-9). This was also the case in low-dose STZ mice. There was no significant difference in the percentage of activated microglia

between the low-dose STZ and control mice (Figure 8-11A). Fat feeding had no effect on the percentage of microglial activation in low-dose STZ mice. In diabetic mice, a significant increase (P<0.05) in number of fos-immunoreactive neurons was seen in the PVN compared with the control, despite the lower blood glucose in these animals (Figure 8-10) (Figure 8-11B). No significant differences were observed in the number of fos-immunoreactive neurons between the low-dose STZ mice treated with fat feeding and control mice. Low-dose STZ mice treated with fat feeding and control mice. Low-dose STZ mice treated with fat feeding and control mice streated of fos activity when compared to STZ mice on a normal diet.



Control

STZ

Figure 8-3. Morphology of microglia in STZ mice at 7 weeks after STZ treatment. Photomicrographs showing CD11b immunoreactive microglia in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control, diabetic (STZ) and diabetic animals treated with Na H₂S (STZ+ H₂S) at 7 weeks. Dotted lines in low-power images (A, C and E) outline the PVN. High-power images (B, D and F) show the morphology of microglia in the PVN region in detail. Scale bar = 100 μ m.



STZ+H₂S

STZ

Figure 8-4. Fos activity in STZ mice at 7 weeks after STZ treatment. Photomicrographs showing neuronal nuclei stained with anti-Fos antibody in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control, diabetic (STZ) and diabetic animals treated with Na H_2S (STZ+ H_2S) at 7 weeks. Dotted lines outline the PVN. Scale bar = 100 μ m.



Figure 8-5. Microglial and neuronal activation in the paraventricular nucleus of STZ mice at 7 weeks after STZ treatment. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control, diabetic (STZ) and diabetic animals treated with Na H_2S (STZ+ H_2S). B: Quantification of Fos-IR cell nuclei in the same region. Number of mice = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.



Figure 8-1. Morphology of microglia in STZ mice at 16 weeks after STZ treatment. Photomicrographs showing CD11b immunoreactive microglia in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control and diabetic animals (STZ) at 16 weeks. Dotted lines in low-power images (A-B) outline the PVN. High-power images (C-D) show the morphology of microglia in the PVN region in detail. CD11b antibody staining shows microglia with normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region in the control, while activated microglia showing larger cell bodies and thicker processes are seen in the STZ group. Scale bar = 100 μ m in (A-B), 50 μ m in (C-D).



Figure 8-2. Fos activity in STZ mice at 16 weeks after STZ treatment. Photomicrographs showing neuronal nuclei stained with anti-Fos antibody in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control and diabetic animals (STZ) at 16 weeks. Dotted lines outline the PVN. Bar = 100 μ m.



Figure 8-8. Microglial and neuronal activation in the paraventricular nucleus of STZ mice at 16 weeks after STZ treatment. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control and diabetic animals (STZ). B: Quantification of Fos-IR cell nuclei in the same region. Number of mice = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.



Control

STZ

STZ + Fat feeding

Figure 8-9. Morphology of microglia in STZ mice and STZ + Fat Fed mice at 10 weeks following STZ treatment. Photomicrographs showing CD11b immunoreactive microglia in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control, diabetic (STZ) and diabetic + fat feeding animals (STZ + Fat feeding) at 10 weeks. Dotted lines outline the PVN. Images (A-C) show the morphology of microglia in the PVN. CD11b antibody staining in all cases shows microglia with normal morphology with small cell bodies and long, fine-branched processes throughout the PVN region. Scale bar = 100 μ m.



Figure 8-10. Fos activity in STZ mice and STZ + Fat Fed mice at 10 weeks following STZ treatment. Photomicrographs showing neuronal nuclei stained with an anti-Fos antibody in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) in control (A), diabetic (B) and diabetic + fat feeding animals (C) at 10 weeks. Dotted lines outline the PVN. Scale bar = $100 \mu m$.



Figure 8-11. Microglial and neuronal activation in the paraventricular nucleus of STZ mice and STZ + Fat Fed mice at 10 weeks following STZ treatment. A: The percentage of microglia showing activated morphology in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of control, diabetic (STZ) and diabetic + fat feeding animals (STZ+FF). B: Quantification of Fos-IR cell nuclei in the same region. Number of mice = 4 in each group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

8.3 Discussion

We previously provided evidence that PVN microglia become activated in STZ diabetic rats at 6 and 8 weeks following STZ treatment. Despite this, whether PVN inflammation also occurs in other species and other models of diabetes is not known. Therefore, in this study, we aimed to investigate whether microglia are activated in the PVN in diabetic mice at 7 and 16 weeks after STZ injection and whether hydrogen sulphide and high-fat feeding influence PVN inflammation in STZ diabetic mice at 7 and 10 weeks, respectively. The main findings of the present study were that (i) microglia are activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice at 16 weeks after STZ injection but not at 7 weeks or 10 weeks (low-dose STZ), (ii) PVN neuron activation was observed in STZ diabetic mice at all stages examined, suggesting that neuronal activation precedes microglial activity (iii) and both Na H₂S and high-fat feeding treatments inhibited PVN neuron activation in STZ diabetic mice.

It is well-known that microglia are the resident immune inflammatory cells in the central nervous system. Once microglia become activated in response to infection, injury or inflammation of the CNS, they undergo morphological changes and can release proinflammatory molecules and cytotoxic factors, such as nitric oxide and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , which induces neuronal activity (Li *et al.*, 2005b; Shi *et al.*, 2010a). Activated microglia have been implicated in the pathologies of the CNS that are associated with brain inflammation, such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis and neuropathic pain (chapter 1). We previously reported microglial activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats. From our previous studies, we have provided evidence that activated microglia in the PVN and other cardiovascular centres in the brain of STZ diabetic rats are involved in the development of diabetic cardiovascular and renal complications (chapter 4, 5, 6 and 7). This observation complements the findings of other studies on hypertensive animal models (Shi *et al.*, 2011). In the present study in mice, we found that microglial activation in

the PVN was present at 16 weeks but not at 7 weeks after STZ injection. Some STZ diabetic mice (3 out of 4) at the 7 week stage exhibited an increase in the percentage of activated microglia, but the variability was high, suggesting our tests may be underpowered for detecting small differences. At 10 weeks (low-dose STZ), there was no indication of microglial activation. STZ diabetic mice (at 10 weeks) did not show extreme hyperglycaemia, as seen with higher STZ doses at other stages. These findings suggest that microglial activation in the PVN of STZ diabetic mice is dependent on the time course and severity of diabetes.

To clarify the mechanisms of changes in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice, we examined whether PVN neurons were activated in these animals. We found activation of neurons in the nucleus in diabetic mice at all stages tested (7 and 16 weeks). Therefore, the data support our suggestion that microglial activation in the PVN may be secondary to the prolonged intense activation of PVN neurons (Wu & Ling, 1998). Despite this, how diabetes induces this activation in the hypothalamic PVN is not known.

Previously, we and other researchers provided evidence that PVN neuronal activation contributes to the development of cardiovascular diseases, including hypertension and cardiac dysfunction in STZ diabetic rats (chapter 6 and 7). Interestingly, in the present study, systemic treatment with a Na H₂S donor in STZ-diabetic mice (7 weeks) caused the inhibition of PVN neuron activation, which is consistent with other studies, showing that H₂S has a neuroprotective role (Kimura & Kimura, 2004; Kimura *et al.*, 2006; Umemura & Kimura, 2007). No significant difference was seen in the percentage of activated microglia between the STZ and control mice, but we cannot rule out that H₂S also has an inhibition effect on microglia functions. Deficiency in the levels of H₂S has been shown to occur in diabetic humans as well as in STZ-induced diabetic rats (Jain *et al.*, 2010), and this deficiency contributes to the development of diabetic complications (Lefer, 2008; Szabo, 2012).

Although we did not measure cardiovascular changes in the present study, another study has reported that exogenous H₂S reduced blood pressure in diabetic hypertensive rats (Ahmad *et al.*, 2012). This study also reported lower levels of H₂S in these animals compared to the control. In fact, H₂S has anti-inflammatory actions, and several studies have shown that H₂S reduces microglial and neuronal activation *in vitro* (Hu *et al.*, 2007; Umemura & Kimura, 2007; Hu *et al.*, 2009). Combining our results with these studies, we speculate that the effect of H₂S on diabetic cardiovascular complications may be mediated, at least in part, by the inhibition of central inflammation in the PVN; however, the mechanisms through which H₂S reverses the PVN neuronal activity require further investigation.

As discussed previously, hyperglycaemia has been implicated in the increase of the generation of reactive oxygen species in the PVN (Patel *et al.*, 2011) and other brain areas in STZ diabetic rats (Acar *et al.*, 2012; Ola *et al.*, 2014). It is well documented that such an increase in the generation of reactive oxygen species can lead to neuronal activation through an enhanced influx of Ca^{2+} in neurons (Wang *et al.*, 2003; Zimmerman & Davisson, 2004). Reactive oxygen species in dorsal horn neurons have been shown to contribute to neuronal hyperexcitability and the development of neuropathic pain since the administration of antioxidants prevents neuropathic pain-like behaviours (Stevens *et al.*, 2000; Ho *et al.*, 2006). It is well documented that H₂S can protect neurons via its anti-oxidant effects (Kimura & Kimura, 2004; Kimura *et al.*, 2006). In the present study, Na H₂S significantly attenuated the increase in neuronal activation in the PVN without affecting blood glucose levels, as seen in STZ diabetic mice. Therefore, H₂S may reduce neuronal activation indirectly through a reduction in the reactive oxygen species levels in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice.

Another possible mechanism of PVN neuronal activation is the elevation levels of plasma osmolality in diabetic animals (Charlton *et al.*, 1988; Brooks *et al.*, 1989). In the current study, elevated plasma osmolality seen in diabetic mice was reduced to normal levels

following treatment with Na H₂S. Interestingly, a recent study on diabetic hypertensive animals reported that H₂S improved renal function in these animals (Ahmad *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, taken together, these findings suggest that H₂S can prevent hyperglycaemiainduced changes in the function of the kidneys and the PVN. Despite this, whether the H₂S has a direct effect on neurons in the PVN or an indirect effect through preventing kidney damage and increasing plasma osmolarity remains to be determined.

Like type 1 diabetes, type 2 diabetes in animals is also associated with cardiovascular disease and over-activity of the sympathetic nerves that control the cardiovascular system. As discussed previously, PVN inflammation contributes to the development of cardiovascular complications seen in STZ-induced hyperglycaemia in rats (type 1 diabetes), but whether similar changes in the PVN occur in models of type II diabetes is not clear. Therefore, we examined whether microglia and neurons were activated in the CNS cardiovascular centres. In the PVN, there was no significant difference in the percentage of microglia activated in mice treated with a low dose of STZ and high fat feeding, although their blood glucose levels were high compared to the control. Also, we observed no microglial activation in the arcuate nucleus in either low-dose STZ mice or mice treated with a low dose of STZ and high fat feeding, which is in agreement with a previous study from our lab in fat-fed rats and in STZinduced diabetic rats; however, these data are inconsistent with studies that reported that high-fat feeding caused microglial activation in the PVN in mice (de Kloet et al., 2014) and in the arcuate nucleus in rats (Thaler et al., 2012). In these studies, high-fat feeding was accompanied by obesity, but our mice did not become obese following treatment with fat feeding. This may be due to a lower percentage of fat in food used here compared to earlier studies. The differences in the percentage of fat in the diet associated with differences in body weight may explain our data. Therefore, microglial activation in fat-fed animals may be a consequence of obesity that was absent in our model.

Interestingly, the addition of a high-fat diet to the low-dose STZ treatment significantly attenuated the increase in neuronal activation seen in the PVN in low-dose STZ diabetic mice. We have no explanation for this phenomenon, but the systemic infusion of glucose has been shown to excite PVN neurons (Dunn-Meynell *et al.*, 1997). This excitation in the PVN was reversed in diet-induced obese animals (Levin *et al.*, 1998). Collectively, these data suggest that a high-fat diet may reduce central glucose sensitivity; however, how this occurs is not known, and further research is needed.

8.4 Conclusion

The present study demonstrated that neuronal and microglial activation occur in the PVN in STZ-induced diabetic mice. Hydrogen sulphide treatment reduces neuronal activation in the PVN and prevents dehydration in these animals, but it does not significantly affect blood glucose. These findings suggest that the dehydration seen in these animals was not a direct effect of high blood glucose. They also suggest that using hydrogen sulphide can prevent diabetic changes in the function of the PVN. No microglial activation was observed in the cardiovascular centres of the brain in mice treated with a low-dose of STZ and high-fat feeding. These findings suggest that the activation of microglia in the hypothalamus does not occur in all animal models of diabetes. High-fat feeding blocks the neuronal activation seen in the PVN of STZ-treated mice; however, the exact mechanism is not clear, and further studies are needed.

Chapter Nine: General Discussion

Prior to this thesis, it was known that diabetes contributes to defects in the autonomic nervous system (Tesfaye et al., 2010). Impairment of the baroreflex control of heart rate and abnormal increases in the renal sympathetic activity are important candidate mechanisms for the development of diabetic complications, and they contribute to morbidity and mortality in diabetic patients (Ewing et al., 1980; Kempler et al., 2002; El-Menyar, 2006). These abnormalities in the autonomic neurons system are also reported in diabetic animals. Neuroinflammation, including oxidative stress and proinflammatory cytokine release in central autonomic centres, emerged as potentially important contributing factors in the pathogenesis of autonomic dysfunction and its consequences in other diseases. Resident immune cells (microglia and astrocytes) were recognized to play crucial roles in the pathogenesis of several CNS disorders and activated microglia, and astrocytes had been observed in central autonomic centres in diabetic animals; however, little was known about the influence of 1% NaCl, antioxidants and high-fat feeding on microglial activation in central autonomic centres in diabetic animals of different species. More importantly, whether inhibition of activated microglia in the PVN could reduce or prevent cardiovascular changes in STZ diabetic rats was not clear. Therefore, the overall aim of this thesis was to advance our understanding of the mechanisms of deleterious cardiovascular complications in diabetes, and in particular, to address the role of brain inflammation in these complications and the mechanisms of microglial activation in this condition.

The main findings of the present thesis were that (1) microglia and astrocytes are activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats at 6-8 weeks after STZ injection but not at earlier stages; (2) drinking 1% NaCl causes increased microglial activation in the cardiovascular centres, hypertension and dysfunction of bradycardic baroreflex at 2 weeks post STZ treatment in diabetic rats; (3) prolonged drinking of 1% NaCl reduces the activation of microglia in the cardiovascular centres, restores the function of the bradycardic baroreflex and normalises elevated end diastolic pressure at 6 weeks post STZ treatment in diabetic rats; (4) inhibition of microglial activation in the PVN via ICV minocycline infusion prevented the development of diabetic complications in STZ diabetic rats with or without 1% NaCl treatment; (5) microglial activation does not appear to mediate astrocyte activation in the PVN and astrocyte activation may not be associated with the development of diabetic complications in STZ diabetic rats; (6) microglial activation also occurs in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice at later stages than neuronal activation, and at early stages, hydrogen sulphide as well as highfat feeding treatment attenuates PVN neuronal activity.

9.1 Role of neuroinflammation in deleterious cardiovascular complications in diabetes

In chapters 5 and 6, we have shown that both baroreflex sensitively and cardiac function are impaired in STZ diabetic rats compared to control rats. This finding confirms previously published studies on rats (Fazan *et al.*, 1999; Gouty *et al.*, 2001; Schaan *et al.*, 2004; Wichi *et al.*, 2007; Arozal *et al.*, 2009). Baroreflex dysfunction along with sympathetic over-activity are important cardiovascular risk factors in diabetes (Ewing *et al.*, 1980; Kempler *et al.*, 2002; El-Menyar, 2006). In addition, a positive correlation has been shown between diabetic autonomic dysfunction and diabetic cardiac dysfunction (Fang *et al.*, 2004). Thus, an improvement of autonomic function may be a novel strategy for lowering cardiovascular disease risk in diabetic patients. The mechanisms behind the dysregulation of the autonomic nervous system in diabetic rats are not well understood but may include inflammation and changes in central autonomic centres.

We have confirmed the previously published data that microglia are activated in the PVN and NTS in STZ diabetic rats (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, we have observed that microglia become activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice, indicating that a similar mechanism may be responsible for the activation of PVN microglia in both species in diabetes. To understand the role of microglia in the development of diabetic complications, we have inhibited

activated microglia via ICV infusion of minocycline. Our data from **chapters 4, 6 and 7** revealed that minocycline ameliorates diabetic complications of STZ diabetic rats; it reduces the PVN neuronal activity, prevents hypertension, improves cardiac function and protects kidney tissue. The results strongly suggest that cardiovascular and renal pathological processes in diabetes are largely mediated, at least in this time frame, by inflammation in cardiovascular centres of the brain. This finding is consistent with published data about the role of activated microglia in increased neuronal excitability in the CNS (Tsuda *et al.*, 2005) as well as in the development of cardiovascular complications in other diseases (Shi *et al.*, 2010a). Thus, attenuation of microglial activation in the PVN may be a novel strategy for lowering cardiovascular and renal disease risks in diabetes.

Astrocytes are another important cell for mediating inflammation in the CNS. Activated astrocytes release proinflammatory cytokines and have been implicated in spinal neuronal hyperexcitability and consequently the development of diabetic neuropathic pain (Sweitzer *et al.*, 1999; Milligan *et al.*, 2001; Wei *et al.*, 2008). **In chapter 3**, we have confirmed the previous data that astrocytes are activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats (Luo *et al.*, 2002); however, our results indicate that astrocyte activation does not play a crucial role in the development of diabetic complications since the inhibition of microglial activation via ICV minocycline was able to prevent diabetic complications but was not able to inhibit astrocyte activation. Hence, it appears that the functional consequences of astrocyte activation in the PVN may be different from those in the spinal cord (Okada-Ogawa *et al.*, 2009).

Our observations that ICV infused minocycline inhibits PVN inflammation and that this inhibition improves left ventricular and renal changes in STZ diabetic rats beg the question: is the effect of minocycline a result of crossing the blood-brain barrier and acting peripherally rather than exerting its influence in the CNS? The latter view is an unlikely possibility because Bhatt et al. reported that the oral administration of minocycline did not significantly

improve cardiac function in STZ diabetic rats as it did in our study, even though the dose of minocycline used was much greater (50mg/kg) and for the same period compared with our study (Bhatt & Veeranjaneyulu, 2012). Despite this, since minocycline was given orally, it was potentially metabolised in the gut or liver before reaching the rest of the body. Consequently, the concentration of minocycline may not have been sufficient to act on the brain to reverse cardiac function when compared with our study; however, when minocycline was combined with aspirin, which also has anti-inflammatory actions and can enter the CNS, the cardiac function in STZ diabetic rats was improved (Bhatt & Veeranjaneyulu, 2012). This suggests that the beneficial effects of anti-inflammatory drugs in both studies are centrally mediated.

Along with neuroinflammation, there is also evidence that increased oxidative stress mediates neuronal activity in cardiovascular autonomic centres and contributes to the pathogenesis of autonomic dysfunction. Reactive oxygen species have been shown to contribute to neuronal hyperexcitability in the CNS (Stevens et al., 2000; Ho et al., 2006) and to abnormal cardiac reflex function in STZ diabetic rats (Ustinova et al., 2000). In chapter 8, we have shown that the systemic infusion of H₂S reduces neuronal activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice. We also provided evidence that PVN neuronal activation contributes to the development of cardiovascular diseases in STZ diabetic rats (chapters 6 and 7). Deficiency in the levels of H₂S is reported in diabetic humans (Jain et al., 2010), and this deficiency contributes to the development of diabetic complications (Lefer, 2008; Szabo, 2012). Spontaneously, when hypertensive rats were injected with STZ, they showed low levels of H₂S, and when these animals were treated with exogenous H₂S, blood pressure was reduced (Ahmad et al., 2012). It is well documented that H₂S can protect neurons via its anti-oxidant effects (Kimura & Kimura, 2004; Kimura et al., 2006). Therefore, we proposed that H₂S may mediate its beneficial effect on cardiovascular complications through attenuating oxidative stress as well as PVN neuronal activation.

A high-fat diet is a major contributing factor in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetic complications, but whether PVN inflammation contributes to these complications is not clear. **In chapter 8**, we have shown that no microglial activation was observed in the PVN in mice treated with a low dose of STZ and high-fat feeding. These findings suggest that the activation of microglia in the hypothalamus does not occur in all animal models of diabetes. Interestingly, high-fat feeding blocks neuronal activation seen in the PVN of STZ treated mice; however, the exact mechanism is not clear, and further studies are needed.

9.2 The effect of drinking 1% NaCl on cardiovascular parameters and CNS inflammation

Previous data have shown different effects of 1 % NaCl intake on diabetic complications in short and long-term STZ diabetic rats (Dai *et al.*, 1994; Santos *et al.*, 1995; Maeda *et al.*, 2007); however, no previous studies have investigated the effect of drinking 1% NaCl on CNS inflammation and fluid balance in diabetic rats and the contribution of these mechanisms to diabetic complications. Our results from **chapters 4**, **5 and 7** confirm previous studies, indicating that diabetic complications were differentially affected by short (2 weeks) and longer term (6 weeks) treatment of drinking 1% NaCl in STZ diabetic rats (Dai *et al.*, 1994; Santos *et al.*, 1995; Maeda *et al.*, 2007).

Diabetes in patients is commonly associated with hypertension, which is considered the likely cause of developing cardiovascular disease in around 75% of persons with diabetes (Bild & Teutsch, 1987). One major known contributor to the development of hypertension and its consequences in diabetic humans is salt intake (He & MacGregor, 2003; Franz, 2008). Our observation that 2 weeks of treatment with 1% NaCl causes increased blood pressure in STZ diabetic rats (**chapter 4**) is consistent with another study (Maeda *et al.*, 2007). Two weeks of 1% NaCl intake was able to normalise blood volume in these animals. Some evidence suggests that a lack of hypertension in STZ diabetic rats is due to decreased blood volume,

which may explain our findings (Hebden *et al.*, 1986a; De Angelis *et al.*, 2000). Dysfunction in baroreflex sensitivity is also believed to precede hypertension (Grassi *et al.*, 1998; Gao *et al.*, 2002; Salgado *et al.*, 2007; Maliszewska-Scislo *et al.*, 2008). We have shown that 2 weeks of 1% NaCl intake causes dysfunction of the bradycardic baroreflex in STZ diabetic rats compared STZ diabetic rats given tap water. Based on this data, we cannot rule out baroreflex dysfunction as the mechanism for blood pressure changes seen in diabetic rats given 1% NaCl; however, these changes are accompanied by increased microglial activation within the cardiovascular autonomic centres of the brain. The inhibition of activated microglia in the PVN via ICV infusion of the drug minocycline prevents the hypertension seen when 1% NaCl is given. While 1% NaCl seems to act on blood volume increases and/or baroreflex dysfunction to develop hypertension, our data provide strong support for the hypothesis that activation of microglia in the PVN is required for the development of neurogenic hypertension in these diabetic rats, as concluded by Shi in another model of hypertension (Shi *et al.*, 2010a).

In contrast, 6 weeks of treatment with 1% NaCl restored baroreflex sensitivity and improved cardiac function compared to STZ diabetic rats given tap water, confirming the results of a previous study on cardiac function (Dai *et al.*, 1994). While our findings appear to be contradictory to the established dogma, some researchers have demonstrated that very low salt diets have the potential for adverse effects on human patients with diabetes (Ekinci *et al.*, 2011; Thomas *et al.*, 2011) and heart failure (Paterna *et al.*, 2008; Paterna *et al.*, 2009). In fact, the effect of low-salt intake in reducing blood pressure is well documented in humans, but this intervention also increased renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system activity and increased sympathetic nerve over-activity (Graudal *et al.*, 1998; Grassi *et al.*, 2002), both of which can contribute to the development of cardiovascular complications. At 6-8 weeks after STZ treatment, diabetic rats exhibited elevated levels of circulating angiotensin II (Anderson *et al.*, 1993) as well as abnormal sympathetic over-activity (Patel *et al.*, 2011). In our study,

STZ diabetic rats showed dehydration, which is characterised by both water and salt loss, and in the longer term, 1% NaCl intake prevents this dehydration, as seen in shorter term experiments. Therefore, we speculate that cardiovascular changes seen in STZ diabetic rats in this study may be related to salt deficiency and that longer term treatment with 1% NaCl normalises salt levels and consequently prevents diabetic complications in these animals. Interestingly, improved cardiovascular outcomes were associated with reduction in the activation of microglia and neurons in cardiovascular autonomic centres. Therefore, it appears that in both the short and longer term, neuroinflammation is the mechanism that links salt and cardiovascular complications in STZ diabetic rats.

This conclusion is controversial because hypertension is considered a major cause of cardiovascular disease in humans. We have shown that STZ diabetic rats given 1% NaCl develop hypertension in the short term, but the same pattern was also observed in the longer term in another study (Santos *et al.*, 1995). Despite this, in the longer term, drinking 1% NaCl prevents cardiovascular complications of STZ diabetic rats in ours and other studies (McDonald *et al.*, 1969; Dai *et al.*, 1994). These data suggest that 1% NaCl intake provides beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system, even though blood pressure is high in STZ diabetic animals. They also suggest there is no causal link relation between changes in blood pressure and cardiovascular disease in these diabetic animals, as concluded in some studies on diabetic humans (Bild & Teutsch, 1987; Epstein & Sowers, 1992).

9.3 Mechanism of microglial activation in diabetes

This thesis has also shed light on the potential mechanisms by which microglia become activated in the PVN in STZ diabetic animals. It is well-known that microglia become activated following neuronal over excitation (Hathway *et al.*, 2009; Lu *et al.*, 2009). Our results from **chapters 4, 5, 6 and 8** indicated that neuronal activity occurs before microglial activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic animals, suggesting that neuronal activation causes

microglial activation (Rana *et al.*, 2014). Our studies also provided further insight into the mechanisms that initiate the PVN neuronal activity in diabetic animals. Both STZ diabetic rats and mice showed signs of dehydration (**chapters 4, 5, 6 and 8**). This stimulus has been shown to activate PVN neurons in another animal model (Stocker *et al.*, 2004). We have shown that longer term 1% NaCl intake prevents dehydration and also reduces the activation of neurons and microglia in the PVN (**Chapter 7**). Thus, one possible mechanism underling microglial activation is the intense neuronal activity elicited in the PVN by dehydration in STZ diabetic rats.

Another potential mechanism behind PVN neuronal activation may be the increased production of reactive oxygen species in diabetes. Hyperglycaemia has been shown to induce the production of reactive oxygen species in STZ diabetic rats (Nishikawa *et al.*, 2000; Brownlee, 2005). These chemicals are known to increase cytokine production and neuronal hyperactivity in the brain (Stevens *et al.*, 2000; Ho *et al.*, 2006). Our results (**chapter 8**) show that an antioxidant can significantly attenuate the increase in neuronal activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic mice, suggesting that reactive oxygen species play an important role in the PVN neuronal activation seen in STZ diabetic animals; however, the detailed mechanism by which reactive oxygen species elicit PVN neuronal activation in diabetes requires further investigation.

Despite these possible mechanisms, activated microglia have also been shown to cause neuronal over excitation via the release of proinflammatory molecules and reactive oxygen species (Shi *et al.*, 2011; Wu *et al.*, 2012). Our results obtained from **chapters 6 and 7** reveal that ICV minocycline treatment significantly reduces both microglial and neuronal activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic rats. This suggests that neuronal activation may be responsible for initiating microglial activation, but activated microglia may also increase the secondary and sustained neuronal activity via a positive feedback mechanism.

One potential large range positive feedback may involve angiotensin II, which is a hormonal factor that regulates blood pressure and fluid balance during the dehydrated state through stimulating sympathetic nervous activity. This hormone acts on different tissues, including the brain, and has also been shown to be an important mediator of inflammation and oxidative stress in the PVN (Sriramula et al., 2013). In early stages of diabetes, Kalinyak et al. found no change in the levels of angiotensin II in STZ diabetic rats (Kalinyak et al., 1993). In contrast, increased plasma angiotensin II has been found at 6-8 weeks following STZ injection (Anderson et al., 1993). It was reported that the systemic infusion of angiotensin II in naïve rats activates microglial cells in the PVN (Shi et al., 2010a). Our results from chapters 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 show no significant increase in microglial activation in diabetic rats until 6-8 weeks after STZ injection. Therefore, increased angiotensin II levels in STZ diabetic rats may be responsible for microglial activation. Interestingly, drinking 1% NaCl reduced the activation of microglia in the NTS and PVN in STZ diabetic rats (chapters 5 and 7). In fact, salt intake has been shown to reduce angiotensin II in Zucker diabetic fatty rats (Takenaka et al., 2011). Thus, it is likely that 6 weeks of 1% NaCl intake may reduce microglial activation indirectly through a reduction in the angiotensin II levels in STZ diabetic rats.

Another possibility is that peripheral proinflammatory cytokines induce microglial activation in the brain. Previous studies have provided evidence that peripheral proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL- β and TNF- α , lead to microglial activation in the CNS (Wu *et al.*, 2012). Elevated levels of these cytokines in the blood stream are reported in STZ diabetic rats (Ugochukwu & Figgers, 2007). Thus, increased peripheral cytokines, which are also believed to initiate the inflammatory process in the PVN in other models, may also play a role here (Felder *et al.*, 2009; Felder, 2010); however, how this occurs in diabetic animals is not clear, and further studies are needed. Therefore, based on all of these potential mechanisms, we propose the following hypothesis as a mechanism for the development of diabetic complications. Dehydration stimulates PVN neuronal excitation, resulting in the activation of microglia. Alternatively, increased peripheral cytokines and/or peripheral angiotensin II in diabetes lead to an increase in the production of reactive oxygen species. This can directly activate PVN microglial activation, which in turn increases the production of proinflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species. These chemicals would further stimulate neuronal activity in the PVN via a positive feedback mechanism. This increase in the PVN neuronal activity would result in abnormal activation of the sympathetic nerve system, and thereby contributes to the development of diabetic complications.

9.4 Clinical implications

Our observations in this thesis illustrate that STZ-induced hyperglycaemia in a rat model produces several symptoms that mimic those in humans with diabetes, especially the cardiovascular changes. STZ rats exhibit changes in the baroreflex sensitivity and cardiac dysfunction, and these changes are well documented in diabetic humans (**chapters 5 and 6**); however, STZ rats do not show hypertension as seen in humans with diabetes (**chapter 3**). Thus, an STZ rat is an adequate model to investigate the mechanisms of hyperglycaemia induced cardiovascular complications of diabetes, which are independent of hypertension, and to identify possible therapeutic targets.

Because of its consequences for many organ systems, diabetic autonomic neuropathy could be regarded as the most serious complication of diabetes associated with an increased risk of the development of cardiovascular complications. Although several trials have reported that controlling blood glucose levels reduces diabetes related complications, this approach does not completely prevent the development and progression of these complications. Indeed, our finding that inhibiting or reducing microglial activation in cardiovascular autonomic centres
prevents the development of cardiovascular complications in STZ diabetic rats are potentially of substantial clinical importance. While in type 1 diabetic patients, neuronal abnormalities have been found at brain autopsy (Reske-Nielsen *et al.*, 1966), no definitive study of neuroinflammation in diabetic humans has been conducted. Thus, in the clinical setting, future research is needed to investigate whether inflammation in cardiovascular centres of the brain occurs in humans with diabetes. If neuroinflammation is proven, the inhibition of microglial activation will provide an exciting new strategy for treating and preventing diabetic complications and therefore be beneficial for future generations.

This thesis not only provides insights into the mechanisms underlying the development of diabetic complications, it also provides potential therapeutic interventions that differ from the current therapies. We have shown that 1% NaCl intake in the short term increases blood pressure in STZ diabetic rats. It is possible that there is no extreme salt depletion at 2 weeks in STZ diabetic rats, and these rats obtain more salt than they need. Consequently, a high salt intake contributes to an increase in blood pressure. In contrast, drinking 1% NaCl for a longer period produces beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system of STZ diabetic rats. It would be expected that at 6 weeks, STZ diabetic rats excrete larger amounts of salt in their urine than at earlier stages and that drinking 1% NaCl will normalise salt balance and thereby inhibit neuroinflammation and improve the function of the cardiovascular system in these diabetic animals. Such data suggest that both high and low salt intake may be associated with adverse outcomes in diabetes, supporting the complex effects of salt that are evident from epidemiological studies. For example, several studies have shown convincing evidence of the beneficial effect of low salt intake in terms of the reduction in blood pressure and cardiovascular diseases. In the context of type 1 diabetes, dietary salt restriction has also been recommended via many international guidelines (Franz, 2008). This recommendation has been obtained from a clinical study showing that dietary salt restriction reduced hypertension in some but not all patients with type 1 diabetes (Gerdts et al., 1996); however, other clinical

studies have demonstrated that low salt intake enhanced the risk of the development of cardiovascular disease in diabetic patients (Ekinci *et al.*, 2011; Thomas *et al.*, 2011). Consequently, consistent with this data, the beneficial effects of drinking 1% NaCl obtained here and in other studies suggest that dietary sodium restriction, which is usually recommended in the clinical setting, may not be the best treatment strategy for diabetic patients. Therefore, the current recommendation may put diabetic patients at risk for the development of cardiovascular disease and other diabetic complications associated with increased sympathetic nerve activity. More studies are needed to evaluate the most efficacious range of salt intake in these patients. In addition, whether the correction of salt intake may also be effective in preventing cardiovascular complications and CNS inflammation in individual diabetic humans awaits further investigation.

9.5 Future directions

In this thesis, we have demonstrated that microglial activation in the PVN is a major contributing factor in the development of cardiovascular complications in STZ diabetic rats. The data from **chapters 6 and 7** indicated that activated microglia may be in part responsible for increased activity of PVN neurons. Studies have shown that when microglia become activated, they can release many factors, including proinflammatory cytokines, reactive oxygen species, ATP and BDNF, all of which can induce neuronal activity; however, determining which specific stimulus from microglia is generating the results presented in this study requires future experiments.

The data from **chapters 4 and 6** indicated that microglial activation also occurs in the NTS and RVLM, which are involved in cardiovascular regulation and particularly in baroreflex receptor responses. There is evidence that inflammation in the RVLM participates in the development of hypertension in other diseases (Koga *et al.*, 2008; Braga, 2010; Nunes & Braga, 2011; Wu *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, the microinjection of proinflammatory cytokines

(IL-6) into the NTS caused a marked decrease in the baroreceptor sensitivity, which is believed to precede hypertension (Takagishi *et al.*, 2010); however, the role of activated microglia in the NTS and RVLM in the pathology of the cardiovascular complications in diabetic animals is not clear, and further research is required to demonstrate the effect of microglial inhibition in these regions.

As discussed previously, a deficiency in the levels of H_2S is reported in diabetic humans (Jain *et al.*, 2010), and this deficiency contributes to the development of diabetic complications, including diabetic cardiomyopathy and nephropathy (Lefer, 2008; Szabo, 2012). The data from **chapter 8** provided evidence that the systemic infusion of H_2S reduces neuronal activation in the PVN in STZ diabetic animals; however, in this study, the consequences of H_2S on PVN inflammation were not tested due to the lack of microglial activation in short-term STZ diabetic mice. Thus, future experiments should investigate the effect of H_2S treatment on microglial activation as well as cardiovascular changes in long-term STZ diabetic animals.

The data from this thesis has provided evidence that an imbalance of salt intake and excretion in diabetes can have a negative impact on the cardiovascular system via causing CNS inflammation. Due to enhanced urinary excretion in diabetic humans and animals, deficiency in other minerals, such as magnesium, may also occur. Magnesium has received substantial attention for its roles in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases (Kolte *et al.*, 2014). The depletion of magnesium has been reported in patients with type I diabetes (Mooradian & Morley, 1987) and STZ diabetic animals (Soltani *et al.*, 2005). Several studies on STZ diabetic rats have documented that diabetic complications, including hypertension and nephropathy, are improved by treatment with magnesium (Soltani *et al.*, 2005; Parvizi *et al.*, 2014); however, the possibility that increased dietary magnesium could improve cardiac functions in STZ diabetic rats has not been previously investigated. Hence, future experiments could explore whether dietary magnesium can reduce cardiac dysfunction and help prevent neuroinflammation in animal models of diabetes.

9.6 Conclusion

The impact of diabetic complications, such as cardiovascular disease and diabetic kidney disease, on the health and survival of human populations is considerable and is growing worldwide, as the number of people with diabetes is increasing at an alarming rate; however, protecting diabetic patients from these complications remains a challenge in the field, as the exact nature and mechanisms contributing to diabetic complications have not been well defined. This thesis provided convincing evidence that neuroinflammation is a potential mechanism underling the development of diabetic complications. This thesis also improved our understanding of the complex role of salt intake in diabetic complications, providing novel knowledge about the mechanisms by which salt intake contributes to the pathogenesis of cardiovascular complications in diabetes. Indeed, the data presented here may lead to the development of new and better approaches to treating diabetes and its complications.

Chapter Ten: References

- Acar A, Akil E, Alp H, Evliyaoglu O, Kibrisli E, Inal A, Unan F & Tasdemir N. (2012). Oxidative damage is ameliorated by curcumin treatment in brain and sciatic nerve of diabetic rats. *Int J Neurosci* 122, 367-372.
- Agarwal D, Welsch MA, Keller JN & Francis J. (2011). Chronic exercise modulates RAS components and improves balance between pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the brain of SHR. *Basic Res Cardiol* **106**, 1069-1085.
- Ahmad F & Goldstein BJ. (1995). Increased abundance of specific skeletal muscle proteintyrosine phosphatases in a genetic model of insulin-resistant obesity and diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* **44**, 1175-1184.
- Ahmad FuD, Sattar MA, Rathore HA, Abdullah MH, Tan S, Abdullah NA & Johns EJ. (2012). Exogenous hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) reduces blood pressure and prevents the progression of diabetic nephropathy in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Ren Fail* **34**, 203-210.
- Al-Magableh MR, Kemp-Harper BK & Hart JL. (2015). Hydrogen sulfide treatment reduces blood pressure and oxidative stress in angiotensin II-induced hypertensive mice. *Hypertens Res* **38**, 13-20.
- Albers J, Kenny D, Brown M, Greene D, Cleary P, Lachin J & Nathan D. (1995). Effect of intensive diabetes treatment on nerve conduction in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. *Ann Neurol* **38**, 869-880.
- Alberti KGM, Zimmet P & Shaw J. (2007). International Diabetes Federation: a consensus on Type 2 diabetes prevention. *Diabet Med* 24, 451-463.
- Allen AM. (2002). Inhibition of the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus in spontaneously hypertensive rats dramatically reduces sympathetic vasomotor tone. *Hypertension* **39**, 275-280.
- Aloisi F, Carè A, Borsellino G, Gallo P, Rosa S, Bassani A, Cabibbo A, Testa U, Levi G & Peschle C. (1992). Production of hemolymphopoietic cytokines (IL-6, IL-8, colonystimulating factors) by normal human astrocytes in response to IL-1 beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J Immunol* 149, 2358-2366.
- Anderson S, Jung FF & Ingelfinger JR. (1993). Renal renin-angiotensin system in diabetes: functional, immunohistochemical, and molecular biological correlations. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 265, F477-F486.

- Andresen M, Doyle M, Bailey T & Jin Y-H. (2004). Differentiation of autonomic reflex control begins with cellular mechanisms at the first synapse within the nucleus tractus solitarius. *Braz J Med Biol Res* **37**, 549-558.
- Andresen MC & Kunze DL. (1994). Nucleus tractus solitarius-gateway to neural circulatory control. *Annu Rev Physiol* 56, 93-116.
- Aneja A, Tang WW, Bansilal S, Garcia MJ & Farkouh ME. (2008). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: insights into pathogenesis, diagnostic challenges, and therapeutic options. *Am J Med* **121**, 748-757.
- Aronson D & Burger AJ. (2002). Concomitant β -blocker therapy is associated with a lower occurrence of ventricular arrhythmias in patients with decompensated heart failure. *J Card Fail* **8**, 79-85.
- Arozal W, Watanabe K, Veeraveedu PT, Ma M, Thandavarayan RA, Suzuki K, Tachikawa H, Kodama M & Aizawa Y. (2009). Effects of angiotensin receptor blocker on oxidative stress and cardio-renal function in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Biol Pharm Bull* 32, 1411-1416.
- Asbun J & Villarreal FJ. (2006). The pathogenesis of myocardial fibrosis in the setting of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **47**, 693-700.
- Ashwell K. (1991). The distribution of microglia and cell death in the fetal rat forebrain. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 58, 1-12.
- Atlas ID. (2011). global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2011 and 2030/D. Whiting, L. Guariguata, C. Weil, J. Shaw. *Diabet Res Clin Pract* **94**, 311-321.
- Augustyniak RA, Tuncel M, Zhang W, Toto RD & Victor RG. (2002). Sympathetic overactivity as a cause of hypertension in chronic renal failure. *J Hypertens* **20**, 3-9.
- Babcock AA, Kuziel WA, Rivest S & Owens T. (2003). Chemokine expression by glial cells directs leukocytes to sites of axonal injury in the CNS. *J Neurosci* 23, 7922-7930.
- Badoer E. (2000). Hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus and cardiovascular regulation. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **28**, 95-99.
- Badoer E. (2010). Role of the hypothalamic PVN in the regulation of renal sympathetic nerve activity and blood flow during hyperthermia and in heart failure. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **298**, F839-846.

- Badoer E, McKinlay D, Trigg L & McGrath B. (1997). Distribution of activated neurons in the rabbit brain following a volume load. *Neuroscience* **81**, 1065-1077.
- Badoer E, McKinley MJ, Oldfield BJ & McAllen RM. (1993). A comparison of hypotensive and non-hypotensive hemorrhage on Fos expression in spinally projecting neurons of the paraventricular nucleus and rostral ventrolateral medulla. *Brain Res* **610**, 216-223.
- Badoer E & Merolli J. (1998). Neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus that project to the rostral ventrolateral medulla are activated by haemorrhage. *Brain Res* **791**, 317-320.
- Bailey SL, Carpentier PA, McMahon EJ, Begolka WS & Miller SD. (2006). Innate and adaptive immune responses of the central nervous system. *Crit Rev Immunol* **26**, 149-188.
- Bak M, Thomsen K, Christiansen T & Flyvbjerg A. (2000). Renal enlargement precedes renal hyperfiltration in early experimental diabetes in rats. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **11**, 1287-1292.
- Balasubramaniam B, Carter DA, Mayer EJ & Dick AD. (2009). Microglia derived IL-6 suppresses neurosphere generation from adult human retinal cell suspensions. *Exp Eye Res* **89**, 757-766.
- Banks W, Kastin A & Broadwell R. (1995). Passage of cytokines across the blood-brain barrier. *Neuroimmunomodulation* **2**, 241-248.
- Bardoux P, Martin H, Ahloulay M, Schmitt F, Bouby N, Trinh-Trang-Tan M-M & Bankir L. (1999). Vasopressin contributes to hyperfiltration, albuminuria, and renal hypertrophy in diabetes mellitus: study in vasopressin-deficient Brattleboro rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 10397-10402.
- Barringer DL & Bunag RD. (1990). Differential anesthetic depression of chronotropic baroreflexes in rats. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* **15**, 10-15.
- Baxter AG & Duckworth RC. (2004). Models of type 1 (autoimmune) diabetes. *Drug Discov Today Dis Models* **1**, 451-455.
- Baydas G, Nedzvetskii VS, Tuzcu M, Yasar A & Kirichenko SV. (2003). Increase of glial fibrillary acidic protein and S-100B in hippocampus and cortex of diabetic rats: effects of vitamin E. *Eur J Pharmacol* **462**, 67-71.

- Bealer SL & Metcalf CS. (2005). Increased dietary sodium enhances activation of neurons in the medullary cardiovascular pathway during acute sodium loading in the rat. *Auton Neurosci* **117**, 33-40.
- Belke DD, Swanson EA & Dillmann WH. (2004). Decreased sarcoplasmic reticulum activity and contractility in diabetic db/db mouse heart. *Diabetes* **53**, 3201-3208.
- Bell DS. (2003). Heart Failure The frequent, forgotten, and often fatal complication of diabetes. *Diabetes care* **26**, 2433-2441.
- Beltowski J, Jamroz-Wisniewska A & Tokarzewska D. (2010). Hydrogen sulfide and its modulation in arterial hypertension and atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Hematol Agents Med Chem* **8**, 173-186.
- Benarroch EE. (2010). Central neuron-glia interactions and neuropathic pain. *Neurology* **75**, 273-278.
- Benveniste EN. (1992). Inflammatory cytokines within the central nervous system: sources, function, and mechanism of action. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **263**, C1-C16.
- Bhatt L & Veeranjaneyulu A. (2012). A therapeutic approach to treat cardiovascular dysfunction of diabetes. *Exp Toxicol Pathol* **64**, 847-853.
- Bi XL, Yang JY, Dong YX, Wang JM, Cui YH, Ikeshima T, Zhao YQ & Wu CF. (2005). Resveratrol inhibits nitric oxide and TNF-α production by lipopolysaccharideactivated microglia. *Int Immunopharmacol* **5**, 185-193.
- Bidasee KR, Zheng H, Shao C-H, Parbhu SK, Rozanski GJ & Patel KP. (2008). Exercise training initiated after the onset of diabetes preserves myocardial function: effects on expression of β -adrenoceptors. *J Appl Physiol* **105**, 907-914.
- Biggs JE, Lu VB, Stebbing MJ, Balasubramanyan S & Smith PA. (2010). Is BDNF sufficient for information transfer between microglia and dorsal horn neurons during the onset of central sensitization? *Mol Pain* **6**, 44.
- Bild D & Teutsch S. (1987). The control of hypertension in persons with diabetes: a public health approach. *Public Health Rep* **102**, 522.
- Biscaro B, Lindvall O, Tesco G, Ekdahl CT & Nitsch RM. (2012). Inhibition of microglial activation protects hippocampal neurogenesis and improves cognitive deficits in a transgenic mouse model for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurodegener Dis* **9**, 187-198.

- Block ML, Zecca L & Hong J-S. (2007). Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **8**, 57-69.
- Bluestone JA, Herold K & Eisenbarth G. (2010). Genetics, pathogenesis and clinical interventions in type 1 diabetes. *Nature* **464**, 1293-1300.
- Borges GR, De Oliveira M, Salgado HC & Fazan R. (2006). Myocardial performance in conscious streptozotocin diabetic rats. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* **5**, 26.
- Bouby N, Hassler C & Bankir L. (1999). Contribution of vasopressin to progression of chronic renal failure: study in Brattleboro rats. *Life Sci* 65, 991-1004.
- Boudina S & Abel ED. (2007). Diabetic cardiomyopathy revisited. *Circulation* **115**, 3213-3223.
- Braga VA. (2010). Dietary salt enhances angiotensin-II-induced superoxide formation in the rostral ventrolateral medulla. *Auton Neurosci* **155**, 14-18.
- Brambilla R, Bracchi-Ricard V, Hu WH, Frydel B, Bramwell A, Karmally S, Green EJ & Bethea JR. (2005). Inhibition of astroglial nuclear factor κB reduces inflammation and improves functional recovery after spinal cord injury. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**, 145-156.
- Brambilla R, Persaud T, Hu X, Karmally S, Shestopalov VI, Dvoriantchikova G, Ivanov D, Nathanson L, Barnum SR & Bethea JR. (2009). Transgenic inhibition of astroglial NF-κB improves functional outcome in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by suppressing chronic central nervous system inflammation. *J Immunol* **182**, 2628-2640.
- Brooks DP, Nutting DF, Crofton JT & Share L. (1989). Vasopressin in rats with genetic and streptozocin-induced diabetes. *Diabetes* **38**, 54-57.
- Brooks VL, Haywood JR & Johnson AK. (2005). Translation of salt retention to central activation of the sympathetic nervous system in hypertension. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **32**, 426-432.
- Brownlee M. (2001). Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. *Nature* **414**, 813-820.
- Brownlee M. (2005). The pathobiology of diabetic complications a unifying mechanism. *Diabetes* 54, 1615-1625.
- Bunag R, Tomita T & Sasaki S. (1982). Streptozotocin diabetic rats are hypertensive despite reduced hypothalamic responsiveness. *Hypertension* **4**, 556-565.

- Bush TG, Puvanachandra N, Horner CH, Polito A, Ostenfeld T, Svendsen CN, Mucke L, Johnson MH & Sofroniew MV. (1999). Leukocyte infiltration, neuronal degeneration, and neurite outgrowth after ablation of scar-forming, reactive astrocytes in adult transgenic mice. *Neuron* 23, 297-308.
- Butler J, Young JB, Abraham WT, Bourge RC, Adams KF, Clare R & O'Connor C. (2006). Beta-blocker use and outcomes among hospitalized heart failure patients. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **47**, 2462-2469.
- Cade WT. (2008). Diabetes-related microvascular and macrovascular diseases in the Phys Ther setting. *Phys Ther* **88**, 1322-1335.
- Callaghan BC, Cheng HT, Stables CL, Smith AL & Feldman EL. (2012). Diabetic neuropathy: clinical manifestations and current treatments. *Lancet Neurol* **11**, 521-534.
- Cameron N, Tuck Z, McCabe L & Cotter M. (2001). Effects of the hydroxyl radical scavenger, dimethylthiourea, on peripheral nerve tissue perfusion, conduction velocity and nociception in experimental diabetes. *Diabetologia* **44**, 1161-1169.

Campese VM. (1994). Salt sensitivity in hypertension. Hypertension 23, 531-550.

- Campese VM, Romoff MS, Levitan D, Saglikes Y, Friedler RM & Massry SG. (1982). Abnormal relationship between sodium intake and sympathetic nervous system activity in salt-sensitive patients with essential hypertension. *Kidney Int* **21**, 371-378.
- Cao J, Vecoli C, Neglia D, Tavazzi B, Lazzarino G, Novelli M, Masiello P, Wang Y-t, Puri N & Paolocci N. (2012). Cobalt-protoporphyrin improves heart function by blunting oxidative stress and restoring NO synthase equilibrium in an animal model of experimental diabetes. *Front Physiol* **3**, 160.
- Card JP, Sved JC, Craig B, Raizada M, Vazquez J & Sved AF. (2006). Efferent projections of rat rostroventrolateral medulla C1 catecholamine neurons: Implications for the central control of cardiovascular regulation. *J Comp Neurol* **499**, 840-859.
- Carlson SH, Shelton J, White CR & Wyss JM. (2000). Elevated sympathetic activity contributes to hypertension and salt sensitivity in diabetic obese Zucker rats. *Hypertension* **35**, 403-408.
- Carty M & Bowie AG. (2011). Evaluating the role of Toll-like receptors in diseases of the central nervous system. *Biochem Pharmacol* **81**, 825-837.

- Casto R & Phillips M. (1986). Angiotensin II attenuates baroreflexes at nucleus tractus solitarius of rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **250**, R193-R198.
- Cechetto DF & Saper CB. (1988). Neurochemical organization of the hypothalamic projection to the spinal cord in the rat. *The J Comp Neurol* **272**, 579-604.
- Charlton J, Thompson C & Baylis P. (1988). Possible mechanisms responsible for the rise in plasma vasopressin associated with diabetic ketoacidosis in the rat. *J Endocrinol* **116**, 343-348.
- Chen QH & Toney GM. (2009). Excitability of paraventricular nucleus neurones that project to the rostral ventrolateral medulla is regulated by small-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channels. *J Physiol* **587**, 4235-4247.
- Cheng X, Cheng XS, Kuo K-H & Pang CC. (2004). Inhibition of iNOS augments cardiovascular action of noradrenaline in streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *Cardiovasc Res* **64**, 298-307.
- Chobanian AV & Hill M. (2000). National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Workshop on Sodium and Blood Pressure: a critical review of current scientific evidence. *Hypertension* **35**, 858-863.
- Choi KM, Zhong Y, Hoit BD, Grupp IL, Hahn H, Dilly KW, Guatimosim S, Lederer WJ & Matlib MA. (2002). Defective intracellular Ca2+ signaling contributes to cardiomyopathy in Type 1 diabetic rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 283, H1398-H1408.
- Christiansen JS. (1984). On the pathogenesis of the increased glomerular filtration rate in short-term insulin-dependent diabetes. *Dan Med Bull* **31**, 349-361.
- Christiansen JS, Gammelgaard J, Frandsen M & Parving H-H. (1981). Increased kidney size, glomerular filtration rate and renal plasma flow in short-term insulin-dependent diabetics. *Diabetologia* **20**, 451-456.
- Colagiuri S, Brnabic A, Gomez M, Fitzgerald B, Buckley A & Colagiuri R. (2009). *DiabCos t Australia: Type 1: assessing the burden of type 1 diabetes in Australia*. Canberra: Diabetes Australia.
- Colombari E, Colombari DS, Li H, Shi P, Dong Y, Jiang N, Raizada MK, Sumners C, Murphy D & Paton JF. (2010). Macrophage migration inhibitory factor in the paraventricular nucleus plays a major role in the sympathoexcitatory response to salt. *Hypertension* 56, 956-963.

- Colton CA & Gilbert DL. (1987). Production of superoxide anions by a CNS macrophage, the microglia. *FEBS Lett* **223**, 284-288.
- Control D & Group CTR. (1993). The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* **329**, 977-986.
- Coyle DE. (1998). Partial peripheral nerve injury leads to activation of astroglia and microglia which parallels the development of allodynic behavior. *Glia* **23**, 75-83.
- Cross A, Cannella B, Brosnan C & Raine C. (1990). Homing to central nervous system vasculature by antigen-specific lymphocytes. I. Localization of 14C-labeled cells during acute, chronic, and relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Lab Invest* 63, 162.
- Cuadros MA, Martin C, Coltey P, Almendros A & Navascues J. (1993). First appearance, distribution, and origin of macrophages in the early development of the avian central nervous system. *The J Comp Neurol* **330**, 113-129.
- Dai S, Fraser H, Yuen VG & McNeill JH. (1994). Improvement in cardiac function in streptozotocin-diabetic rats by salt loading. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* **72**, 1288-1293.
- Dall'Ago P, Silva V, De Angelis K, Irigoyen M, Fazan Jr R & Salgado H. (2002). Reflex control of arterial pressure and heart rate in short-term streptozotocin diabetic rats. *Braz J Med Biol Res* **35**, 843-849.
- Dampney R. (1994). Functional organization of central pathways regulating the cardiovascular system. *Physiol Rev* **74**, 323-364.
- Dampney R, Horiuchi J, Killinger S, Sheriff M, Tan P & McDowall L. (2005). Long-term regulation of arterial blood pressure by hypothalamic nuclei: some critical questions. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **32**, 419-425.
- Danaei G, Finucane MM, Lu Y, Singh GM, Cowan MJ, Paciorek CJ, Lin JK, Farzadfar F, Khang Y-H & Stevens GA. (2011). National, regional, and global trends in fasting plasma glucose and diabetes prevalence since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 370 country-years and 2.7 million participants. *Lancet* **378**, 31-40.
- Danielsen R, Nordrehaug JE, Lien E & Vik-Mo H. (1987). Subclinical left ventricular abnormalities in young subjects with long-term type 1 diabetes mellitus detected by digitized M-mode echocardiography. *Am J Cardiol* **60**, 143-146.

- Davalos D, Grutzendler J, Yang G, Kim JV, Zuo Y, Jung S, Littman DR, Dustin ML & Gan W-B. (2005). ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo. *Nat Neurosci* 8, 752-758.
- De Angelis K, Oliveira A, Dall'Ago P, Peixoto L, Gadonski G, Lacchini S, Fernandes T & Irigoyen M. (2000). Effects of exercise training on autonomic and myocardial dysfunction in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. *Braz J Med Biol Res* **33**, 635-641.
- De Kloet AD, Pioquinto DJ, Nguyen D, Wang L, Smith JA, Hiller H & Sumners C. (2014). Obesity induces neuroinflammation mediated by altered expression of the renin-angiotensin system in mouse forebrain nuclei. *Physiol Behav***136**, 31-38.
- Deering J & Coote J. (2000). Paraventricular Neurones Elicit a Volume Expansion-Like Change of Activity in Sympathetic Nerves to the Heart and Kidney in the Rabbit. *Exp Physiol* **85**, 177-186.
- Del Rio-Hortega P & Penfield W. (1932). Microglia in: *Cytology and Cellular Pathology of the Nervous System*. New York: Hoeber, 482-534.
- Deshpande AD, Harris-Hayes M & Schootman M. (2008). Epidemiology of diabetes and diabetes-related complications. *Phys Ther* **88**, 1254-1264.
- Dhalla NS, Rangi S, Zieroth S & Xu Y-J. (2012). Alterations in sarcoplasmic reticulum and mitochondrial functions in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Exp Clin Cardiol* **17**, 115.
- Dhalla NS, Takeda N, Rodriguez-Leyva D & Elimban V. (2014). Mechanisms of subcellular remodeling in heart failure due to diabetes. *Heart Fail Rev* **19**, 87-99.
- DiabetesControl & Group CTR. (1998). The effect of intensive diabetes therapy on measures of autonomic nervous system function in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT). *Diabetologia* **41**, 416-423.
- Diamant M, Lamb HJ, Groeneveld Y, Endert EL, Smit JW, Bax JJ, Romijn JA, de Roos A & Radder JK. (2003). Diastolic dysfunction is associated with altered myocardial metabolism inasymptomatic normotensive patients with well-controlled type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **42**, 328-335.
- Doba N & Reis DJ. (1973). Acute fulminating neurogenic hypertension produced by brainstem lesions in the rat. *Circ Res* **32**, 584-593.
- Dong Y & Benveniste EN. (2001). Immune function of astrocytes. *Glia* **36**, 180-190.

- Donnelly R, Emslie-Smith AM, Gardner ID & Morris AD. (2000). ABC of arterial and venous disease: vascular complications of diabetes. *Br Med J* **320**, 1062.
- Dringen R, Gutterer JM & Hirrlinger J. (2000). Glutathione metabolism in brain. *Eur J Biochem* 267, 4912-4916.
- Du Y, Ma Z, Lin S, Dodel RC, Gao F, Bales KR, Triarhou LC, Chernet E, Perry KW & Nelson DL. (2001). Minocycline prevents nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the MPTP model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 98, 14669-14674.
- Dunn-Meynell A, Govek E & Levin B. (1997). Intracarotid glucose selectively increases Foslike immunoreactivity in paraventricular, ventromedial and dorsomedial nuclei neurons. *Brain Res* **748**, 100-106.
- Dworak M, Stebbing M, Kompa AR, Rana I, Krum H & Badoer E. (2012). Sustained activation of microglia in the hypothalamic PVN following myocardial infarction. *Auton Neurosci* **169**, 70-76.
- Dworak M, Stebbing M, Kompa AR, Rana I, Krum H & Badoer E. (2014). Attenuation of microglial and neuronal activation in the brain by ICV minocycline following myocardial infarction. *Auton Neurosci* **185**, 43-50.
- Echtenkamp SF & Anderson AC. (1988). Baroreflex modulation by cardiopulmonary receptors during chronic sodium depletion. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 254, H905-H911.
- Eckberg DL, Harkins SW, Fritsch JM, Musgrave G & Gardner D. (1986). Baroreflex control of plasma norepinephrine and heart period in healthy subjects and diabetic patients. *J Clin Invest* **78**, 366.
- Eglitis MA & Mezey É. (1997). Hematopoietic cells differentiate into both microglia and macroglia in the brains of adult mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**, 4080-4085.
- Ekinci EI, Clarke S, Thomas MC, Moran JL, Cheong K, MacIsaac RJ & Jerums G. (2011). Dietary salt intake and mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes care* **34**, 703-709.
- El-Menyar AA. (2006). Dysrhythmia and electrocardiographic changes in diabetes mellitus: pathophysiology and impact on the incidence of sudden cardiac death. *J Cardiovasc Med* **7**, 580-585.

- El-Omar MM, Lord R, Draper NJ & Shah AM. (2003). Role of nitric oxide in posthypoxic contractile dysfunction of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Eur J Heart Fail* **5**, 229-239.
- Engelgau MM, Geiss LS, Saaddine JB, Boyle JP, Benjamin SM, Gregg EW, Tierney EF, Rios-Burrows N, Mokdad AH, Ford ES, Imperatore G & Narayan KM. (2004). The evolving diabetes burden in the United States. *Ann Intern Med* **140**, 945-950.
- Epstein M & Sowers JR. (1992). Diabetes mellitus and hypertension. *Hypertension* **19**, 403-418.
- Esler M. (2000). The sympathetic system and hypertension. *American J Hypertens* **13**, 99S-105S.
- Esler M. (2011). The sympathetic nervous system through the ages: from Thomas Willis to resistant hypertension. *Exp Physiol* **96**, 611-622.
- Esler M & Kaye D. (2000). Sympathetic nervous system activation in essential hypertension, cardiac failure and psychosomatic heart disease. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* **35**, S1-S7.
- Ewing D, Campbell I & Clarke B. (1980). The natural history of diabetic autonomic neuropathy. *QJM* **49**, 95-108.
- Fang KM, Yang CS, Sun SH & Tzeng SF. (2009). Microglial phagocytosis attenuated by short-term exposure to exogenous ATP through P2X7 receptor action. J Neurochem 111, 1225-1237.
- Fang ZY, Prins JB & Marwick TH. (2004). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: evidence, mechanisms, and therapeutic implications. *Endocr Rev* 25, 543-567.
- Farah VdMA, De Angelis K, Joaquim LF, Candido GO, Bernardes N, Fazan Jr R, Schaan BDA & Irigoyen M-C. (2007). Autonomic modulation of arterial pressure and heart rate variability in hypertensive diabetic rats. *Clinics* 62, 477-482.
- Farina C, Aloisi F & Meinl E. (2007). Astrocytes are active players in cerebral innate immunity. *Trends Immunol* **28**, 138-145.
- Fazan Jr R, da Silva VJD, Ballejo G & Salgado HC. (1999). Power spectra of arterial pressure and heart rate in streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rats. *J Hypertens* **17**, 489-495.
- Fazan R, Ballejo G, Salgado MCO, Moraes MF & Salgado HC. (1997). Heart rate variability and baroreceptor function in chronic diabetic rats. *Hypertension* **30**, 632-635.

- Fedoroff S, Zhai R & Novak JP. (1997). Microglia and astroglia have a common progenitor cell. *J Neurosci Res* **50**, 477-486.
- Felder RB. (2010). Mineralocorticoid receptors, inflammation and sympathetic drive in a rat model of systolic heart failure. *Exp Physiol* **95**, 19-25.
- Felder RB, Francis J, Zhang ZH, Wei SG, Weiss RM & Johnson AK. (2003). Heart failure and the brain: new perspectives. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 284, R259-R276.
- Felder RB, Yu Y, Zhang ZH & Wei SG. (2009). Pharmacological treatment for heart failure: a view from the brain. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* **86**, 216-220.
- Fernandes A, Miller-Fleming L & Pais TF. (2014). Microglia and inflammation: conspiracy, controversy or control? *Cellular and Molecular Life Sci* **71**, 3969-3985.
- Ferrari A, Gordon F & Mark A. (1984). Impairment of cardiopulmonary baroreflexes in Dahl salt-sensitive rats fed low salt. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **247**, H119-H123.
- Ferrari D, Villalba M, Chiozzi P, Falzoni S, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P & Di Virgilio F. (1996). Mouse microglial cells express a plasma membrane pore gated by extracellular ATP. *J Immunol* 156, 1531-1539.
- Floras JS. (2009). Sympathetic nervous system activation in human heart failure: clinical implications of an updated model. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **54**, 375-385.
- Fonseca VA. (2003). Management of diabetes mellitus and insulin resistance in patients with cardiovascular disease. *Am J Cardiol* **92**, 50-60.
- Forbes JM & Cooper ME. (2013). Mechanisms of diabetic complications. *Physiol Rev* 93, 137-188.
- Fowler MJ. (2008). Microvascular and macrovascular complications of diabetes. *Clin Diabetes* **26**, 77-82.
- Francis GS. (2001). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: fact or fiction? Heart 85, 247-248.
- Francis J, Chu Y, Johnson AK, Weiss RM & Felder RB. (2004a). Acute myocardial infarction induces hypothalamic cytokine synthesis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **286**, H2264-H2271.

- Francis J, Zhang ZH, Weiss RM & Felder RB. (2004b). Neural regulation of the proinflammatory cytokine response to acute myocardial infarction. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **287**, H791-H797.
- Franz M. (2008). American Diabetes Association Nutrition Recommendations and Guidelines. *Diabetes Care* **31**, S61-S78.
- Frattola A, Parati G, Gamba P, Paleari F, Mauri G, Di Rienzo M, Castiglioni P & Mancia G. (1997). Time and frequency domain estimates of spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity provide early detection of autonomic dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 40, 1470-1475.
- Frontoni S, Bracaglia D & Gigli F. (2005). Relationship between autonomic dysfunction, insulin resistance and hypertension, in diabetes. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* **15**, 441-449.
- Gao SA, Johansson M, Rundqvist B, Lambert G, Jensen G & Friberg P. (2002). Reduced spontaneous baroreceptor sensitivity in patients with renovascular hypertension. J Hypertens 20, 111-116.
- Geerling JC & Loewy AD. (2007). Sodium depletion activates the aldosterone-sensitive neurons in the NTS independently of thirst. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **292**, R1338-R1348.
- Gehrmann J, Matsumoto Y & Kreutzberg GW. (1995). Microglia: intrinsic immuneffector cell of the brain. *Brain Res Rev* 20, 269-287.
- Geiss LS HW, Smith PJ. (1995). Mortality in non-insulin-dependent diabetes. In: National Diabetes Data Group, eds Diabetes in America 2nd edBethesda, Md: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, 233-57.
- Gerdts E, Svarstad E, Myking O, Lund-Johansen P & Omvik P. (1996). Salt sensitivity in hypertensive type-1 diabetes mellitus. *Blood Press* **5**, 78-85.
- Giacco F & Brownlee M. (2010). Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. *Circ Res* **107**, 1058-1070.
- Gologorsky D, Thanos A & Vavvas D. (2012). Therapeutic interventions against inflammatory and angiogenic mediators in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. *Mediators Inflamm* **2012**, 629452.

- Gordon FJ, Matsuguchi H & Mark AL. (1981). Abnormal baroreflex control of heart rate in prehypertensive and hypertensive Dahl genetically salt-sensitive rats. *Hypertension* **3**, 1135.
- Gouty S, Regalia J & Helke CJ. (2001). Attenuation of the afferent limb of the baroreceptor reflex in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Auton Neurosci* **89**, 86-95.
- Grassi G, Cattaneo BM, Seravalle G, Lanfranchi A & Mancia G. (1998). Baroreflex control of sympathetic nerve activity in essential and secondary hypertension. *Hypertension* **31**, 68-72.
- Grassi G, Dell'Oro R, Seravalle G, Foglia G, Trevano FQ & Mancia G. (2002). Short-and long-term neuroadrenergic effects of moderate dietary sodium restriction in essential hypertension. *Circulation* **106**, 1957-1961.
- Graudal NA, Galløe AM & Garred P. (1998). Effects of sodium restriction on blood pressure, renin, aldosterone, catecholamines, cholesterols, and triglyceride: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* **279**, 1383-1391.
- Group CTDR. (1995). Effect of intensive diabetes management on macrovascular events and risk factors in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. *Am J Cardiol* **75**, 894-903.
- Group UKPDS. (1998). Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. *Br Med J*, 703-713.
- Grundy SM, Benjamin IJ, Burke GL, Chait A, Eckel RH, Howard BV, Mitch W, Smith SC & Sowers JR. (1999). Diabetes and cardiovascular disease a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* **100**, 1134-1146.
- Guertzenstein P & Silver A. (1974). Fall in blood pressure produced from discrete regions of the ventral surface of the medulla by glycine and lesions. *J Physiol* **242**, 489-503.
- Guggilam A, Haque M, Kerut EK, McIlwain E, Lucchesi P, Seghal I & Francis J. (2007). TNF- α blockade decreases oxidative stress in the paraventricular nucleus and attenuates sympathoexcitation in heart failure rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **293**, H599-H609.
- Guggilam A, Patel KP, Haque M, Ebenezer PJ, Kapusta DR & Francis J. (2008). Cytokine blockade attenuates sympathoexcitation in heart failure: Cross-talk between nNOS, AT-1R and cytokines in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus. *Eur J Heart Fail* 10, 625-634.

- Gundersen HJ & Mogensen C. (1981). The relationship between kidney size and function in short-term diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* **21**, 498-499.
- Guo Z, Qi W, Yu Y, Du S, Wu J & Liu J. (2014). Effect of exenatide on the cardiac expression of adiponectin receptor 1 and NADPH oxidase subunits and heart function in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Diabetol Metab Syndr* **6**, 1-13.
- Guyenet PG. (2006). The sympathetic control of blood pressure. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 7, 335-346.
- Hamby ME & Sofroniew MV. (2010). Reactive astrocytes as therapeutic targets for CNS disorders. *Neurotherapeutics* **7**, 494-506.
- Hanisch UK. (2002). Microglia as a source and target of cytokines. Glia 40, 140-155.
- Hao C, Richardson A & Fedoroff S. (1991). Macrophage-like cells originate from neuroepithelium in culture: characterization and properties of the macrophage-like cells. *Int J Dev Neurosci* **9**, 1-14.
- Harthmann AD, De Angelis K, Costa LP, Senador D, Schaan BD, Krieger EM & Irigoyen M-C. (2007). Exercise training improves arterial baro-and chemoreflex in control and diabetic rats. *Auton Neurosci* 133, 115-120.
- Hartmann JF, Szemplinski M, Hayes NS, Keegan ME & Slater EE. (1988). Effects of the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, lisinopril, on normal and diabetic rats. J Hypertens 6, 677.
- Haselton JR & Vari RC. (1998). Neuronal cell bodies in paraventricular nucleus affect renal hemodynamics and excretion via the renal nerves. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **275**, R1334-R1342.
- Hathway GJ, Vega-Avelaira D, Moss A, Ingram R & Fitzgerald M. (2009). Brief, low frequency stimulation of rat peripheral C-fibres evokes prolonged microglial-induced central sensitization in adults but not in neonates. *Pain* **144**, 110-118.
- Hauwel M, Furon E, Canova C, Griffiths M, Neal J & Gasque P. (2005). Innate (inherent) control of brain infection, brain inflammation and brain repair: the role of microglia, astrocytes, "protective" glial stem cells and stromal ependymal cells. *Brain Res Rev* 48, 220-233.
- Hayashi M, Senba S, Saito I, Kitajima W & Saruta T. (1983). Changes in blood pressure, urinary kallikrein, and urinary prostaglandin E 2 in rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **322**, 290-294.

- Hayat SA, Patel B, Khattar RS & Malik RA. (2004). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: mechanisms, diagnosis and treatment. *Clin Sci* **107**, 539-558.
- He FJ & MacGregor GA. (2003). How far should salt intake be reduced? *Hypertension* **42**, 1093-1099.
- Hebden R, Bennett T & Gardiner S. (1987). Pressor sensitivities to vasopressin, angiotensin II, or methoxamine in diabetic rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 253, R726-R734.
- Hebden R, Gardiner S, Bennett T & MacDonald I. (1986). The influence of streptozotocininduced diabetes mellitus on fluid and electrolyte handling in rats. *Clin Sci* **70**, 111-117.
- Herrmann JE, Imura T, Song B, Qi J, Ao Y, Nguyen TK, Korsak RA, Takeda K, Akira S & Sofroniew MV. (2008). STAT3 is a critical regulator of astrogliosis and scar formation after spinal cord injury. *J Neurosci* **28**, 7231-7243.
- Hide I, Tanaka M, Inoue A, Nakajima K, Kohsaka S, Inoue K & Nakata Y. (2000). Extracellular ATP Triggers Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Release from Rat Microglia. J Neurochem 75, 965-972.
- Hill KE, Zollinger LV, Watt HE, Carlson NG & Rose JW. (2004). Inducible nitric oxide synthase in chronic active multiple sclerosis plaques: distribution, cellular expression and association with myelin damage. *J Neuroimmunol* **151**, 171-179.
- Hirooka Y, Kishi T, Sakai K, Takeshita A & Sunagawa K. (2011). Imbalance of central nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species in the regulation of sympathetic activity and neural mechanisms of hypertension. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 300, R818-R826.
- Ho EC, Lam KS, Chen YS, Yip JC, Arvindakshan M, Yamagishi S-I, Yagihashi S, Oates PJ, Ellery CA & Chung SS. (2006). Aldose reductase–deficient mice are protected from delayed motor nerve conduction velocity, increased c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase activation, depletion of reduced glutathione, increased superoxide accumulation, and DNA damage. *Diabetes* 55, 1946-1953.
- Hoit BD, Castro C, Bultron G, Knight S & Matlib MA. (1999). Noninvasive evaluation of cardiac dysfunction by echocardiography in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. J Card Fail 5, 324-333.
- Howe PRC, Rogers PF & Minson JB. (1990). Dietary sodium loading elevates blood pressure in baroreceptor denervated rats. *J Auton Nerv Syst* **29**, 151-156.

- Hu L-F, Lu M, Wu Z-Y, Wong PT-H & Bian J-S. (2009). Hydrogen sulfide inhibits rotenone-induced apoptosis via preservation of mitochondrial function. *Mol Pharmacol* **75**, 27-34.
- Hu LF, Wong PTH, Moore PK & Bian JS. (2007). Hydrogen sulfide attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation by inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in microglia. *J Neurochem* **100**, 1121-1128.
- Huang BS & Leenen F. (1994). Dietary Na and baroreflex modulation of blood pressure and RSNA in normotensive vs. spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **266**, H496-H502.
- Huang Q, Rivest R & Richard D. (1998). Effects of leptin on corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) synthesis and CRF neuron activation in the paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus of obese (ob/ob) mice. *Endocrinology* **139**, 1524-1532.
- Hutchins KD, Dickson DW, Rashbaum WK & Lyman WD. (1990). Localization of morphologically distinct microglial populations in the developing human fetal brain: implications for ontogeny. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **55**, 95-102.
- Imaki T, Xiao-Quan W, Shibasaki T, Yamada K, Harada S, Chikada N, Naruse M & Demura H. (1995). Stress-induced activation of neuronal activity and corticotropin-releasing factor gene expression in the paraventricular nucleus is modulated by glucocorticoids in rats. J Clin Invest 96, 231.
- Inoue K. (2006). The function of microglia through purinergic receptors: neuropathic pain and cytokine release. *Pharmacol Ther* **109**, 210-226.
- Isogai O, Tsukamoto K, Masubuchi Y, Tomioka S, Suzuki T, Kawato H, Yajima Y, Kasamaki Y, Ito S & Kanmatsuse K. (2005). High salt diet enhances cardiovascular responses from the nucleus tractus solitarius and ventrolateral medulla of Sprague-Dawley rats. *Clin Exp Hypertens* **27**, 33-44.
- Ito S, Gordon FJ & Sved AF. (1999). Dietary salt intake alters cardiovascular responses evoked from the rostral ventrolateral medulla. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **276**, R1600-R1607.
- Jackson-Lewis V, Vila M, Tieu K, Teismann P, Vadseth C, Choi D-K, Ischiropoulos H & Przedborski S. (2002). Blockade of microglial activation is neuroprotective in the 1methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydropyridine mouse model of Parkinson disease. J Neurosci 22, 1763-1771.

- Jacobs S, Cheng C & Doering L. (2011). Probing Astrocyte Function in Fragile X Syndrome. *Results Probl Cell Differ* **54**, 15-31.
- Jain SK, Bull R, Rains JL, Bass PF, Levine SN, Reddy S, McVie R & Bocchini Jr JA. (2010). Low levels of hydrogen sulfide in the blood of diabetes patients and streptozotocin-treated rats causes vascular inflammation? *Antioxid Redox Signal* 12, 1333-1337.
- Joffe II, Travers KE, Perreault-Micale CL, Hampton T, Katz SE, Morgan JP & Douglas PS. (1999). Abnormal cardiac function in the streptozotocin-induced, non–insulindependent diabetic rat: noninvasive assessment with Doppler echocardiography and contribution of the nitric oxide pathway. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **34**, 2111-2119.
- John GR, Lee SC & Brosnan CF. (2003). Cytokines: powerful regulators of glial cell activation. *Neuroscientist* **9**, 10-22.
- Johnstone M, Gearing AJH & Miller KM. (1999). A central role for astrocytes in the inflammatory response to β -amyloid; chemokines, cytokines and reactive oxygen species are produced. *J Neuroimmunol* **93**, 182-193.
- Jones DW. (2004). Dietary sodium and blood pressure. Hypertension 43, 932-935.
- Kalinyak JE, Sechi LA, Griffin CA, Don BR, Tavangar K, Kraemer FB, Hoffman AR & Schambelan M. (1993). The renin-angiotensin system in streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus in the rat. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **4**, 1337-1345.
- Kang Y-M, He R-L, Yang L-M, Qin D-N, Guggilam A, Elks C, Yan N, Guo Z & Francis J. (2009a). Brain tumour necrosis factor-α modulates neurotransmitters in hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus in heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res* 83, 737-746.
- Kang Y-M, Ma Y, Zheng J-P, Elks C, Sriramula S, Yang Z-M & Francis J. (2009b). Brain nuclear factor-kappa B activation contributes to neurohumoral excitation in angiotensin II-induced hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res* **82**, 503-512.
- Kang YM, Wang Y, Yang LM, Elks C, Cardinale J, Yu XJ, Zhao XF, Zhang J, Zhang LH & Yang ZM. (2010). TNF-α in hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus contributes to sympathoexcitation in heart failure by modulating AT1 receptor and neurotransmitters. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 222, 251.
- Kang YM, Zhang ZH, Xue B, Weiss RM & Felder RB. (2008). Inhibition of brain proinflammatory cytokine synthesis reduces hypothalamic excitation in rats with ischemia-induced heart failure. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **295**, H227-H236.

- Kannan H, Hayashida Y & Yamashita H. (1989). Increase in sympathetic outflow by paraventricular nucleus stimulation in awake rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **256**, R1325.
- Kannan H, Tanaka Y, Kunitake T, Ueta Y, Hayashida Y & Yamashita H. (1996). Activation of sympathetic outflow by recombinant human interleukin-1 beta in conscious rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **270**, R479-R485.
- Kannel WB & McGee DL. (1979). Diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors: the Framingham study. *Circulation* **59**, 8-13.
- Kantzides A & Badoer E. (2003). Fos, RVLM-projecting neurons, and spinally projecting neurons in the PVN following hypertonic saline infusion. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **284**, R945-R953.
- Katayama S & Lee J. (1985). Hypertension in experimental diabetes mellitus. Reninprostaglandin interaction. *Hypertension* **7**, 554-561.
- Kawabe T, Chitravanshi VC, Nakamura T, Kawabe K & Sapru HN. (2009). Mechanism of heart rate responses elicited by chemical stimulation of the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus in the rat. *Brain Res* **1248**, 115-126.
- Kawashima H, Igarashi T, Nakajima Y, Akiyama Y, Usuki K & Ohtake S. (1978). Chronic hypertension induced by streptozotocin in rats. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **305**, 123-126.
- Kempler P, Tesfaye S, Chaturvedi N, Stevens LK, Webb DJ, Eaton S, Kerényi Z, Tamás G, Ward J & Fuller J. (2002). Autonomic neuropathy is associated with increased cardiovascular risk factors: the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. *Diabet Med* 19, 900-909.
- Kiely JM & Gordon FJ. (1994). Role of rostral ventrolateral medulla in centrally mediated pressor responses. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **267**, H1549-H1556.
- Kim BJ, Kim M-J, Park J-M, Lee S-H, Kim Y-J, Ryu S, Kim YH & Yoon B-W. (2009). Reduced neurogenesis after suppressed inflammation by minocycline in transient cerebral ischemia in rat. *J Neurol Sci* **279**, 70-75.
- Kim JH, Kim DJ, Jang HC & Choi SH. (2011). Epidemiology of micro-and macrovascular complications of type 2 diabetes in Korea. *Diabetes Metab J* **35**, 571-577.
- Kimura T, Yamamoto T, Ota K, Shoji M, Inoue M, Sato K, Ohta M, Funyu T & Yoshinaga K. (1993). Central Effects of Interleukin-1 on Blood Pressure, Thermogenesis, and the

Release of Vasopressin, ACTH, and Atrial Natriuretic Peptide. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 689, 330-345.

- Kimura Y, Dargusch R, Schubert D & Kimura H. (2006). Hydrogen sulfide protects HT22 neuronal cells from oxidative stress. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **8**, 661-670.
- Kimura Y & Kimura H. (2004). Hydrogen sulfide protects neurons from oxidative stress. *FASEB J* 18, 1165-1167.
- Kishi T. (2012). Heart failure as an autonomic nervous system dysfunction. J Cardiol 59, 117-122.
- Koehler RC, Gebremedhin D & Harder DR. (2006). Role of astrocytes in cerebrovascular regulation. *J Appl Physiol* **100**, 307-317.
- Koga Y, Hirooka Y, Araki S, Nozoe M, Kishi T & Sunagawa K. (2008). High salt intake enhances blood pressure increase during development of hypertension via oxidative stress in rostral ventrolateral medulla of spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertens Res* 31, 2075-2083.
- Koistinaho M, Lin S, Wu X, Esterman M, Koger D, Hanson J, Higgs R, Liu F, Malkani S & Bales KR. (2004). Apolipoprotein E promotes astrocyte colocalization and degradation of deposited amyloid-β peptides. *Nat Med* **10**, 719-726.
- Koizumi S, Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Nasu-Tada K, Shinozaki Y, Ohsawa K, Tsuda M, Joshi BV, Jacobson KA, Kohsaka S & Inoue K. (2007). UDP acting at P2Y6 receptors is a mediator of microglial phagocytosis. *Nature* 446, 1091-1095.
- Kolte D, Vijayaraghavan K, Khera S, Sica DA & Frishman WH. (2014). Role of magnesium in cardiovascular diseases. *Cardiol Rev*22, 182-192.
- Konsman JP, Parnet P & Dantzer R. (2002). Cytokine-induced sickness behaviour: mechanisms and implications. *Trends Neurosci* **25**, 154-159.
- Koolen MI & van Brummelen P. (1984). Adrenergic activity and peripheral hemodynamics in relation to sodium sensitivity in patients with essential hypertension. *Hypertension* 6, 820-825.
- Korosoglou G, Humpert PM, Ahrens J, Oikonomou D, Osman NF, Gitsioudis G, Buss SJ, Steen H, Schnackenburg B & Bierhaus A. (2012). Left ventricular diastolic function in type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with myocardial triglyceride content but not with impaired myocardial perfusion reserve. J Magn Reson Imaging 35, 804-811.

- Koshiya N & Guyenet P. (1996). NTS neurons with carotid chemoreceptor inputs arborize in the rostral ventrolateral medulla. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **270**, R1273-R1278.
- Krady JK, Basu A, Allen CM, Xu Y, LaNoue KF, Gardner TW & Levison SW. (2005). Minocycline reduces proinflammatory cytokine expression, microglial activation, and caspase-3 activation in a rodent model of diabetic retinopathy. *Diabetes* 54, 1559-1565.
- Kraus E, Schneider-Schaulies S, Miyasaka M, Tamatani T & Sedgwick J. (1992). Augmentation of major histocompatibility complex class I and ICAM-1 expression on glial cells following measles virus infection: Evidence for the role of type-1 interferon. *Eur J Immunol* 22, 175-182.
- Krentz AJ, Clough G & Byrne CD. (2007). Interactions between microvascular and macrovascular disease in diabetes: pathophysiology and therapeutic implications. *Diabetes Obes Metab* **9**, 781-791.
- Kreutzberg GW. (1996). Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci* **19**, 312-318.
- Krukoff TL & Patel KP. (1990). Alterations in brain hexokinase activity associated with streptozoticin-induced diabetes mellitus in the rat. *Brain Res* **522**, 157-160.
- Kugler P & Drenckhahn D. (1996). Astrocytes and Bergmann glia as an important site of nitric oxide synthase I. *Glia* **16**, 165-173.
- Kumar R, Yong QC, Thomas CM & Baker KM. (2012). Review: Intracardiac intracellular angiotensin system in diabetes. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 302, R510-R517.
- Kunze DL & Brown AM. (1978). Sodium sensitivity of baroreceptors. Reflex effects on blood pressure and fluid volume in the cat. *Circ Res* **42**, 714-720.
- Lagadic-Gossmann D, Buckler K, Le Prigent K & Feuvray D. (1996). Altered Ca2+ handling in ventricular myocytes isolated from diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **270**, H1529-H1537.
- Lamarche B, Lemieux I, Després J, Vigouroux C, Gharakhanian S, Salhi Y, Nguyen T, Chevenne D, Capeau J & Rozenbaum W. (1999). Vasopressin and urinary concentrating activity in diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Metab* **25**, 213.

- Lambertsen KL, Clausen BH, Babcock AA, Gregersen R, Fenger C, Nielsen HH, Haugaard LS, Wirenfeldt M, Nielsen M & Dagnaes-Hansen F. (2009). Microglia protect neurons against ischemia by synthesis of tumor necrosis factor. *J Neurosci* 29, 1319-1330.
- Langer A, Freeman MR, Josse RG & Armstrong PW. (1995). Metaiodobenzylguanidine imaging in diabetes mellitus: assessment of cardiac sympathetic denervation and its relation to autonomic dysfunction and silent myocardial ischemia. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 25, 610-618.
- Law M, Frost C & Wald N. (1991). By how much does dietary salt reduction lower blood pressure? III--Analysis of data from trials of salt reduction. *Br Med J* **302**, 819-824.
- Lebed YV, Orlovsky MA, Nikonenko AG, Ushakova GA & Skibo GG. (2008). Early reaction of astroglial cells in rat hippocampus to streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *Neurosci Lett* **444**, 181-185.
- Ledeboer A, Sloane EM, Milligan ED, Frank MG, Mahony JH, Maier SF & Watkins LR. (2005). Minocycline attenuates mechanical allodynia and proinflammatory cytokine expression in rat models of pain facilitation. *Pain* **115**, 71-83.
- Lee CD & Landreth GE. (2010). The role of microglia in amyloid clearance from the AD brain. *J Neural Transm* **117**, 949-960.
- Lee S & Brosnan C. (1997). Molecular biology of glia: astrocytes. In: RusselWC, editor. *Molecular biology of multiple sclerosis*. New York: John Wiley. 71–96.
- Lee SC, Liu W, Dickson D, Brosnan C & Berman J. (1993). Cytokine production by human fetal microglia and astrocytes. Differential induction by lipopolysaccharide and IL-1 beta. *J Immunol* **150**, 2659-2667.
- Lee SJ & Benveniste EN. (1999). Adhesion molecule expression and regulation on cells of the central nervous system. *J Neuroimmunol* **98**, 77-88.
- Lefer D. (2008). Potential importance of alterations in hydrogen sulphide (H₂S) bioavailability in diabetes. *Br J Pharmacol* **155**, 617-619.
- Lenertz LY, Gavala ML, Hill LM & Bertics PJ. (2009). Cell signaling via the P2X7 nucleotide receptor: linkage to ROS production, gene transcription, and receptor trafficking. *Purinergic Signal* **5**, 175-187.
- Levin BE, Govek EK & Dunn-Meynell AA. (1998). Reduced glucose-induced neuronal activation in the hypothalamus of diet-induced obese rats. *Brain Res* **808**, 317-319.

- Li F, Obrosova IG, Abatan O, Tian D, Larkin D, Stuenkel EL & Stevens MJ. (2005a). Taurine replacement attenuates hyperalgesia and abnormal calcium signaling in sensory neurons of STZ-D rats. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **288**, E29-E36.
- Li J, Baud O, Vartanian T, Volpe JJ & Rosenberg PA. (2005b). Peroxynitrite generated by inducible nitric oxide synthase and NADPH oxidase mediates microglial toxicity to oligodendrocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 9936-9941.
- Li Q, Sullivan M, Dale W, Hasser E, Blaine E & Cunningham J. (1997). Fos-like immunoreactivity in the medulla following acute and chronic angiotensin (ANG) II infusion in sinoaortic denervated (SAD) rats (Abstract). *FASEB* **11**, A255.
- Li Y-F, Cornish KG & Patel KP. (2003). Alteration of NMDA NR1 receptors within the paraventricular nucleus of hypothalamus in rats with heart failure. *Circ Res* **93**, 990-997.
- Liberto CM, Albrecht P, Herx L, Yong V & Levison S. (2004). Pro-regenerative properties of cytokine-activated astrocytes. *J Neurochem* **89**, 1092-1100.
- Ligeti L, Szenczi O, Prestia CM, Szabó C, Horváth K, Marcsek ZL, Van Stiphout RG, Van Riel NA, Den Buijs JO & Van der Vusse GJ. (2006). Altered calcium handling is an early sign of streptozotocin-induced diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Int J Mol Med* **17**, 1035-1043.
- Lin JHC, Lou N, Kang N, Takano T, Hu F, Han X, Xu Q, Lovatt D, Torres A & Willecke K. (2008). A central role of connexin 43 in hypoxic preconditioning. *J Neurosci* 28, 681-695.
- Liu A-J, Ma X-J, Shen F-M, Liu J-G, Chen H & Su D-F. (2007). Arterial baroreflex a novel target for preventing stroke in rat hypertension. *Stroke* **38**, 1916-1923.
- Liu B, GAO HM, WANG JY, JEOHN GH, Cooper CL & HONG JS. (2002). Role of nitric oxide in inflammation-mediated neurodegeneration. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **962**, 318-331.
- Liu W, Tang Y & Feng J. (2011). Cross talk between activation of microglia and astrocytes in pathological conditions in the central nervous system. *Life Sci* **89**, 141-146.
- Lu VB, Biggs JE, Stebbing MJ, Balasubramanyan S, Todd KG, Lai AY, Colmers WF, Dawbarn D, Ballanyi K & Smith PA. (2009). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor drives the changes in excitatory synaptic transmission in the rat superficial dorsal horn that follow sciatic nerve injury. *J Physiol* **587**, 1013-1032.

- Luippold G, Beilharz M & Mühlbauer B. (2004). Chronic renal denervation prevents glomerular hyperfiltration in diabetic rats. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* **19**, 342-347.
- Luo Y, Kaur C & Ling EA. (2002). Neuronal and glial response in the rat hypothalamusneurohypophysis complex with streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *Brain Res* **925**, 42-54.
- Machado BH, Mauad H, Chianca Jr D, Haibara A & Colombari E. (1997). Autonomic processing of the cardiovascular reflexes in the nucleus tractus solitarii. *Braz J Med Biol Res* **30**, 533-535.
- Maeda C, Fernandes T, Timm H & Irigoyen M. (1995). Autonomic dysfunction in short-term experimental diabetes. *Hypertension* **26**, 1100-1104.
- Maeda C, Schaan B, Oliveira E, Oliveira V, De Angelis K & Irigoyen M. (2007). Chronic salt loading and cardiovascular-associated changes in experimental diabetes in rats. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **34**, 574-580.
- Maeda K, Tsutamoto T, Wada A, Mabuchi N, Hayashi M, Tsutsui T, Ohnishi M, Sawaki M, Fujii M & Matsumoto T. (2000). High levels of plasma brain natriuretic peptide and interleukin-6 after optimized treatment for heart failure are independent risk factors for morbidity and mortality in patients with congestive heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **36**, 1587-1593.
- Magliano D, Shaw J, Shortreed S, Nusselder W, Liew D, Barr E, Zimmet P & Peeters A. (2008). Lifetime risk and projected population prevalence of diabetes. *Diabetologia* **51**, 2179-2186.
- Magnus T, Chan A, Linker RA, Toyka KV & Gold R. (2002). Astrocytes are less efficient in the removal of apoptotic lymphocytes than microglia cells: implications for the role of glial cells in the inflamed central nervous system. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* **61**, 760.
- Malatiali S, Francis I & Barac-Nieto M. (2008). Phlorizin prevents glomerular hyperfiltration but not hypertrophy in diabetic rats. *Exp Diabetes Res* **2008**, 305403.
- Maliszewska-Scislo M, Chen H, Augustyniak RA, Seth D & Rossi NF. (2008). Subfornical organ differentially modulates baroreflex function in normotensive and two-kidney, one-clip hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **295**, R741-R750.
- Mandavia CH, Aroor AR, DeMarco VG & Sowers JR. (2013). Molecular and metabolic mechanisms of cardiac dysfunction in diabetes. *Life Sci* 92, 601-608.

- Mandrekar S & Landreth GE. (2010). Microglia and inflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets* **9**, 156.
- Manzella D & Paolisso G. (2005). Cardiac autonomic activity and Type II diabetes mellitus. *Clin Sci* **108**, 93-100.
- Mao H & Liu B. (2008). Synergistic microglial reactive oxygen species generation induced by pesticides lindane and dieldrin. *Neuroreport* **19**, 1317-1320.
- Marchetti B & Abbracchio MP. (2005). To be or not to be (inflamed)–is that the question in anti-inflammatory drug therapy of neurodegenerative disorders? *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **26**, 517-525.
- Marshall SM & Flyvbjerg A. (2006). Clinical review-Prevention and early detection of vascular complications of diabetes. *Br Med J* **333**, 475-480.
- Mason JL, Suzuki K, Chaplin DD & Matsushima GK. (2001). Interleukin-1β promotes repair of the CNS. *J Neurosci* **21**, 7046-7052.
- McDonald FD, Thiel G, Wilson DR, DiBona GF & Oken DE. (1969). The Prevention of Acute Renal Failure in the Rat by Long-Term Saline Loading A Possible Role of the Renin-Angiotensin Axis. *Exp Biol Med* **131**, 610-614.
- Meller S, Dykstra C, Grzybycki D, Murphy S & Gebhart G. (1994). The possible role of glia in nociceptive processing and hyperalgesia in the spinal cord of the rat. *Neuropharmacology* **33**, 1471-1478.
- Merrill J & Jonakait G. (1995). Interactions of the nervous and immune systems in development, normal brain homeostasis, and disease. *FASEB J* 9, 611-618.
- Milligan ED, O'Connor KA, Nguyen KT, Armstrong CB, Twining C, Gaykema RPA, Holguin A, Martin D, Maier SF & Watkins LR. (2001). Intrathecal HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 induces enhanced pain states mediated by spinal cord proinflammatory cytokines. *J Neurosci* 21, 2808-2819.
- Milligan ED & Watkins LR. (2009). Pathological and protective roles of glia in chronic pain. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **10**, 23-36.
- Min KJ, Yang M, Kim SU, Jou I & Joe E. (2006). Astrocytes induce hemeoxygenase-1 expression in microglia: a feasible mechanism for preventing excessive brain inflammation. *J Neurosci* **26**, 1880-1887.

- Miura M & Reis D. (1969). Termination and secondary projections of carotid sinus nerve in the cat brain stem. *Am J Physiol* **217**, 142-153.
- Miura M & Reis DJ. (1972). The role of the solitary and paramedian reticular nuclei in mediating cardiovascular reflex responses from carotid baro-and chemoreceptors. J Physiol 223, 525-548.
- Moalem G & Tracey DJ. (2006). Immune and inflammatory mechanisms in neuropathic pain. *Brain Res Rev* **51**, 240-264.
- Mogensen C. (1986). Early glomerular hyperfiltration in insulin-dependent diabetics and late nephropathy. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* **46**, 201-206.
- Mogensen C & Christensen C. (1984). Predicting diabetic nephropathy in insulin-dependent patients. *N Engl J Med* **311**, 89-93.
- Montgomery D. (1994). Astrocytes: form, functions, and roles in disease. Vet Pathol 31, 145.
- Mooradian AD & Morley J. (1987). Micronutrient status in diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr* **45**, 877-895.
- Morgado C, Pereira-Terra P, Cruz C & Tavares I. (2011). Minocycline completely reverses mechanical hyperalgesia in diabetic rats through microglia-induced changes in the expression of the potassium chloride co-transporter 2 (KCC2) at the spinal cord. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 13, 150-159.
- Mori A, Maruyama T, Ohashi N, Shibuya T, Sakai K, Tatebe H, Inoue H, Kato T & Okuno M. (2008). Impaired autonomic function in type 2 diabetic patients during upper gastrointestinal endoscopy. J Gastroenterol 43, 603-608.
- Moss DW & Bates TE. (2001). Activation of murine microglial cell lines by lipopolysaccharide and interferon- γ causes NO-mediated decreases in mitochondrial and cellular function. *Eur J Neurosci* **13**, 529-538.
- Mwanri AW, Kinabo J, Ramaiya K & Feskens EJ. (2015). Gestational diabetes mellitus in sub-Saharan Africa: systematic review and metaregression on prevalence and risk factors. *Trop Med Int Health* **20**, 983–1002.
- Naito M, Umeda S, Yamamoto T, Moriyama H, Umezu H, Hasegawa G, Usuda H, Shultz LD & Takahashi K. (1996). Development, differentiation, and phenotypic heterogeneity of murine tissue macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol* **59**, 133-138.

- Nakagawa T, Wakamatsu K, Zhang N, Maeda S, Minami M, Satoh M & Kaneko S. (2007). Intrathecal administration of ATP produces long-lasting allodynia in rats: differential mechanisms in the phase of the induction and maintenance. *Neuroscience* 147, 445-455.
- Neumann H, Kotter M & Franklin R. (2009). Debris clearance by microglia: an essential link between degeneration and regeneration. *Brain* **132**, 288-295.
- Neumann J, Sauerzweig S, Rönicke R, Gunzer F, Dinkel K, Ullrich O, Gunzer M & Reymann KG. (2008). Microglia cells protect neurons by direct engulfment of invading neutrophil granulocytes: a new mechanism of CNS immune privilege. J Neurosci 28, 5965-5975.
- Nguyen DV, Shaw LC & Grant MB. (2012). Inflammation in the pathogenesis of microvascular complications in diabetes. *Front Endocrinol* **21**, 1-7.
- Nishikawa T, Edelstein D, Du XL, Yamagishi S-i, Matsumura T, Kaneda Y, Yorek MA, Beebe D, Oates PJ & Hammes H-P. (2000). Normalizing mitochondrial superoxide production blocks three pathways of hyperglycaemic damage. *Nature* **404**, 787-790.
- Nissl F. (1899). Über einige Beziehungen zwischen Nervenzellerkrankungen und gliösen Erscheinungen bei verschiedenen Psychosen. Arch f Psychiatr **32**, 656-676.
- Nosjean A, Hamon M & Laguzzi R. (1998). C-Fos induction in the rostroventrolateral medulla by 5-HT3 receptor activation in the nucleus tractus solitarius. *NeuroReport* **9**, 373-378.
- Nunes FC & Braga VA. (2011). Chronic angiotensin II infusion modulates angiotensin II type I receptor expression in the subfornical organ and the rostral ventrolateral medulla in hypertensive rats. *J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst* **12**, 440-5.
- O'Keefe JH, Miles JM, Harris WH, Moe RM & McCallister BD. (1999). Improving the adverse cardiovascular prognosis of type 2 diabetes. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* **74**, 171-180.
- Obata H, Eisenach JC, Hussain H, Bynum T & Vincler M. (2006). Spinal glial activation contributes to postoperative mechanical hypersensitivity in the rat. *J Pain* **7**, 816-822.
- Okada-Ogawa A, Suzuki I, Sessle BJ, Chiang CY, Salter MW, Dostrovsky JO, Tsuboi Y, Kondo M, Kitagawa J & Kobayashi A. (2009). Astroglia in medullary dorsal horn (trigeminal spinal subnucleus caudalis) are involved in trigeminal neuropathic pain mechanisms. *J Neurosci* 29, 11161-11171.

- Okada S, Nakamura M, Katoh H, Miyao T, Shimazaki T, Ishii K, Yamane J, Yoshimura A, Iwamoto Y & Toyama Y. (2006). Conditional ablation of Stat3 or Socs3 discloses a dual role for reactive astrocytes after spinal cord injury. *Nat Med* **12**, 829-834.
- Ola MS, Aleisa AM, Al-Rejaie SS, Abuohashish HM, Parmar MY, Alhomida AS & Ahmed MM. (2014). Flavonoid, morin inhibits oxidative stress, inflammation and enhances neurotrophic support in the brain of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Neurol Sci* 35, 1003-1008.
- Pabreja K, Dua K, Sharma S, Padi SS & Kulkarni SK. (2011). Minocycline attenuates the development of diabetic neuropathic pain: possible anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mechanisms. *Eur J Pharmacol* 661, 15-21.
- Packer M. (1988). Neurohormonal interactions and adaptations in congestive heart failure. *Circulation* **77**, 721-730.
- Padi SSV & Kulkarni SK. (2008). Minocycline prevents the development of neuropathic pain, but not acute pain: possible anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mechanisms. *Eur J Pharmacol* **601**, 79-87.
- Pappachan JM, Varughese GI, Sriraman R & Arunagirinathan G. (2013). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: Pathophysiology, diagnostic evaluation and management. World J Diabetes 4, 177.
- Parvathenani LK, Tertyshnikova S, Greco CR, Roberts SB, Robertson B & Posmantur R. (2003). P2X7 mediates superoxide production in primary microglia and is upregulated in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Biol Chem 278, 13309-13317.
- Parving H-H, Hommel E, Mathiesen E, Skøtt P, Edsberg B, Bahnsen M, Lauritzen M, Hougaard P & Lauritzen E. (1988). Prevalence of microalbuminuria, arterial hypertension, retinopathy, and neuropathy in patients with insulin dependent diabetes. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 296, 156.
- Parvizi MR, Parviz M, Tavangar SM, Soltani N, Kadkhodaee M, Seifi B, Azizi Y & Keshavarz M. (2014). Protective effect of magnesium on renal function in STZinduced diabetic rats. J Diabetes Metab Disord 13, 84.
- Patel KP, Mayhan WG, Bidasee KR & Zheng H. (2011). Enhanced angiotensin II-mediated central sympathoexcitation in streptozotocin-induced diabetes: role of superoxide anion. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **300**, R311-R320.

- Paterna S, Gaspare P, Fasullo S, Sarullo F & Di Pasquale P. (2008). Normal-sodium diet compared with low-sodium diet in compensated congestive heart failure: is sodium an old enemy or a new friend? *Clin Sci* **114**, 221-230.
- Paterna S, Parrinello G, Cannizzaro S, Fasullo S, Torres D, Sarullo FM & Di Pasquale P. (2009). Medium term effects of different dosage of diuretic, sodium, and fluid administration on neurohormonal and clinical outcome in patients with recently compensated heart failure. *Am J Cardiol* 103, 93-102.
- Paton JF. (1998). Pattern of cardiorespiratory afferent convergence to solitary tract neurons driven by pulmonary vagal C-fiber stimulation in the mouse. *J Neurophysiol* **79**, 2365-2373.
- Paulson D & Light K. (1981). Elevation of serum and ventricular norepinephrine content in the diabetic rat. *Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol* **33**, 559-562.
- Pekny M & Nilsson M. (2005). Astrocyte activation and reactive gliosis. Glia 50, 427-434.
- Pekny M & Pekna M. (2004). Astrocyte intermediate filaments in CNS pathologies and regeneration. *J Pathol* **204**, 428-437.
- Perin PC, Maule S & Quadri R. (2001). Sympathetic nervous system, diabetes, and hypertension. *Clin Exp Hypertens* 23, 45-55.
- Perry V, Hume DA & Gordon S. (1985). Immunohistochemical localization of macrophages and microglia in the adult and developing mouse brain. *Neuroscience* **15**, 313-326.
- Pilowsky PM & Goodchild AK. (2002). Baroreceptor reflex pathways and neurotransmitters: 10 years on. *J Hypertens* **20**, 1675-1688.
- Porta M, Maldari P & Mazzaglia F. (2011). New approaches to the treatment of diabetic retinopathy. *Diabetes Obes Metab* **13**, 784-790.
- Pyner S. (2009). Neurochemistry of the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus: implications for cardiovascular regulation. *J Chem Neuroanat* **38**, 197-208.
- Raghavendra V, Tanga F & DeLeo JA. (2003). Inhibition of microglial activation attenuates the development but not existing hypersensitivity in a rat model of neuropathy. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **306**, 624-630.
- Rambhade S, Singh S, Goswami R & Rambhade A. (2011). Occurrence, complications, and interventions of diabetes: A new understanding of an old problem. Sys Rev Pharm 2, 8.

- Ramos O. (1988). Diabetes mellitus and hypertension. State of the art lecture. *Hypertension* **11**, 114.
- Rana I, Badoer E, Alahmadi E, Leo CH, Woodman OL & Stebbing MJ. (2014). Microglia are selectively activated in endocrine and cardiovascular control centres in STZ-induced diabetic rats. *J Neuroendocrinol* **26**, 413-25.
- Rana I, Stebbing M, Kompa A, Kelly DJ, Krum H & Badoer E. (2010). Microglial activation in the hypothalamic PVN following myocardial infarction. *Brain Res* **1326**, 96-104.
- Rao KVR, Panickar K, Jayakumar A & Norenberg M. (2005). Astrocytes protect neurons from ammonia toxicity. *Neurochem Res* **30**, 1311-1318.
- Rauchhaus M, Doehner W, Francis DP, Davos C, Kemp M, Liebenthal C, Niebauer J, Hooper J, Volk HD & Coats AJS. (2000). Plasma cytokine parameters and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. *Circulation* **102**, 3060-3067.
- Reed M, Meszaros K, Entes L, Claypool M, Pinkett J, Gadbois T & Reaven G. (2000). A new rat model of type 2 diabetes: the fat-fed, streptozotocin-treated rat. *Metabolism* **49**, 1390-1394.
- Ren J & Bode AM. (2000). Altered cardiac excitation-contraction coupling in ventricular myocytes from spontaneously diabetic BB rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 279, H238-H244.
- Reske-Nielsen E, Lundbæk K & Rafaelsen OJ. (1966). Pathological changes in the central and peripheral nervous system of young long-term diabetics. *Diabetologia* **1**, 233-241.
- Rezaie P & Male D. (2002). Mesoglia & microglia–a historical review of the concept of mononuclear phagocytes within the central nervous system. J Hist Neurosci 11, 325-374.
- Riad A, Unger D, Du J, Westermann D, Mohr Z, Sobirey M, Dorenkamp M, Schultheiss H-P & Tschöpe C. (2007). Chronic inhibition of p38MAPK improves cardiac and endothelial function in experimental diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Pharmacol* 554, 40-45.
- Ridet J, Privat A, Malhotra S & Gage F. (1997). Reactive astrocytes: cellular and molecular cues to biological function. *Trends Neurosci* **20**, 570-577.

- Rivest S, Torres G & Rivier C. (1992). Differential effects of central and peripheral injection of interleukin-1 [beta] on brain c-fos expression and neuroendocrine functions. *Brain Res* **587**, 13-23.
- Roglic G, Unwin N, Bennett PH, Mathers C, Tuomilehto J, Nag S, Connolly V & King H. (2005). The Burden of Mortality Attributable to Diabetes Realistic estimates for the year 2000. *Diabetes care* 28, 2130-2135.
- Ross CA, Ruggiero DA, Joh TH, Park DH & Reis DJ. (1984). Rostral ventrolateral medulla: selective projections to the thoracic autonomic cell column from the region containing C1 adrenaline neurons. *J Comp Neurol* **228**, 168-185.
- Rubler S, Dlugash J, Yuceoglu YZ, Kumral T, Branwood AW & Grishman A. (1972). New type of cardiomyopathy associated with diabetic glomerulosclerosis. *Am J Cardiol* **30**, 595-602.
- Sacks FM, Svetkey LP, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Bray GA, Harsha D, Obarzanek E, Conlin PR, Miller ER & Simons-Morton DG. (2001). Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. N Engl J Med 344, 3-10.
- Salgado HC, Barale ÁR, Castania JA, Machado BH, Chapleau MW & Fazan R. (2007). Baroreflex responses to electrical stimulation of aortic depressor nerve in conscious SHR. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **292**, H593-H600.
- Salman IM, Ameer OZ, Sattar MA, Abdullah NA, Yam MF, Abdullah GZ, Abdulkarim MF, Khan M, Hye A & Johns EJ. (2011). Renal sympathetic nervous system hyperactivity in early streptozotocin-induced diabetic kidney disease. *Neurourol Urodyn* 30, 438-446.
- Santos S, Vieira L & Moura R. (1995). Effect of high-salt intake on blood pressure and vascular reactivity of diabetic rats. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 28, 889.
- Sapadin AN & Fleischmajer R. (2006). Tetracyclines: nonantibiotic properties and their clinical implications. *J Am Acad Dermatol* **54**, 258-265.
- Sato M, Colombari E & Morrison S. (2000). Inhibition of commissural nucleus of the solitary tract (commNTS) reduces sympathetic nerve activity (SNA) in spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR). *Physiologist* **43**, 264.
- Sauvant J, Delpech J-C, Palin K, De Mota N, Dudit J, Aubert A, Orcel H, Roux P, Layé S & Moos F. (2014). Mechanisms involved in dual vasopressin/apelin neuron dysfunction during aging. *PLoS One* **9**, e87421.
- Schaan B, Dall'Ago P, Maeda CY, Ferlin E, Fernandes T, Schmid H & Irigoyen M. (2004). Relationship between cardiovascular dysfunction and hyperglycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rats. *Braz J Med Biol Res* **37**, 1895-1902.
- Schaan B, Maeda C, Timm H, Medeiros S, Moraes R, Ferlin E, Fernandes T, Ribeiro J, Schmid H & Irigoyen M. (1997). Time course of changes in heart rate and blood pressure variability in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats treated with insulin. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 30, 1081-1086.
- Schaan BDA, Irigoyen MC, Lacchini S, Moreira ED, Schmid H & Machado UF. (2005). Sympathetic modulation of the renal glucose transporter GLUT2 in diabetic rats. *Auton Neurosci* **117**, 54-61.
- Schannwell C, Schneppenheim M, Perings S, Plehn G & Strauer B. (2001). Left ventricular diastolic dysfunction as an early manifestation of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiology* **98**, 33-39.
- Schannwell C, Schneppenheim M, Perings S, Plehn G & Strauer B. (2002). Left ventricular diastolic dysfunction as an early manifestation of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiology* **98**, 33-39.
- Schilling JD & Mann DL. (2012). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: bench to bedside. *Heart Fail Clin* **8**, 619-631.
- Schlaich MP, Socratous F, Hennebry S, Eikelis N, Lambert EA, Straznicky N, Esler MD & Lambert GW. (2009). Sympathetic activation in chronic renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 20, 933-939.
- Schmid H, Forman L, Cao X, Sherman P & Stevens M. (1999). Heterogeneous cardiac sympathetic denervation and decreased myocardial nerve growth factor in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats: implications for cardiac sympathetic dysinnervation complicating diabetes. *Diabetes* **48**, 603-608.
- Schwei MJ, Honore P, Rogers SD, Salak-Johnson JL, Finke MP, Ramnaraine ML, Clohisy DR & Mantyh PW. (1999). Neurochemical and cellular reorganization of the spinal cord in a murine model of bone cancer pain. *J Neurosci* **19**, 10886-10897.
- Sen S, Chen S, Feng B, Iglarz M & Chakrabarti S. (2012). Renal, retinal and cardiac changes in type 2 diabetes are attenuated by macitentan, a dual endothelin receptor antagonist. *Life Sci* **91**, 658-668.

- Shaked I, Tchoresh D, Gersner R, Meiri G, Mordechai S, Xiao X, Hart R & Schwartz M. (2005). Protective autoimmunity: interferon-γ enables microglia to remove glutamate without evoking inflammatory mediators. *J Neurochem* **92**, 997-1009.
- Sharpe AL, Andrade MA, Herrera-Rosales M, Britton SL, Koch LG & Toney GM. (2013). Rats selectively bred for differences in aerobic capacity have similar hypertensive responses to chronic intermittent hypoxia. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 305, H403-H409.
- Shaw JE, Sicree RA & Zimmet PZ. (2010). Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* **87**, 4-14.
- Shekelle PG, Rich MW, Morton SC, Atkinson CSW, Tu W, Maglione M, Rhodes S, Barrett M, Fonarow GC & Greenberg B. (2003). Efficacy of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and beta-blockers in the management of left ventricular systolic dysfunction according to race, gender, and diabetic status: a meta-analysis of major clinical trials. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **41**, 1529-1538.
- Shi P, Diez-Freire C, Jun JY, Qi Y, Katovich MJ, Li Q, Sriramula S, Francis J, Sumners C & Raizada MK. (2010a). Brain microglial cytokines in neurogenic hypertension. *Hypertension* 56, 297-303.
- Shi P, Raizada MK & Sumners C. (2010b). Brain cytokines as neuromodulators in cardiovascular control. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **37**, e52-e57.
- Shi Z, Gan XB, Fan ZD, Zhang F, Zhou YB, Gao XY, De W & Zhu GQ. (2011). Inflammatory cytokines in paraventricular nucleus modulate sympathetic activity and cardiac sympathetic afferent reflex in rats. *Acta Physiologica* **203**, 289-297.
- Shih AY, Johnson DA, Wong G, Kraft AD, Jiang L, Erb H, Johnson JA & Murphy TH. (2003). Coordinate regulation of glutathione biosynthesis and release by Nrf2expressing glia potently protects neurons from oxidative stress. *J Neurosci* 23, 3394-3406.
- Sierra A, Encinas JM, Deudero JJ, Chancey JH, Enikolopov G, Overstreet-Wadiche LS, Tsirka SE & MaletiCSavatic M. (2010). Microglia shape adult hippocampal neurogenesis through apoptosis-coupled phagocytosis. *Cell stem cell* **7**, 483-495.
- Silva-Carvalho L, Paton J, Rocha I, Goldsmith G & Spyer K. (1998). Convergence properties of solitary tract neurons responsive to cardiac receptor stimulation in the anesthetized cat. *J Neurophysiol* **79**, 2374-2382.
- Silver J & Miller JH. (2004). Regeneration beyond the glial scar. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 5, 146-156.

- Simmons ML & Murphy S. (1992). Induction of nitric oxide synthase in glial cells. J Neurochem 59, 897-905.
- Soltani N, Keshavarz M, Sohanaki H, Dehpour AR & Asl SZ. (2005). Oral magnesium administration prevents vascular complications in STZ-diabetic rats. *Life Sci* 76, 1455-1464.
- Sorokin SP, Hoyt RF, Jr., Blunt DG & McNelly NA. (1992). Macrophage development: II. Early ontogeny of macrophage populations in brain, liver, and lungs of rat embryos as revealed by a lectin marker. *Anat Rec* 232, 527-550.
- Souza SB, Flues K, Paulini J, Mostarda C, Rodrigues B, Souza LE, Irigoyen M-C & De Angelis K. (2007). Role of exercise training in cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction and mortality in diabetic ovariectomized rats. *Hypertension* **50**, 786-791.
- Sriramula S, Cardinale JP & Francis J. (2013). Inhibition of TNF in the brain reverses alterations in RAS components and attenuates angiotensin II-induced hypertension. *PLoS One* **8**, e63847.
- Stern J, Li Y & Zhang W. (2003). Nitric oxide: a local signalling molecule controlling the activity of pre-autonomic neurones in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. *Acta physiologica scandinavica* **177**, 37-42.
- Stevens M, Raffel D, Wieland D, Pfeifer M & Schwaiger M. (1997). Cardiac sympathetic dysinnervation in diabetes: An explanation for enhanced cardiovascular risk? *Diabetologia*. 40, 2267-2267.
- Stevens MJ, Obrosova I, Cao X, Van Huysen C & Greene DA. (2000). Effects of DL-alphalipoic acid on peripheral nerve conduction, blood flow, energy metabolism, and oxidative stress in experimental diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes* **49**, 1006-1015.
- Stocker SD, Hunwick KJ & Toney GM. (2005). Hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus differentially supports lumbar and renal sympathetic outflow in water-deprived rats. *J Physiol* **563**, 249-263.
- Stocker SD, Keith KJ & Toney GM. (2004). Acute inhibition of the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus decreases renal sympathetic nerve activity and arterial blood pressure in water-deprived rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **286**, R719-725.
- Sugamura K & Keaney JF. (2011). Reactive oxygen species in cardiovascular disease. *Free Radic Biol Med* **51**, 978-992.

- Sugano M, Yamato H, Hayashi T, Ochiai H, Kakuchi J, Goto S, Nishijima F, Iino N, Kazama JJ & Takeuchi T. (2006). High-fat diet in low-dose-streptozotocin-treated heminephrectomized rats induces all features of human type 2 diabetic nephropathy: a new rat model of diabetic nephropathy. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* **16**, 477-484.
- Swanson RA, Ying W & Kauppinen TM. (2004). Astrocyte influences on ischemic neuronal death. *Curr Mol Med* **4**, 193-205.
- Sweitzer S, Colburn R, Rutkowski M & DeLeo J. (1999). Acute peripheral inflammation induces moderate glial activation and spinal IL-1 [beta] expression that correlates with pain behavior in the rat1. *Brain Res* **829**, 209-221.
- Szabo C. (2012). Roles of hydrogen sulfide in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **17**, 68-80.
- Takagishi M, Waki H, Bhuiyan ME, Gouraud SS, Kohsaka A, Cui H, Yamazaki T, Paton JF & Maeda M. (2010). IL-6 microinjected in the nucleus tractus solitarii attenuates cardiac baroreceptor reflex function in rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 298, R183-R190.
- Takahashi H. (2012). Upregulation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone-ouabain system in the brain is the core mechanism in the genesis of all types of hypertension. Int J Hypertens 2012, 242-786.
- Talbot S, Chahmi E, Dias JP & Couture R. (2010). Research Key role for spinal dorsal horn microglial kinin B. J. Neuroinflammation 7, 36-29.
- Tanga F, Raghavendra V & DeLeo J. (2004). Quantitative real-time RT-PCR assessment of spinal microglial and astrocytic activation markers in a rat model of neuropathic pain. *Neurochem Int* 45, 397-407.
- Tanga FY, Raghavendra V, Nutile-McMenemy N, Marks A & Deleo JA. (2006). Role of astrocytic S100beta in behavioral hypersensitivity in rodent models of neuropathic pain. *Neuroscience* 140, 1003-1010.
- Tappia PS, Xu Y-J, Rodriguez-Leyva D, Aroutiounova N & Dhalla NS. (2013). Cardioprotective effects of cysteine alone or in combination with taurine in diabetes. *Physiol Res* 62, 171-178.
- Teismann P & Schulz JB. (2004). Cellular pathology of Parkinson's disease: astrocytes, microglia and inflammation. *Cell Tissue Res* **318**, 149-161.

- Tesfaye S, Boulton AJ, Dyck PJ, Freeman R, Horowitz M, Kempler P, Lauria G, Malik RA, Spallone V & Vinik A. (2010). Diabetic neuropathies: update on definitions, diagnostic criteria, estimation of severity, and treatments. *Diabetes care* 33, 2285-2293.
- Teshima Y, Takahashi N, Saikawa T, Hara M, Yasunaga S, Hidaka S & Sakata T. (2000). Diminished Expression of Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase and Ryanodine Sensitive Ca²⁺Channel mRNA in Streptozotocin-induced Diabetic Rat Heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 32, 655-664.
- Thaler JP, Yi C-X, Schur EA, Guyenet SJ, Hwang BH, Dietrich MO, Zhao X, Sarruf DA, Izgur V & Maravilla KR. (2012). Obesity is associated with hypothalamic injury in rodents and humans. *The J Clin Invest* **122**, 153.
- Thomas MC, Moran J, Forsblom C, Harjutsalo V, Thorn L, Ahola A, Wadén J, Tolonen N, Saraheimo M & Gordin D. (2011). The association between dietary sodium intake, ESRD, and all-cause mortality in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes care* 34, 861-866.
- Travis J. (1994). Glia: the brain's other cells. Science 266, 970-972.
- Triposkiadis F, Karayannis G, Giamouzis G, Skoularigis J, Louridas G & Butler J. (2009). The sympathetic nervous system in heart failure: physiology, pathophysiology, and clinical implications. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **54**, 1747-1762.
- Tschöpe C, Walther T, Escher F, Spillmann F, Du J, Altmann C, Schimke I, Bader M, Sanchez-Ferrer CF & Schultheiss H-P. (2005). Transgenic activation of the kallikreinkinin system inhibits intramyocardial inflammation, endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress in experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. *FASEB J* 19, 2057-2059.
- Tsuda M, Inoue K & Salter MW. (2005). Neuropathic pain and spinal microglia: a big problem from molecules in 'small'glia. *Trends Neurosci* **28**, 101-107.
- Tsuda M, Ueno H, Kataoka A, Tozaki-Saitoh H & Inoue K. (2008). Activation of dorsal horn microglia contributes to diabetes-induced tactile allodynia via extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase signaling. *Glia* **56**, 378-386.
- Tsutamoto MD T, Hisanaga MD T, Wada MD A, Maeda MD K, Ohnishi MD M, Fukai MD D, Mabuchi MD N, Sawaki MD M & Kinoshita MD M. (1998). Interleukin-6 spillover in the peripheral circulation increases with the severity of heart failure, and the high plasma level of interleukin-6 is an important prognostic predictor in patients with congestive heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **31**, 391-398.

- Tuomilehto J, Rastenyte D, Birkenhäger WH, Thijs L, Antikainen R, Bulpitt CJ, Fletcher AE, Forette F, Goldhaber A & Palatini P. (1999). Effects of calcium-channel blockade in older patients with diabetes and systolic hypertension. *N Engl J Med* **340**, 677-684.
- Turner R, Holman R, Matthews D, Bassett P, Coster R, Stratton I, Cull C, Peto R, Frighi V & Kennedy I. (1993). Hypertension in diabetes study (Hds). 1. Prevalence of hypertension in newly presenting Type-2 diabetic-patients and the association with risk-factors for cardiovascular and diabetic complications. *J Hypertens* 11, 309-317.
- Ufnal M, Żera T & Szczepańska-Sadowska E. (2005). Blockade of angiotensin II AT1 receptors inhibits pressor action of centrally administered interleukin-1β in Sprague Dawley rats. *Neuropeptides* **39**, 581-585.
- Ugochukwu NH & Figgers CL. (2007). Caloric restriction inhibits up-regulation of inflammatory cytokines and TNF- α , and activates IL-10 and haptoglobin in the plasma of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *J Nutr Biochem* **18**, 120-126.
- Umemura K & Kimura H. (2007). Hydrogen sulfide enhances reducing activity in neurons: neurotrophic role of H2S in the brain? *Antioxid Redox Signal* **9**, 2035-2042.
- Ustinova EE, Barrett CJ, Sun S-Y & Schultz HD. (2000). Oxidative stress impairs cardiac chemoreflexes in diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **279**, H2176-H2187.
- Vallon V, Kirschenmann D, Wead LM, Lortie MJ, Satriano J, Blantz RC & Thomson SC. (1997). Effect of chronic salt loading on kidney function in early and established diabetes mellitus in rats. *J Lab Clin Med* **130**, 76-82.
- Van Buren PN & Toto R. (2011). Hypertension in diabetic nephropathy: epidemiology, mechanisms, and management. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis* 18, 28-41.
- Van Buren T, Kasbergen CM, Gispen WH & De Wildt DJ. (1998). In vivo cardiovascular reactivity and baroreflex activity in diabetic rats. *Cardiovasc Res* **38**, 763-771.
- Van den Pol AN. (1982). The magnocellular and parvocellular paraventricular nucleus of rat: intrinsic organization. *J Comp Neurol* **206**, 317-345.
- Van Giersbergen PL, Palkovits M & De Jong W. (1992). Involvement of neurotransmitters in the nucleus tractus solitarii in cardiovascular regulation. *Physiol Rev* **72**, 789-824.

Van Rossum D & Hanisch U-K. (2004). Microglia. Metab Brain Dis 19, 393-411.

Vargas MR & Johnson JA. (2009). The Nrf2–ARE cytoprotective pathway in astrocytes. *Expert Rev Mol Med* **11**, e17.

- Vega-Avelaira D, Moss A & Fitzgerald M. (2007). Age-related changes in the spinal cord microglial and astrocytic response profile to nerve injury. *Brain Behav Immun* 21, 617-623.
- Verrotti A, Loiacono G, Mohn A & Chiarelli F. (2009). New insights in diabetic autonomic neuropathy in children and adolescents. *Eur J Endocrinol* **161**, 811-818.
- Waki H, Gouraud SS, Maeda M & Paton JF. (2010). Evidence of specific inflammatory condition in nucleus tractus solitarii of spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Exp Physiol* **95**, 595-600.
- Waki H, Liu B, Miyake M, Katahira K, Murphy D, Kasparov S & Paton JF. (2007). Junctional Adhesion Molecule-1 Is Upregulated in Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats Evidence for a Prohypertensive Role Within the Brain Stem. *Hypertension* 49, 1321-1327.
- Wald H & Popovtzer MM. (1984). The effect of streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus on urinary excretion of sodium and renal Na⁺ K⁺-ATPase activity. *Pflugers Arch* **401**, 97-100.
- Wang G, Li W, Lu X & Zhao X. (2011). Riboflavin alleviates cardiac failure in Type I diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Heart Int* **6**, 2.
- Wang H, Huang BS & Leenen FH. (2003). Brain sodium channels and ouabainlike compounds mediate central aldosterone-induced hypertension. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 285, H2516-H2523.
- Watson A, Hood S & May C. (2006). Mechanisms of sympathetic activation in heart failure. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **33**, 1269-1274.
- Wei F, Guo W, Zou S, Ren K & Dubner R. (2008). Supraspinal glial–neuronal interactions contribute to descending pain facilitation. *J Neurosci* **28**, 10482-10495.
- Wichi R, Malfitano C, Rosa K, De Souza SB, Salemi V, Mostarda C, De Angelis K & Irigoyen MC. (2007). Noninvasive and invasive evaluation of cardiac dysfunction in experimental diabetes in rodents. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* **6**, 14.
- Williams MD & Nadler JL. (2007). Inflammatory mechanisms of diabetic complications. *Curr Diab Rep* **7**, 242-248.
- Wilson JX. (1997). Antioxidant defense of the brain: a role for astrocytes. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 75, 1149.

- Winkelstein BA, Rutkowski MD, Sweitzer SM, Pahl JL & DeLeo JA. (2001). Nerve injury proximal or distal to the DRG induces similar spinal glial activation and selective cytokine expression but differential behavioral responses to pharmacologic treatment. *The J Comp Neurol* **439**, 127-139.
- Woodman OL & Malakul W. (2009). 3', 4'-Dihydroxyflavonol prevents diabetes-induced endothelial dysfunction in rat aorta. *Life Sci* **85**, 54-59.
- Woodman OL, Malakul W, Cao AH, Xu Q & Ritchie RH. (2008). Atrial natriuretic peptide prevents diabetes-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Life Sci* **82**, 847-854.
- Wu KL, Chan SH & Chan JY. (2012). Neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in rostral ventrolateral medulla contribute to neurogenic hypertension induced by systemic inflammation. *J Neuroinflammation* **9**, 212-212.
- Wu Y-P & Ling E-A. (1998). Induction of microglial and astrocytic response in the adult rat lumbar spinal cord following middle cerebral artery occlusion. *Exp Brain Res* **118**, 235-242.
- Wyss JM, Mozaffari MS & Roysommuti S. (1995). Contribution of the sympathetic nervous system to salt-sensitivity in lifetime captopril-treated spontaneously hypertensive rats. *J Hypertens* **13**, 1037.
- Yanagisawa D, Kitamura Y, Takata K, Hide I, Nakata Y, Taniguchi & Takashi. (2008). Possible involvement of P2X7 receptor activation in microglial neuroprotection against focal cerebral ischemia in rats. *Biol Pharm Bull* **31**, 1121-1130.
- Yokoyama M, Yagyu H, Hu Y, Seo T, Hirata K, Homma S & Goldberg IJ. (2004). Apolipoprotein B Production Reduces Lipotoxic Cardiomyopathy studies in heartspecific lipoprotein lipase transgenic mouse. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 4204-4211.
- Yoon S-Y, Patel D & Dougherty PM. (2012). Minocycline blocks lipopolysaccharide induced hyperalgesia by suppression of microglia but not astrocytes. *Neuroscience* **221**, 214-224.
- Yrjänheikki J, Tikka T, Keinänen R, Goldsteins G, Chan PH & Koistinaho J. (1999). A tetracycline derivative, minocycline, reduces inflammation and protects against focal cerebral ischemia with a wide therapeutic window. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 13496-13500.
- Yu Y, Zhang Z-H, Wei S-G, Chu Y, Weiss RM, Heistad DD & Felder RB. (2007). Central gene transfer of interleukin-10 reduces hypothalamic inflammation and evidence of heart failure in rats after myocardial infarction. *Circ Res* **101**, 304-312.

- Zerbe RL, Vinicor F & Robertson GL. (1979). Plasma vasopressin in uncontrolled diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes* 28, 503-508.
- Zerbe RL, Vinicor F & Robertson GL. (1985). Regulation of plasma vasopressin in insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **249**, E317-E325.
- Zerbini G, Bonfanti R, Meschi F, Bognetti E, Paesano PL, Gianolli L, Querques M, Maestroni A, Calori G & Del Maschio A. (2006). Persistent renal hypertrophy and faster decline of glomerular filtration rate precede the development of microalbuminuria in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 55, 2620-2625.
- Zhang K & Patel KP. (1998). Effect of nitric oxide within the paraventricular nucleus on renal sympathetic nerve discharge: role of GABA. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **275**, R728-R734.
- Zhang M, Lv X-Y, Li J, Xu Z-G & Chen L. (2009). The characterization of high-fat diet and multiple low-dose streptozotocin induced type 2 diabetes rat model. *Exp Diabetes Res* **2008**.
- Zheng H, Li Y-F, Weiss M, Mayhan WG & Patel KP. (2002). Neuronal expression of fos protein in the forebrain of diabetic rats. *Brain Res* **956**, 268-275.
- Zheng H, Li YF, Wang W & Patel KP. (2009). Enhanced angiotensin-mediated excitation of renal sympathetic nerve activity within the paraventricular nucleus of anesthetized rats with heart failure. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **297**, R1364-R1374.
- Zheng H, Mayhan WG, Bidasee KR & Patel KP. (2006). Blunted nitric oxide-mediated inhibition of sympathetic nerve activity within the paraventricular nucleus in diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **290**, R992-R1002.
- Zheng H, Pu S-Y, Fan X-F, Li X-S, Zhang Y, Yuan J, Zhang Y-F & Yang J-L. (2015). Treatment with angiotensin-(1-9) alleviates the cardiomyopathy in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. *Biochem Pharmacol* **95**, 38-45.
- Zheng M, Zeng Q, Shi X, Zhao J, Tang C, Sun N & Geng B. (2011). Erythrocytic or serum hydrogen sulfide association with hypertension development in untreated essential hypertension. *Chin Med J (Engl)* **124**, 3693-3701.
- Zhou H, Li Y, Wang M, Zhang L, Guo B, Zhao Z, Meng F, Deng Y & Wang R. (2011). Involvement of RhoA/ROCK in myocardial fibrosis in a rat model of type 2 diabetes. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* **32**, 999-1008.

Chapter Ten:	References	Page 276

_

Zimmerman MC & Davisson RL. (2004). Redox signaling in central neural regulation of cardiovascular function. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* **84**, 125-149.